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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the shareholders of Magyar Telekom Telecommunication Public Limited Company

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Magyar Telekom
Telecommunication Public Limited Company (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the
“Group”) which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at 31 December 2018
(in which the total of econsolidated statements of financial position is MHUF 1 155 966), the
consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income (in which the total
comprehensive income for the year is MHUF 49 837 profit), the consolidated statements of cash
flows, the consolidated statements of changes in equity for the vear then ended and the notes to the
consolidated financial statements including a summary of the significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2018, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted by the EU and they have been prepared, in all
material respects, in accordance with the supplementary requirements of Act C of 2000 on
Accounting (“Accounting Act”) relevant for the consolidated annual financial statements prepared in
accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU.

Our opinion is consistent with our additional report to the audit committee.
Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hungarian National Standards on Auditing (“HNSA”) and
with applicable laws and regulations in force in Hungary. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the “Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements” section of our report.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the applicable laws of Hungary, with the
Hungarian Chamber of Auditors’ Rules on ethics and professional conduct of auditors and on
disciplinary process and, for matters not regulated in the Rules, with the Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants issued by the International Ethics Standards Board (IESBA Code of Ethics)
and we also comply with further ethical requirements set out in these.

The non-audit services that we have provided to the Group, in the period from 1 January 2018 to 31
December 2018, are disclosed in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit services that we have provided to
the Group are in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations in Hungary and that we have
not provided non-audit services that are prohibited under Article 5 of Regulation of the European
Parliament and Committee No 537/2014 and Subsection (1) and (2) of Section 67/A of Act LXXV of
2007 on the Chamber of Hungarian Auditors, the Activities of Auditors, and on the Public Oversight
of Auditors,

PricewaterhouseCoopers Kinyvuizsgdld Kft., 1055 Budapest, Bajesy-Zsilinszky it 78,
T: +36 1 461 9100, F: +36 1 461 9115, www.pwe.com;/hu
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

Our audit approach

Overview

Overall group materiality

Materiality applied was MHUF 4 600, which is approximately
2.5% of the consolidated EBITDA (Earnings before Interest,
Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization)

Group Scoping In addition to the parent companv, Magvar Telekom
Telecommunication Ple,, we included two subsidiaries in
our audit, Makedonski A.D. and T-Systems Magyvarorszig
Zrt., which are operating in Macedonia and Hungary.
These three companies account for 97% of the
consolidated revenues and for 97% of the consolidated

. _ EBITDA.

Key Audit Matters * Goodwill impairment assessment
* Accuracy of revenue recognition due to complex billing
systems and adoption of IFRS 15 Revenue from
_contracts with customers

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material
misstatement in the consolidated financial statements. In particular, we considered where
management made subjective judgements; for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates
that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in
all of our audits, we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including
among other matters, consideration of whether there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of
material misstatement due to fraud.

Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. An audit is designed to obtain
reasonable assurance whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement. Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered material if
individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of the consolidated financial statements.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain quantitative thresholds for materiality,
including the overall materiality for the consolidated financial statements as a whole as set out in the
table below. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our
audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of
misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the consolidated financial statements as a

whole,

Materiality  MHUF4600(2017:MHUF5100)
Determination B Approximately 2.5% of the consolidated EBITDA

Rationale for the materiality We chose consolidated EBITDA as the benchmark because, in
benchmark applied our view, it is the benchmark against which the performance of
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the Group is most commonly measured by users, and is a
generally accepted benchmark in the telecommunication
industry.

We chose 2.5%, which is consistent with quantitative
materiality thresholds used for profit-oriented companies in
this sector. This is consistent with the basis for our materiality
calculation in the previous year.

Group audit scope

We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the
Group, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which the Group operates.

We have identified two subsidiaries: Makedonski A.D. operating in Macedonia and T-Systems
Magyarorszag Zrt. operating in Hungary, which, in our view, required an audit of their complete
financial information, due to their financial significance to the Group.

For the remaining components we performed analytical review at the Group level. This together with
additional procedures performed at the Group level, including testing of consolidation journals and
intercompany eliminations, gave us the evidence we needed for our opinion on the Group
consolidated financial statements as a whole.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Goodwill impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2018, goodwill relating to
the Hungarian and Macedonian segments
amounted to MHUF 192905 and MHUF
20 199 respectively out of a total goodwill
balance of MHUF 213 104.

Impairment assessments involve significant
estimates, as they are sensitive to the change in
assumptions (in particular the input variables
and long term growth rates, discount rates and
assumptions underlying future operating cash
flows).

Management concluded that there was no need
for impairment of goodwill.

We agreed the cash flow forecasts used in the
impairment assessment to forecasts approved by
the board of directors. We considered
management'’s expectations in respect of material
impacts of the external environment and planned
operational improvements and whether these were
appropriately reflected in the cash flow forecasts.

We compared actual  historical cash flow
performance  with  previous forecasts and
determined whether any differences fell within an
acceptable range.

We independently calculated a weighted average
cost of capital with reference to market data and
compared the long term growth rate to market data.
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Details of the nature of the goodwill
impairment  assessment  performed by
management are given in notes 3.2 and 10.4 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Accuracy of revenue recognition due to
complex billing systems and adoption
af IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with
cusiomers

The accuracy of revenues recorded is an
inherent industry risk. This is because
telecommunication  billing  svstems  are
complex and process large volumes of data
with a combination of different products sold
and price changes during the year, through a
number of different systems.

The Group adopted IFRS 15 as at 1 January
2018, applying the modified retrospective
method. The Group opted for the portfolio
approach. The adoption resulted in a material
initial catch-up adjustment and required
booking of such amendments which involve
management estimates and assumptions as
well,

Total revenue of the Group was MHUF 657
104. Detailed disclosures and related
accounting policies are in notes 2.1.1. and 18 of
the consolidated financial statements.

We assessed the sufficiency of the sensitivity
analysis performed by management and pertormed
further sensitivity analysis, primarily focused on
changes in operating cash flows.

We read notes 3.2 and 10.4 of the consolidated
financial statements in order to assess whether they
are in line with the requirements of the TAS 36,

We evaluated the relevant IT systems and the

design of controls, and tested the operating

effectiveness of controls over the:

 Capturing and recording of
transactions;

e Authorization of price changes and the input of
those to the billing svstems;

» Calculation of amounts billed to the customers;
and

* Monitoring of assumptions and judgements
related to IFRS 15, including those related to
contract assets, contract costs, and contract
liabilities.

reventie

We also tested a sample of items from the customer
billing systems to the invoices raised and checked
these to the cash received from the customers. Our
testing included customer bills for consumers and
corporate customers.

In respect of adoption of IFRS 15, we performed
detailed testing, on a sample basis, of the catch-up
adjustment as at the transition date, and of the
contract assets, contract costs, and contract
liabilities as at 31 December 2018,

Other information: the consolidated business report

Other information comprises the consolidated business report of the Group. Management is
responsible for the preparation of the consolidated business report in accordance with the provisions
of the Accounting Act and other relevant regulations. Our opinion on the consolidated financial
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statements expressed in the “Opinion” section of our independent auditor’s report does not cover the
consolidated business report.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
consolidated business report and, in doing so, consider whether the consolidated business report is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If based on our work performed we conclude
that the consolidated business report is materially misstated we are required to report this fact and
the nature of the misstatement.

Based on the Accounting Act, it is also our responsibility when reading the consolidated business
report to consider whether the consolidated business report has been prepared in accordance with the
provisions of the Accounting Act and other relevant regulations, if any, and to express an opinion on
this and on whether the consolidated business report is consistent with the consolidated financial
statements.

Because the Company’s transferable securities are admitted to trading on a regulated market of a
Member State of the European Economic Area, our opinion on the consolidated business report shall
cover the information prepared under Paragraphs e) and f) of Subsection (2) of Section 95/B, and
state whether the information referred to in Paragraphs a)-d), g) and h) of Subsection (2) of Section
95/B of the Accounting Act has been provided.

As the Company is a public interest entity preparing consolidated financial statements and the
conditions in Paragraph a) and b) of Subsection (5) of Section 134 of the Accounting Act are met at the
balance sheet date, the Company shall publish a non-financial statement required by Section 95/C in
its consolidated business report relating to the companies included in the consolidation. In this
respect, we shall state whether the consolidated business report includes the non-financial statement
required by Section 95/C, and Subsection (5) of Section 134 of the Accounting Act.

In our opinion, the 2018 consolidated business report of the Group, also including the information
prepared under Paragraphs e) and f) of Subsection (2) of Section 95/B of the Accounting Act, is
consistent with the 2018 consolidated financial statements in all material respects, and the
consolidated business report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Accounting
Act. As there is no other regulation prescribing further requirements for the consolidated business
report, we do not express an opinion in this respect.

We are not aware of any other material inconsistency or material misstatement in the consaolidated
business report, therefore we have nothing to report in this respect.

We state that the information referred to in Paragraphs a)-d), g£) and h) of Subsection (2) of Section
95/B of the Accounting Act has been provided. The consolidated business report includes the non-
financial statement required by Section 95/C, and Subsection (5) of Section 134 of the Accounting Act.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the
consolidated financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the
EU and to prepare the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the supplementary
requirements of the Accounting Act relevant for the consolidated annual financial statements
prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU, and for such internal control as management
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determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting in the consolidated financial statements
unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
Process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
Issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HNSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HNSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit, We also:

* Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

* Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

» Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

* Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the consolidated financial statements and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern,

s Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that gives a true and fair view.

» Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the
entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements, We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

10
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

We were first appointed as auditors of the Group on 31 December 1991. Our appointment has been
renewed annually by shareholder resolutions representing a total period of uninterrupted engagement
appointment of 27 vears.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Arpad Baldzs.

Budapest, 27 February 2

7L o

Arpéad Balazs

Statutory auditor
PricewaterhouseCoopers Auditing Ltd. Licence number: 006931
1055 Budapest, Bajesy-Zsilinszky it 78.

Licence Number: 001464

Note:
Our report has been prepared in Hungarian and in English. In all matters of interpretation of

information, views or opinions, the Hungarian version of our report takes precedence over the
English version.

"



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

EGYUTT. VELED

At December 31,
Note 2017 2018
(in HUF millions)

ASSETS

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 4.2.1 5,399 7,204
Trade receivables and other assets 422,12.1,18 157,745 195,220
Other current financial assets 4231 8,162 11,631
Currentincome tax receivable 6.1 384 254
Inventories 7 17175 19,118

188,865 233,427

Assets held for sale 8 162 -
Total current assets 189,027 233,427

Non current assets
Property, plant and equipment 9 458,343 443,147
Intangible assets 10 441,458 447,952
Investments in associates and joint ventures 11 1,324 1,393
Deferred tax assets 6.3 59 I
Other non current financial assets 4.232,18 19,323 24,985
Other non current assets 12.2 127 5,015
Total non current assets 920,634 922,569
Total assets 1,109,661 1,155,996
LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Financial liabilities to related parties 4.41 35,191 111,144
Other financial liabilities 442 8,757 9,228
Trade payables 443 135,446 175,312
Currentincome tax payable 6.1 324 343
Provisions 13 3,267 3,418
Other current liabilities 14 43,596 41,395

226,581 340,840

Liabilities associated with assets held for sale 8 - -
Total current liabilities 226,581 340,840
Non current liabilities
Financial liabilities to related parties 4.4.1 231,646 123,349
Other financial liabilities 4472 47,608 47,919
Deferred tax liabilities 6.3 13,743 17,246
Provisions 13 9,231 11,265
Other non current liabilities 15 779 445
Total non current liabilities 303,007 200,224
Total liabilities 529,588 541,064
EQUITY

Equity of the owners of the parent
Common stock 104,275 104,275
Capital reserves 27,282 27,263
Treasury stock (2,187) (3,991)
Retained earnings 396,320 429,294
Accumulated other comprehensive income 21,505 23,650

Total Equity of the owners of the parent 547,195 580,491

Non-controlling interests 16 32,878 34,441
Total equity 580,073 614,932
Total liabilities and equity 1,109,661 1,155,996
Budapest, February 20, 2019

\ I \ ”
h S \ <_7_,_:/ ——
. =
Tibor Rékasi ¥’\ _A8nds Szabo
Chief Executive Officer, Board member Chigf Financial Officer

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

12
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended December 31,
Note 2017 2018
(in HUF millions, except per share amounts)

REVENUES ....ovviiiiiiiiiiiri e 18 610,851 657,104
Direct costs 19 (245,777) (286,931)
Employee related expenses 20 (80,240) (82,968)
Depreciation and amortization 9,10 (108,174) (115,529)
Other operating expenses 21 (105,918) (103915)

Operating EXPENSES ...ccivveeeeuuueeerrreernnsseeeserrrnnsssssserssnnnsssssssennnnnes (540,109) (589,343)

Other operating iNCOME .......cvveveersssesrnnrenen 22 6,746 9,217

Operating Profit .........ccceeeereeeriisesierrre e 77,488 76,978
Interest income 23 543 363
Interest expense 24 (13,525) (13,423)
Other finance expense - net 25 (8,645) (4,724)

Net financial result...........ooooeeiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e (21,627) (17,784)

Share of associates' and joint ventures’ net profit 1 343 588

Profit before iNCOMe taX .......ccvvvveeeiiiiiiiiiiieee e 56,204 59,782

Income tax 6.2 (15,958) (13,333)

Profit for the year from continuing operations.............ccccveeerrresiannnes 40,246 46,449

Profit for the year from discontinued operations 26.2.1 9,526 .

Profit for the year .........ceiiiiiiieeiicci e e 49,772 46,449

Other comprehensive income
(Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss):

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations ... (439) 3,169
Revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets 19 219
Other comprehensive income from continuing operations, net of tax......... (420) 3,388
Other comprehensive income from discontinued operations, net of tax.... 26.2.1 (12,512) B
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax ..........ccccevvnnnnes (12,932) 3,388
Total comprehensive income from continuing Operations ... 39,826 49,837
Total comprehensive income from discontinued operations ................. 26.2.1 (2,986) -
Total comprehensive income for the year ........ccccoeeeiiiiiiiiiiiccccennnnn, 36,840 49,837

Profit attributable to:

OWNETS Of the PATENE ... 46,727 43,318
From continuing operations 37,239 43,318
From discontinued operations 9,488 -

NON-CONLIONING TNEEIESES covvvvvsevvvererrerrrsrsssssmssssreeseesssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssesesessss 3,045 3,131
From continuing operations 3,007 3,131
From discontinued operations 38 -

49,772 46,449

13



Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the parent ...

From continuing operations
From discontinued operations

NON-CONEIOING INTEIESES wvvvvvrrurrrrrssessssimsssssssssssimsssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssss

From continuing operations
From discontinued operations

Eamings per share (EPS) information:
Profit attributable to the owners of the Company

From continuing operations
From discontinued operations

Weighted average number of common stock outstanding
(thousands) used for basic EPS
Average number of dilutive Share OPtIONS ...........wrereereereesemmsmssssssssssssssssssssesennes

Weighted average number of common stock outstanding
(thousands) used for diluted EPS

Basic earnings per share (HUF)

From continuing operations
From discontinued operations

Diluted earnings per share (HUF)
From continuing operations
From discontinued operations

Note

EGYUTT. VELED

For the year ended December 31,

2017

2018

(in HUF millions, except per share amounts)

36,742 45,463
36,948 45,463
(206) -

98 4,374

2,878 4,374
(2,780) -
36,840 49,837
46,727 43,318
37,239 43,318
9,488 -
1,040,073 1,035,394
4,585 6,074
1,044,658 1,041,468
44.93 41.84
35.82 41.84
91 -
44.93 41.59
35.82 41.59
9N -

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

14
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended December 31,
Note 2017 2018
(in HUF millions)

Cashflows from operating activities

Profit for the year 40,246 46,449
Depreciation and amortization 108,174 115,529
INCOME taX EXPENSE vvvvvveveerrmrsrnrrsrrssens 15,958 13,333
Net financial result 21,627 17,784
Share of associates’ and joint ventures’ result (343) (588)
Change in assets carried as working capital (17,959) (30,237)
Change iN PrOVISIONS ......c.cuveerrrrssmmsssssssssesssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssseees (1,581) 1,385
Change in liabilities carried as working capital 21,817 29,857
Income tax paid (10,425) (11,953)
Dividend received 111 535
Interest and other financial charges Paid ... (19,949) (18,810)
Interest received 382 312
Other non-cash items ... (647) (4,498)
Net cash generated from operating activities from continuing operations 157,411 159,098
Net cash generated from operating activities from discontinued operations (23) -
Net cash generated from operating activities............cceeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeneeees 157,388 159,098

Cashflows from investing activities

Purchase of property plant and equipment (PPE) and intangible assets.... 28 (90,800) (93,688)
Purchase of subsidiaries and business units 29 (3,791) (2,045)
Cash acquired through business combinations 475 137
Proceeds from other financial assets 3,030 7,033
Payments for other financial assets (5,897) (4,978)
Proceeds from disposal of PPE and intangible assets 2,629 10,449
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries and business units 1
Payments for interests in associates and joint VENTUIES......ereeeeeeeeeseseenne -

Net cash used in investing activities from continuing operations .. (94,353) (83,092

Net cash inflow from investing activities from discontinued operations.......... 36,292 -

Net cash used in investing activities ..........cccovvereemnciiiiiirececine e, (58,061) (83,092)

Cashflows from financing activities
Dividends paid to Owners of the parent and Non-controlling interest ........ (29,403) (29,547)
Proceeds from loans and other borrowings 4422 101,310 59,793
Repayment of loans and other borrowings 4422 (169,042) (96,767)
Repayment of other financial liabilities ... 4423 (7,485) (5,988
Treasury share purchase.......n. (2,139) (1,822)

Net cash used in financing activities from continuing operations........... (106,759) (74,331)

Net cash inflow from financing activities from discontinued operations......... 2,041 -

Net cash used in financing activities...........ccovvereemncciiineiecccin e, (104,718) (74,331)
Exchange differences on cash and cash equivalents from continuing

OPEIALIONS..ccvvvrrssvsssessssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssses (15) 130
Exchange differences on cash and cash equivalents from discontinued

OPETALIONS s .

Change in cash and cash equivalents ...........ccccoviiiiiiiiiinniiiiinnnins (5,406) 1,805
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 10,805 5,399
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year . 421 5,399 7,204

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGESIN EQUITY

pieces In HUF millions
Capital reserves Accumulated Other Comprehensive
Income
Shares of common Common Additional Reserve forequity  Treasury Retained Cumulative Revaluation Equity of the Non- Total Equity
stock (a) stock paid in settled share stock earnings translation reserve for AFS  owners of the  controlling
(a) capital based transactions (d) (e) adjustment  financial assets - parent interests (h)
(b) (c) (f) net of tax (g)

Balance at December 31, 2016 ........................ 1,042,742,543 104,275 27,379 511 (825) 375,660 31,521 (31) 538,490 42,843 581,333
Dividend declaredto Owners of the parent(i)............ (26,067) (26,067) - (26,067)
Dividend declaredto Non-controlling interests (j........ - (3,320) (3,320)
Equity settled share based transactions (C)......ccoueee. (608) 777 169 - 169
Treasury share purchase (k) (2,139) (2,139) - (2,139)
Disposal of subsidiaries (I). - (6,743) (6,743)
Transactions with owners

in their capacity as owners......ccccccccovveeeeennnen. - - (608) (1,362) (26,067) - - (28,037) (10,063) (38,100)
Other Comprehensive INCOME.......ummmminisnnsns (9,995) 10 (9,985) (2,947) (12,932)
PrOfit OF 0SSttt 46,727 46,727 3,045 49,772
Total Comprehensive Income.........ccoevuueeirieeeees - - - - 46,727 (9,995) 10 36,742 98 36,840
Balance at December 31, 2017 ........................ 1,042,742,543 104,275 27,379 (97) (2,187) 396,320 21,526 (21) 547,195 32,878 580,073
Adoption of new standards (IFRS 9, IFRS15) (m)........ 15,724 15,724 671 16,395
Revised balance at January 1, 2018.................... 1,042,742,543 104,275 27,379 (97) (2,187) 412,044 21,526 (21) 562,919 33,549 596,468
Dividend declaredto Owners of the parent(i)........... (26,068) (26,068) - (26,068)
Dividend declaredto Non-controlling interests ()........ - (3,482) (3,482)
Equity settled share based transactions (C)........ccoeen. (19) 18 (1) - (1)
Treasury share purchase (k) (1,822) (1,822) - (1,822)
Transactions with owners

in their capacity as owners ............ccccoeeeeeeennn. - - (19) (1,804) (26,068) - - (27,891) (3,482) (31,373)
Other Comprehensive inCOMe.......rreerenne 2,021 124 2,145 1,243 3,388
Proft or loss 43,318 43,318 3,131 46,449
Total Comprehensive Income..........ccceeeeeees . - - - - 43,318 2,021 124 45,463 4,374 49,837
Balance at December 31, 2018 1,042,742,543 104,275 27,379 (116) (3,991) 429,294 23,547 103 580,491 34,441 614,932
Of which treasury stock (8,836,348)

Shares of common stock outstanding
at December 31, 2018........ccevvvvieirreerennniinnens 1,033,906,195

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTESTOTHE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGESIN EQUITY

(a)

The total amount of issued shares of common stock of 1,042,742,543 (each witha nominal value of HUF 100) is fully paid as at
December 31, 2018. The number of authorized ordinary shares on December 31, 2018is1,042,742,543.

Voting Rights and Voting

The holder of eachSeries “A” ordinaryshare shall be entitled to one vote at the General Meeting of the Company. The names of
shareholders and nomineeswho intend to participate at the General Meeting shall be registered in the Share Register on the
second working day priorto the starting date of the General Meeting. The General Meeting shall adopt its resolutions by a simple
majority vote except for resolutions onissues listed in the Articles of Associations, which shall require at least a three-quarters
majority of the votes cast. There isno limitation on the rights of non-resident or foreign shareholders to hold or exercise voting
rights onthe ordinaryshares. There isno limitation of voting rights for ordinary shares in the Articles of Association. The
Company has no sharesassigned with special management rights.

Transfer of Shares

For the transfer of dematerialized share acontract fortransfer or other legal title is required and, inthat context, the transferor's
securities account shall be debited and the new holder'ssecurities account shall be credited with the transferred dematerialized
shares. The holder of dematerialized share shall be considered the holder of the securities account on which the dematerialized
shares are recorded.

The transfer of any Series “A” ordinary shares isnot bound to any restriction or attainment of agreement.

Additional paid in capital represents the amount above the nominal value of the shares that wasreceived by the Company during
capital increases.

Reserve for equity settled share based transactionsincludes the compensationexpenses accrued in this reserve related to share
settled compensation programs. Seealso Note 20.1.2.

Treasury stock represents the cost of the Company’s own shares repurchased. When the Companyor its subsidiaries purchase
the Company’s equityshares, the consideration transferred including any attributable incremental external costs are deducted
from the Equity of the owners of the parent as Treasury stock until theyare re-sold or cancelled. When suchshares are
subsequently sold, the treasuryshare balance decreases by the original cost of the shares, thereby increasingequity, while any
gains or losses are also recognized in equity (Retained earnings). Treasury stock transactions are recorded on the transaction
date.

Retained earnings include the accumulated and undistributed profit of the Group. The distributable reserves of the Company
under Hungarianlaw (Section 5 (b) 114/B of Act C of 2000 on Accounting relating to untied retained eamings available for the
payment of dividends) at December 31, 2018 amounted to approximately HUF 450 billion (HUF 424 billionat December 31,
2017).

Cumulative translationadjustment representsthe foreign exchange differences arising on the consolidation of foreign
subsidiaries.

Revaluation reserve foravailable-forsale (AFS) financial assets includes the unrealized gains and losses net of tax on available-for-
sale financial assets. Magyar Telekom reclassified all equity instruments previously recognized as available-for-sale financial
assetstothe IFRS 9 category at fairvalue through other comprehensive income as atJanuary 1, 2018. (See alsoNote4.5.1.)

Non-controllinginterests represent the Non-controlling shareholders’ share of the netassets of subsidiaries in whichthe Group
has less than 100% ownership (Note 16).

Dividends payable to the Company’s shareholdersand to Non-controlling shareholders of the Group’ssubsidiaries are recorded

as a liability and debited against equity (Retained eamings or Non-controlling interests) in the Group’s financial statements in the
period in which the dividends are approved by the shareholders.
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(i) The amount of dividendsdeclared to Non-controlling interests includes predominantly the dividends declared to the Non-
controlling owners of Makedonski Telekom (MKT) and the Group’s subsidiaries.

(k) In2018 Magyar TelekomPlc. purchased 4,251,418 ordinary shares forthe purpose of the new employeeincentive program
(Note 20.1.2.5). In 2017 Magyar Telekom Plc. purchased 4,534,758 ordinary shares forthe purpose of the new employee
incentive program (Note 20.1.2.5). In 2016 Magyar Telekom Plc. purchased 1,252,616 ordinary shares forthe purpose of the
Employee Share Ownership Program (ESOP) (Note 20.1.2.4), of whichthe ESOP sold 25,764 sharesdue to the revision of the
number of the participantsin the program. These share transactions were carried out on the Budapest Stock Exchange through
UniCredit Bank Hungary Zrt, as investment service provider.

() InJanuary 2017, the Companysigned a share purchase agreementwith Hrvatski Telekom d.d. forthe sale of the total of its
76.53% shareholding in Crnogorski Telekom A.D.. Details of the disposal are disclosed in Note 26.2.1.

(m) AsofJanuary 1, 2018, the Group adopted IFRS9and IFRS15. Details of the adoption are disclosed in Notes 1.3 and 2.1.1.

Together with the approval of these financial statementsfor issue, the Board of Directors of the Company proposes a dividend
distribution intotal HUF 26,068 million to be approved by the Annual General Meeting of the Company in April 2019.1n 2018 Magyar
Telekom Plc. paid intotal HUF 26,068 million dividend.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 GENERALINFORMATION

1.1 About the Company

Magyar Telekom Telecommunications Public Limited Company (the Companyor Magyar Telekom Plc.) with its subsidiaries form
Magyar Telekom Group (Magyar Telekomor the Group). Magyar Telekomis the principal provider of telecommunications services in
Hungary and Macedoniaand alternative service provider inBulgariaand Romania. These services are subject to various
telecommunicationsregulations depending on the countries of operations (Note 34).

The Company was incorporated in Hungaryon December 31, 1991 and commenced businesson January 1, 1992. The Company's
registered seat is Kényves Kalmankrt. 36., 1097 Budapest, Hungary since November 1,2018. Name of the Court of Registration and
the registrationnumber of the Company: Metropolitan Court as Court of Registration, Cg. 01-10-041928.

Magyar TelekomPlc. is listed on the Budapest Stock Exchange and its shares aretraded on the Budapest Stock Exchange. Magyar
Telekom’s American Depository Shares (ADSs) each representing five ordinary shares were alsotraded on the New York Stock
Exchange until November 12, 2010, whenthe ADSswere delisted. Magyar Telekomterminated the registration of its shares and ADSs
inthe US in February 2012. The Companymaintainsits American Depositary Receipt program on aLevel | basis.

The ultimate contralling parent of Magyar Telekom is Deutsche Telekom AG (DT or DTAG) who fully consolidates Magyar Telekom
Group. Deutsche TelekomEurope B.V. (Stationsplein 8, 6221 BT Maastricht, the Netherlands), a member of the Deutsche Telekom
Group, isthe direct owner of 59.21% of the Company’s issued shares and voting rights. The consolidated financial statements of DT
AG are availableat DT AG’s website (www telekom.com/en), while those of Magyar Telekom Group are available at its registered office
andonits corporate website.

The consolidated financial statementsare prepared and presented inmillions of Hungarian Forints (HUF), unless stated otherwise.

The Company’s Board of Directors (the Board) accepted the submission of these consolidated financial statements of the Company on
February 20, 2019to the Annual General Meeting (AGM) of the owners, which is authorized to approve these financial statements, but
also has the rightto require amendments before approval. Asthe controlling shareholders are represented in the Board of the
Company that accepted the submission of these financial statements, the probability of any potential change required by the AGM is
extremely remote, and has never happened in the past.

Magyar TelekomPlc.’s corporate website is: www. telekom.hu
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1.2 Composition of the Group

EGYUTT. VELED

At December 31, 2017 and 2018 the principal operating subsidiaries of the Group were as follows:

Subsidiaries Group interestin capital as
at December 31,

Activity

2017 2018

Incorporatedin Hungary:

T-Systems Magyarorszag Zrt., Budapest........c..ccovevvnias 100.00% 100.00%
KaldszNet Kft.,, Budapest........c.ccocervrvriiinnninniiniaenn 100.00% 100.00%
Telekom New Media Zrt,, Budapest ......c.ccoovvevrveeriinnns 100.00% 100.00%
Incorporatedin Macedonia:

Makedonski TelekomA.D., Skopje (MKT) ......cccvevveen. 56.67% 56.67%
Stonebridge A.D., SKODJE ...vvvvvveeeiieiceicce e 100.00% 100.00%
Incorporatedin Romania;

Combridge S.R.L,Bucharest.......ccccoevieriieniniine, 100.00% 100.00%
Incorporated in Bulgaria:

Novatel EOOD, SOMi@.....cviiieeieieioieeieeee e 100.00% 100.00%

At December 31, 2017 and 2018 the joint ventures of the Group were as follows:

Jointventures Group interestin capital as
at December 31,

System integration and IT services
Telecom service provider

Interactive service provider of
telecommunicationsapplications

Telecom service provider
Holding company

Wholesale telecom service provider

Wholesale telecom service provider

Activity

2017 2018

Incorporated in Hungary:
E2 Hungary Zrt,, Budapest ........c.ccoovvvvriniesninienen, 50.00% 50.00%

Energy services to business customers

The Group’s interestin the capital of the above subsidiaries equals the voting rights therein. There is no significant entity in the Group
thatis not controlled eventhough more than half of the voting rightsare held. There is one structured entity in the Group that isfully

consolidated, see Note 20.1.2.5.

All subsidiary undertakingsareincluded in the consalidation.
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1.3 Financial information - impact of the adoption of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15

As a major change comparedto 2017, the Group adopted IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 as of January 1, 2018. The following tables showthe
amounts by which each financial statement lineitem is affected in 2018 due to the application of the new standards. We show the
impact of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 accounting standards together since that of IFRS 9 accounting standard is not significant. For further
details please seeNote 2.1.1. 2018 figures are presented in accordance with the new standardsin the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial statements, while the 2017 comparatives are presented as in the previousyearin accordance with IFRS9 and IFRS 15
transition requirements.

The tables below show the impacts of these on the 2018 Consolidated Statementof financial position and Consolidated Statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income forthe yearended December 31, 2018. As the impactsappear ina separate linein the
Consolidated Statement of Changes inEquity, this isnot presented here. As these changeshad no impacton the Consolidated
Statement of cash flows, this is not presented here either.

The column Catch-up & reclass of IFRS 9 & IFRS 15 includes the accumulated effect of the firsttime application of IFRS9 and IFRS 15
together with the related reclassifications that were required by these standards at the adoptiondate, i.e. as of January 1, 2018. The
column IFRS 9 & IFRS 15 effects includes the impact resulting fromthe application of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 throughout 2018. Other
changes includethe changes resulting from the usual business operations of the Group.

At Catch-up & At At
) n December reclass of January IFRS9 & Other December
(in HUF millions) 31, IFRS 9 & 1, IFRS 15 changes 3,
2017 IFRS 15 2018 effects 2018
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 5,399 _ 5,399 - 1,805 7,204
Trade receivables and other assets 157,745 9,467 167,212 508 27,500 195,220
Thereof: Contract assets - 14,286 14,286 508 3,026 17,820
Other current financial assets 8,162 - 8,162 - 3,469 11,631
Currentincome tax receivable 384 (339) 45 - 209 254
Inventories 17175 - 17,175 - 1,943 19,118
188,865 9,128 197,993 508 34,926 233,427
Assets held for sale 162 B 162 - (162) -
Total current assets 189,027 9,128 198,155 508 34,764 233,427
Non current assets
Property, plantand equipment 458,343 - 458,343 - (15,196) 443,147
Intangible assets 441,458 - 441,458 - 6,494 447,952
Investments in associates and joint
ventures ! 1324 - 1,324 - 69 1,393
Deferred tax assets 59 43) 16 - 61 7
Other non current financial assets 19,323 3,365 22,688 195 2,102 24,985
Thereof: Contract assets - 3,365 3,365 195 - 3,560
Other non current assets 127 5,507 5,634 975) 356 5,015
Thereof: Contract costs - 5,507 5,507 (975) - 4532
Total non current assets 920,634 8,829 929,463 (780) 6,114) 922,569
Total assets 1,109,661 17,957 1,127,618 (272) 28,650 1,155,996




(in HUF millions)

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Financial liabilities to related parties
Other financial liabilities
Trade payables
Currentincome tax payable
Provisions
Other current liabilities

Thereof: Contract liabilities

Liabilities associated with assets held for
sale
Total current liabilities

Non current liabilities
Financial liabilities to related parties
Other financial liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Provisions
Other non current liabilities
Thereof. Contract liabilities
Total non current liabilities

Total liabilities

EQUITY
Equity of the owners of the parent
Common stock
Capital reserves
Treasury stock
Retained earnings

Accumulated other comprehensive
income

Total Equity of the owners of the
parent

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

Total liabilities and equity

EGYUTT. VELED

At Catch-up & At IFRS 9 & At
December reclass of January Other December

3, IFRS 9 & 1, IFRS 15 changes 3,

2017 IFRS 15 2018 effects 2018
35,191 - 35,191 75,953 111,144
8,757 (64) 8,693 535 9,228
135,446 135,446 39,866 175,312
324 356 680 (337) 343
3,267 - 3,267 151 3,418
43,596 (178) 43,418 (74) (1,949) 41,395
- 11,265 11,265 (74) 1,181 12,372
226,581 114 226,695 (74) 114,219 340,840
226,581 114 226,695 (74) 114,219 340,840
231,646 - 231,646 (108,297) 123,349
47,608 - 47,608 311 47,919
13,743 1,393 15,136 2,110 17,246
9,231 - 9,231 2,034 11,265
779 55 834 (54) (335) 445
- 520 520 (54) (38) 428
303,007 1,448 304,455 (54) (104,177) 200,224
529,588 1,562 531,150 (128) 10,042 541,064
104,275 - 104,275 104,275
27,282 - 27,282 (19) 27,263
(2,187) - (2,187) (1,804) (3,991)
396,320 15,724 412,044 (256) 17,506 429,294
21,505 - 21,505 128 2,017 23,650
547,195 15,724 562,919 (128) 17,700 580,491
32,878 671 33,549 (16) 908 34,441
580,073 16,395 596,468 (144) 18,608 614,932
1,109,661 16,736 1,126,397 (272) 29,871 1,155,996
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The table below shows the aboveimpact on the 2018 Consolidated Statementof profitor loss and other comprehensive income. In
order to present comparable data of the Consolidated Statement of profitor loss, 2018 figures are also shown under IAS 18 and IAS
11 inthe table below.

(in HUF millions, except per share amounts) 2017 2018 2018 Effects of 2018
1AS 18 / 1AS 11 IAS 18 / 1AS 11 IFRS9 & IFRS15 IFRS9 & IFRS15
Revenues 610,851 655,104 2,000 657,104
Direct costs (245,777) (284,912) (2,019) (286,931)
Employee related expenses (80,240) (82,789) (179) (82,968)
Depreciation and amortization (108,174) (115,529) - (115,529)
Other operating expenses (105,918) (103,842) (73) (103,915)
Operating expenses (540,109) (587,072) (2,271) (589,343)
Other operating income 6,746 9,217 - 9,217
Operating profit 77,488 77,249 (271) 76,978
Interest income 543 363 - 363
Interest expense (13,525) (13,423) - (13,423)
Other finance expense - net (8,645) (4,724) - (4,724)
Net financial result (21,627) (17,784) - (17,784)
Share of associates' and joint ventures’ loss 343 588 - 588
Profit before income tax 56,204 60,053 (271) 59,782
Income tax (15,958) (13,333) - (13,333)
Profit for the year from continuing
operations 40,246 46,720 (271) 46,449
Profit for the year from discontinued
operations 9,526 - - -
Profit for the year 49,772 46,720 (271) 46,449

Other comprehensive income

(Items that are or may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss):

Exchange differences on translating foreign

operations (439) 3,041 128 3,169
Revaluation of available-for-sale financial

assets 19 219 - 219
Other comprehensive income for the year

from continuing operations (420) 3,260 128 3,388
Other comprehensive income for the year from

discontinued operations (12,512) - -
Other comprehensive income for the year (12,932) 3,260 128 3,388

Total comprehensive income for the year

from continuing operations 39,826 49,980 (143) 49,837
Total comprehensive income for the year from

discontinued operations (2,986) - - -
Total comprehensive income for the year 36,840 49,980 (143) 49,837
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(in HUF millions, except per share amounts) 2017 2018 2018 Effects of 2018
IAS 18 / IAS 11 1AS 18 / 1AS 11 IFRS9 & IFRS15 IFRS9 & IFRS15

Profit attributable to:

Owners of the parent 46,727 43,574 (256) 43,318
From continuing operations 37,239 43, 574 (256) 43,318
From discontinued operations 9,488 - - -

Non-controlling interests 3,045 3,146 (15) 3,131
From continuing operations 3,007 3,146 (15) 3,131
From discontinued operations 38 - - _

49,772 46,720 (271) 46,449

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Owners of the parent 36,742 45,590 (127) 45,463
From continuing operations 36,948 45, 590 (127) 45,463
From discontinued operations (206)

Non-controlling interests 98 4,390 (16) 4,374
From continuing operations 2,878 4,390 (16) 4,374
From discontinued operations (2,780) - - -

36,840 49,980 (143) 49,837

Earnings per share (EPS) information:

Profit attributable to the owners of the

Company 46,727 43,574 (256) 43,318
From continuing operations 37,239 43,574 (256) 43,318
From discontinued operations 9,488 - - -

Weighted average number of common stock
outstanding

(thousands) used for basic EPS 1,040,073 1,035,394 - 1,035,394
Average number of dilutive share options 4,585 6,074 - 6,074
Weighted average number of common stock
outstanding

(thousands) used for diluted EPS 1,044,658 1,041,468 - 1,041,468
Basic earnings per share (HUF) 44.93 42.09 (0.25) 41.84
From continuing operations 35.82 42.09 (0.25) 41.84
From discontinued operations 9.1 - - -
Diluted earnings per share (HUF) 44.93 41.84 (0.25) 41.59
From continuing operations 35.82 41.84 (0.25) 41.59
From discontinued operations 9.11 - - -
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of Magyar Telekomhave been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) as endorsed by the European Union (EU). All standardsand interpretations endorsed by the EU effective asat
December 31, 2018 and applicableto Magyar Telekomhad been adopted. These consolidated financial statementsalso comply with
the Hungarian Accounting Act on consolidated financial statements, whichrefersto the IFRS as endorsed by the EU.

The consolidated financial statementsare presented in millions of HUF unless stated otherwise.

The preparation of financial statementsin conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgment inthe process of applyingthe Group’s accounting policies. The areas involvinga higher degree
of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significantto the consolidated financial statements, are
disclosedin Note 3.

2.1.1Standards, significantamendments and interpretations effective and adopted by the Groupin2018

Title of Nature of change Impact on consolidated financial statements

standard

IFRS 9 Financial | IFRS 9 addresses the The adoption of the new standard and its amendments did not

Instruments classification, measurement and resultin material changes in the consolidated financial statements
derecognition of financial assets ofthe Group. The new provisions on the classification of financial
andfinancial liabilitiesand assets gave rise to changes in measurement and presentation of
introduces new rulesfor hedge certain debt instruments failing to meet the” solely payments of
accounting. principaland interest” (SPPI) criterion.

In December 2011, in November
2013 andin July 2014, the IASB OnJanuary 1, 2018 (the date of initial application of IFRS 9),

amendedthe standardin orderto | Magyar Telekom Group’s management assessed which business
make furtherchangesto the models apply to the financial assets held by the group and
classification and measurement classified its financial instrumentsinto the appropriate IFRS 9
rules and also introduced a new categories. The effects resulting fromthis reclassificationare
impairment model. These |atest disclosedin Note 4.

amendments completed the new

financialinstruments standard. From 1 January2018, the Group classifies its financial assets inthe

following measurement categories:

= those to be measured subsequently at fair value (eitherthrough
OCl, or through profit or loss), and
= those to be measured at amortised cost.
The classification depends on the entity’s businessmodel for
managing the financial assetsand the contractual terms of the cash
flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be
recorded in profit orlossor OCI.

Atinitial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair
value plus, inthe case of a financial asset not at fairvalue through
profit or loss (FVTPL), transaction costs thatare directly attributable
to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial assets carried at FVTPL are expensed in profit orloss.

The new provisions on the accounting forimpairment lossesled to
expectedlosseshaving to be expensed earlierin case of trade
receivables. Application of the simplified approach forfinancial
assets with a significant financing component also led to a minor
increasein impairment losses (HUF 0.8 billion). The impairment
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losses on contract assets recognized for thefirst time as of January
1, 2018 in accordancewith IFRS 15 is disclosed within the effects
of IFRS 15.
The cumulative effect arising from the transition is recognized as
adjustment to the opening balance of equityin the yearof initial
application. Prior-year comparatives are not adjusted.

Title of Nature of change Impact on consolidated financial statements

standard

IFRS 15 The core principle of the new The adoption of the new standard resulted in significant changesto

Revenue from standardis for companiesto the financial statementsof the Group, primarily in respect of the

Contracts with recognize revenueto depict the timing of revenue recognitionandin respect of capitalization of

Customers transfer of goods or services to costs of obtaining a contract with a customer and contract

customersin amountsthatreflect | fulfilment costs.

the consideration (that is,

payment)to which the company
expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services. The
new standard also resultedin
enhanced disclosures about
revenue, provides guidance for
transactions thatwere not
previously addressed

= Magyar Telekomapplied the modified retrospective method, i.e.,
contracts that were not completed by January 1, 2018 were
accounted for as if theyhad beenrecognized in accordance with
IFRS 15 from the verybeginning. The cumulative effect arising
from the transition (catch-up) wasrecognized as an adjustment
to the opening balance of Retained earningsin 2018. Prior-year
comparatives were not adjusted; however, anexplanation of the
reasons for the changes in items in the consolidated statement

of financial position and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensiveincome for the current period are
provided as a result of applying IFRS 15 for thefirst time. The
effects wereanalyzed ina Group-wide project on
implementationof the new standard. The changeover to the new
standard resulted ina cumulative increase in retained eamings
of HUF 19 billion before taxes. As a consequence, HUF 2 billion
income tax arose. This effect was mainly attributable to the first-
time recognition of
=  Contractassets (HUF 18 billionincludingalso
reclassifications of HUF 5 billion that resulted mainly from
construction contract receivables underlAS 11 andthe
discount given to customers of unbilled receivables
under IAS 18)that, under IFRS 15, led to the earlier
recognition of revenue from the sale of goods and
merchandise, and
= Deferred customeracquisition costs (HUF 6 billion) that,
under IFRS 15, resulted in the later recognition of selling
expenses.
= Asregards to the new standard’s impact on the Consolidated
Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
Magyar Telekom's share of overall revenue fromthe provisionof
services decreased, whilst the overall share of revenue fromthe
sale of goods and merchandiseincreased . As described, IFRS
15 means revenueis recognized earlierand expensesare
recognized later for contractsnot yet completed by January 1,
2018. However, as the accounting effects of the changeoverto
the new standard were recognized directly in equity, the only
effects on the Consolidated Profitor Loss and Other
Comprehensive Incomein 2018 wererelated to changesin the
pointintime at whichrevenue and expenses arerealized. Onthe
assumption that businessdevelopment remains unchanged, this
means for a mass market characterized by a large number of

comprehensively(for example,
service revenue and contract
modifications) and new guidance
for multiple-element
arrangements.
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customer contractsthat are being concluded at different points

intime the following:
= For existing contracts, lower service revenues and higherselling
expenses from the amortization of capitalized contract assets
and customer acquisition costs are largely compensated for by
higher revenue, on the conclusion of new contracts, from the
sale of goods and lower sellingexpenses from the capitalization
of contract assets and customeracquisition costs. Compared
with the previous accounting method, major effects on eamings
thus arise onlyif business development changes, forexample, i
volumes or prices change orifthere are changesto business
models or productsoffered.
Inthe case of multiple-element arrangements (e.g., mobile
contract plushandset) with subsidized products deliveredin
advance, a larger portion of the total consideration is attributable
to the component delivered in advance (mobile handset),
requiring earlier recognition of revenue. This lead to the
recognition of what is known as a contract asset - a receivable
arising fromthe customer contract that has not yet legally come
into existence - in the Consolidated Statement of Financial
Position.
On first-time application of the standard, both total assets and
shareholders’ equity increased due to the capitalization of
contract assets and customeracquisition costs.
Later recognition of revenueis required in cases where “material
rights” are granted, such as offering additional discountsfor
future purchases of further products.
Contract liabilities (which, as deferred revenue, were already
recognized as liabilities inthe past and withthe transition
reclassified) are now netted off against the contract assets for
each customer contract.
For the purposes of determining whether Magyar Telekom sells
products for its own account (principal = gross revenue) or for
the account of others (agent = netrevenue), therewasno
material change.
Asignificant financing component is not considered for the
amount and timing of revenue recognition if the period between
when a promised good or serviceis transferred to the customer
and when the customer pays for that good or service will be one
year or less.
Accounting policies of subsidiarieshave been adjusted to ensure
consistencywith the policies adopted by the Group.
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2.1.2 Standards, amendments and interpretations that are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group

Certain newaccounting standards, interpretations and theiramendments have been published that are not mandatoryfor reporting
periods ending December 31,2018 and have not beenearlyadopted by the Group. The Group’s assessment of theimpact of these
new standards and interpretations is set out below.

Title of Nature of change Impact on consolidated financial statements Application
standard date andEU
endorsement
IFRS 16 IFRS 16 requires entities Magyar Telekomapplied the modified retrospective approach. The | Anentityis
Leases when they are a lesseg, to Group mainly leases cell sites, rooftops, office buildings and retail requiredto
shops, network assets, space on masts or towers and carsthat will apply IFRS 16
= recognize aright-ofuse | pe affected by the new standard. IFRS 16 standard will have a for annual
assetrepresenting its significant effect on the consalidated financial statementsand periods
righttouse the introduces a single lease accounting model by taking right-of-use beginningon
underlyingleasedasset | gssets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet. Thetransitional or after 1
and alease liability effect on both right-of-use assetsand lease liabilities will be inthe | January 2019
representing its range of HUF 92.7 and 114.3 billion (excluding the finance leases and permits to
obligationto make lease | yecognized as at December 31,2018 under IAS 17, prior to the apply the new
payments onthe transition). As a result of adopting IFRS 16, the 2018 operating Leases
statement of financial lease expenses will be presented as depreciation and interest Standard
position, initially expense from January 1, 2019. For the agreements already early, ifthe
measured atthe present | concluded by the end of 2018, thetransitioneffect on profitorloss | entity also
value of non-cancellable | js expectedto be between HUF 17.1 and 209 billionin2019that | applies IFRS
lease payments includes the depreciation and interest expense excludingthe leases | 15 Revenue
(including inflation-linked | which were previously accounted foras finance leasesunderIAS | from
payments), and 17. Details of the Group’s leases (including lease commitments) are | Contracts with

payments to be made in
optional periods if the
lessee is reasonably
certainto exercise an
optionto extend the
lease;

recognize amortization of
right-of-use assets and
interest on lease liabiliies
over the leaseterm; and
separate the total amount
of cash paidintoa
principal portion
(presented within
financing activities) and
interest (presented within
operating activities) in the
statement of cashflows.

disclosedinNote 17. Onthelessorside, MT Group mainly analyzes
the revised definiionof leases including the head and sublease
constructions. Otherthan that, MT Group doesnot expect a
considerable impact on the financial statements of the Group at this
time, as lessor accounting itself is not changing significantlythrough
the introduction of IFRS 16.

Regarding the transition to IFRS 16, MT Group decided:

= notto apply the practical expedientin IFRS 16.C3
(“Grandfathering approach”). As a result, are-assessment was
performed whetherexisting contractsare or contain a lease at
the date of initial application, i.e.as of January 1, 2019.

= not to use the low value exemption,

= to apply a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with
reasonablysimilar characteristics (suchas leases with a similar
remaininglease term fora similar class of underlying assetin a
similar economic environment) as a lessee,

= not to apply the practical expedient regarding short-term leases
except for some minorand insignificant lease arrangements with
a lease term of onemonth orless,

= to use hindsight such asin determining the lease term if the
contract contains options to extend or terminate the lease.

Customers at
or before the
date of early
application.

The European
Union has
endorsedthis
standard.

There are no other standards or amendmentsthat are not yet effective and that would be expected to have a materialimpacton the
Group inthe current orfuture reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions.
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2.2 Consolidation
2.2.1 Subsidiaries

Subsidiariesare entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entitywhen it is exposed to, or has rights to, vari able returns
from its involvement with the entity and hasthe ability to affectthose retums through its power overthe entity. The financial statements
of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date on which control commences untilthe date on
which control ceases.

The existence and effect of potential votingrights that are presently exercisable or presently convertible are also considered when
assessing whetherthe Group controls another entity.

Subsidiariesare consolidated fromthe date on whichcontrolis transferred to the Group, and are no longer consolidated from the date
control ceases. The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations. The cost of an acquisition is
measured as the fairvalue of the assets given up, shares issued or liabilities undertaken at the date of acquisiionwhereby costs
directly attributable to the acquisition are expensed. The excess of the cost of acquisition overthe fair value of the net assets and
contingent liabilities of the subsidiary acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition islessthan the fairvalue of the net
assets of the subsidiaryacquired, the difference isrecognized in the Profit forthe year (Other operating income).

If applicable, the Group recognizes at the acquisition date a liability forany contingent purchase consideration. Ifthe amount of
contingent consideration accounted foras a liabilitychanges as a result of a post-acquisition event (such as meeting an eamings
target), itis recognized in accordance with other applicable IFRSs asappropriate ratherthan asan adjustment of goodwill.

As for the measurement of non-controlling interest, the Group may recognize 100% of the goodwill of the acquired entity, not only the
Group’s portion of the goodwill. This iselected on a transaction-by-transaction basis. The Group attributestheir share of losses to the
non-controlling interestsevenif thisresultsin the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

In a step acquisition, the fairvalues of the acquired entity's assets and liabilities, including goodwill, are measured on the date when
control is obtained. Accordingly, goodwillis measured asthe difference at the acquisition date betweenthe fair value of any
investment the business held before the acquisition, the consideration transferred and the fair value of the net asset acquired and non-
controlling interest isrecorded at fair value when the Group elects the fair value option.

In case of acquisitionswhere thetransaction takes place between companies under common control(i.e. with other Deutsche
Telekom Group companies), the transaction is recorded at the carrying amounts asrecorded in the selling owner's accounts, and any
gains, lossesor differences between the carryingamount and the sale-purchase price are recognized in Retained earnings. The
consolidated financial statements includethe results of subsidiariesacquired from parties under common control from the date of the
closing of the transaction.

A partial disposal of an investment in a subsidiarywhile controlis retained is accounted for as anequity transaction with owners,
therefore gain orloss is not recognized in profit orlossfor such disposals.

A partial disposal of an investment in a subsidiarythat results in loss of contral triggers re-measurement of the residual interest to fair
value. Any difference between fair value and carrying amountis a gain or loss on the disposal, recognized in profit orloss (Other
income).

Inter-companytransactions, balances and unrealized gains orlosses on transactions betweenthe Magyar Telekom Group companies
are eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiarieshave been adjusted to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

There is one structured entity in the Group thatis fully consolidated, see Note 20.1.2.5.
2.3 Foreign currency translation
2.3.1 Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entitiesare measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the functional currency).

The consolidated financial statementsare presented in millions of HUF, as the Group’s presentation currencyis the Hungarian Forint.
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2.3.2 Transactions and balances

Foreign currencytransactions aretranslated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Foreignexchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactionsand fromthe translationat year-
end exchange rates of monetaryassets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the Profit forthe year (Other
finance expense - net).

2.3.3 Group companies

The income and financial position of all of the Group’s entities (none of whic hhas the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that
have a functional currencydifferent fromthe presentation currency aretranslated into the presentationcurrency as follows:

= Forthe initial consolidation of foreign subsidiaries acquired, their assets and liabilities at the acquisition date are incorporated into
the consolidated financial statements after translating the balances into HUF usingthe exchange rate prevailing at the date of
acquisition. Thefairvalue adjustments resulting fromthe purchase price allocation and goodwill are accounted forin HUF for
acquisitions before March 31, 2004, after which date these adjustments arisingon consolidation are accounted for in the functional
currencyof the subsidiary.

= Assets and liabilities for each Statement of financial position presented are translated atthe closing rate at the date of that
Statement of financial position.

= |tems of Profit orloss and other comprehensive income are translated at annual cumulated average exchange rates.

= All resulting exchange differences are recognized in the consolidated equity (Cumulative translation adjustment). When a foreign
operationis fullyor partially disposed of so that control is givenup, exchange differences that were recorded inequity untilthe date
of the sale are recognized inthe Profit for the yearas part of the gain orloss on sale (Other operating income).

2.4 Comparative information

In order to maintainconsistency with the current year presentation inthe Financial statements and the Notes thereto, certain items
have been reclassified for comparative purposes. Material changes indisclosures, if any, are described in detailin the relevant notes.

3 CRITICALACCOUNTINGESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and otherfactors, including expectations of
future events thatare believed to be reasonable under the prevailing circumstances. The Group makes estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, rarely equalthe related actual results. The e stimatesand
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities are outlined
below.

3.1 Useful lives of assets

The determinationof the useful lives of assets is based on historical experience withsimilar assets as well as any anticipated
technological development and changes in broad economic or industry factors. The appropriateness of the estimated useful live s is
reviewed annually, or wheneverthere isan indication of significant changes in the underlying assumptions. We believe thatthisis a
critical accounting estimate since itinvolves assumptions about technological developmentinan innovative industryand heavily
dependent on the investment plans of the Group. Further, due to the significant weight of depreciable assets in our total assets, the
impact of any changesin these assumptions can be material to ourfinancial position, and results of operations. As an example, if
Magyar Telekomwas to shorten the average useful life of its assets by 10%, thiswould result in additional annual depreciation and
amortization expense of approximately HUF 13 billion (2017: HUF 12 billion). See Notes 9 and 10 for the changes made to useful lives
in2018.

The Group constantly introduces a number of new services or platforms including, but not limited to, the 3G and 4G based broadband
services in the mobile communications and the fibertothe-home rallout inthe fixed line operations. Incase of the introduction of such
new services, the Group conducts a revisionof useful lives of the already existing platforms, but in the vast majority of the cases these
new services orassets are designed to co-exist with the existing platforms, resulting in no change-overto the newtechnology.
Consequently, the useful lives of the existing platforms usually do not require shortening.

30



mflm = = EGYUTT. VELED

3.2 Estimated impairment of goodwill

Goodwill is notamortized, but tested forimpairment annually or more frequently. The recoverable amounts of the operating segments
are calculated based on fair value less cost to sell determined by the discounted projected cash flows of the operating segments over
the nextten years with a terminal value. This ishighly judgmental, which carries the inherent risk of arriving at materially different
recoverable amounts if estimates used in the calculations proved to be inappropriate. The Group has an implemented policy to make
the impairment testbased on a 10-year cashflow projection on reasonable and supportable assumptions thatpresent the
management’s best estimate on market participants’ assumptions and expectations. We use 10 year cash flow projections asthe
payback period of our investments in the telecommunications operations often exceeds 5 years.

In order to determinethe recoverable amounts of the operating segments, the Group calculates the operating segments’ fairvalues
less costto sell. Inthe calculations, Magyar Telekomuses arange of weighted average cost of capital (WACC) and estimated
perpetual growth rate (PGR) depending on the country of operations and the characteristics of the markets the Group’s segments
operate in. The WACCs are determined based on CAPM (capital asset pricing model) using the average betas of the peergroup, 10
year zero coupon yieldsand a debt ratioin line withthe usual indebtedness of listed peertelecommunications companies, while the
PGRs usedare in linewiththe long-termaverage growthrate for the particular segment.

Costs of certain central functions that are notcross charged are also considered inthe fair value calculations, when conducting the
goodwill impairment tests. The costs of these central functions are allocated to the operating segmentsbased on the segments’
revenue share of the Group’s total revenue.

Goodwill is allocated to the operating segments of the Group: MT-Hungary and Macedonia.

In2018 and 2017, no goodwillhad to be impaired. Details of the carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to the segments arein Note
10.4.

The tables below show the WACCs and PGRs used in the fairvalue calculations of the Group’s operating segments for the goodwill
impairment test conducted in 2018 and 2017. The tablesbelowalso include sensttivity analyses that show how much impairment
would have been recognized asat December 31, 2018 or2017 for the goodwill allocated to the operating segments if we changed the
sensitive parametersin the calculations.

In 2018 we disclosewhat impact a 4 percentage pointincrease of the WACC would have on the goodwill. In case of the PGRs we
disclose what impact a 9 percentage point decrease of the PGR would have on the goodwill. In case of the cash flow projectionswe
disclose what impact a 20% or a40% lowerthan projected cash flow stream would have on the goodwill.

2018 MT-Hungary Macedonia
WACC

Usedinthe calculation 7.85% 7.10%
If changedto 11.85% 11.10%
Potential impairment (HUF million) 69,029 5,739
PGR

Usedinthe calculation 1.0% 1.0%
If changedto -8.0% -8.0%
Potential impairment (HUF million) 17,211 1,785
Cash-flow

If changed by -20% -20%

Potential impairment (HUF million)

If changed by -40% -40%
Potential impairment (HUF million) 63,911 4,887
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In2017 we disclosed whatimpact a 4 percentage point increase of the WACC would have had on the goodwill. Incase of the PGRs
we disclosed what impact a 8 percentage point decrease of the PGR would have had on the goodwill. In case of the cash flow
projections we disclosed what impacta 20% or a 40% lowerthan projected cash flow stream would have had on the goodwill.

2017 MT-Hungary Macedonia
WACC

Usedinthe calculation 6.39% 6.77%
If changedto 10.39% 10.77%
Potential impairment (HUF million) - 7,095
PGR

Usedinthe calculation 1.0% 1.0%
If changedto -7.0% -7.0%
Potential impairment (HUF million) - 2,063
Cash-flow

If changed by -20% -20%

Potential impairment (HUF million)

If changed by -40% -40%
Potential impairment (HUF million) - 2,297

The table below shows what changes can be observed in the 10 year plans preparedin 2017 compared to those preparedin2018.

MT-Hungary Macedonia

Cumulative average growth rate of revenues o o
duringthe 10 years compared to 2018 0.4% 0.5%
Cumulative average growth rate of revenues o o
duringthe 10 years comparedto 2017 0.9% 0.3%
Cumulative average growth rate of EBITDA o o
during the 10 years comparedto 2018 1.3% 0.9%
Cumulatlve average growth rate of EBITDA 1 206 | 3%
during the 10 years comparedto 2017

Cumulative average growth rate of Capex during o o
the 10 years comparedto 2018 (1.4%) (1.4%)
Cumulative average growth rate of Capex during 3206 (3.3%)

the 10 years comparedto 2017

Magyar Telekom's management believes that preparing the valuein use (VIU) calculationwas unnecessary, since it would have
resultedin a lowervaluethan the FVLCS. The VIU method is assuming a model withoutfuture investments, meaning thatadditio nal
capex and related revenues and gains to be recognized inthe future cannotbe considered in the calculations. Assuring the revenues
onlongtermin atelecom businessvery much dependson future investments. In Magyar Telekom on average only approximately 20%
ofthe capex spentin a year is related to maintenance. Others are new investments, also related to providing new connections to the
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network. Itis obvious, that withoutthis the revenue generation would start to decline sharply on along term. Consequently, we did not
prepare the valuein use calculations for any of the segments.

3.3 Estimated impairment of trade and other receivables

We calculate impairment for accounts receivable based on estimated losses resulting from the inability of our customersto make
required payments. The loss allowanceis recognized in respect of not onlylosses alreadyincurred as of the reporting date (incurred
losses) but also losses which have not yet incurred as of the reporting date but whichare expected to be incurred inthe future
(expected losses). Forthe largest customers and other telecommunications service providers, impairmentis calculated on an
individual basis, while for other customers itis estimated on a portfolio basis, forwhich we base our estimate on the aging of our
accounts receivable balance and our historical write-off experience, customer credit-worthiness and recent and expected changes in
our customer payment terms. These factors are reviewed annually, and changes are made to the calculations when necessary. In
addition, we consideralso the nature of the business(residential, business, fixed line, mobile, intemet, cable TV, etc.) and the
environment in which the Group’s entities operate in the various markets. If the financial condition of our customers were to
deteriorate, actual write-offs of currently existing receivables may be higherthan expected and may exceed the level of the impairment
losses recognized so far. The Group applied IFRS9 from2018. See also Notes 4 and 5.1.2.

3.4 Contracts with customers

From 2018 with the adoption of IFRS 15 the Group applies the guidance to a group of contracts with similar characteristics instead of
to a single contract with a customer. The characteristics considered include mainly the business segment of the customer, business
model of the contract, and whether the contract iscommitted or not.

Contract assets are recognized for unbilled amountstypically resulting from sales under long-term contracts when revenue recognized
exceeds the amount billed to the customer in that period. This is atemporary difference so that revenue recognized and revenue
billed are the same by the end of the commitment term. The amount of the contract assets is determined considering the estimated
churn rate of the relevant group of contracts. The time frame for reclassification of contract assets to a receivableis the minimum
contract term of the relevant group of contracts.

Furthermore, the Group recognizes assets for costs incurred in connection with the signing of customer contracts which would not
have been incurred if the customer contracthad not beenconcluded (contract costs). Capitalization is subject to the expectation that
those costs will be recovered by future revenues resultingfrom the contract.

Costs of obtaining acontract with a customer generally include sales commissions both direct and indirect distribution channels.
Capitalizing incremental costs of obtaining a contract does not only refer to contracts concluded with a new customer but also to
contract renewals. Accourting treatment of acquisition and retention related contract costs is the same.

Costs of obtaining acontract with a customer are amortised on a portfoliobasisoverthe period that the related goods or services are
transferred to the customer which is

= based on historical customer retention data and past experiences in that business segment in case of uncommitted contracts (e. g.
prepaid)and
= incase of committed contracts the commitment period is considered as amortisation period.

The Group decided not to use the practical expedient to expense incremental costs of obtaining a contract immediatelywhich are
amortized over a period of one year orless.

See Note 18.4 for theamount of contract assets, contract liabilities and contract costs as at December 31, 2018.

Under IAS 18 andIAS 11 until 2017 subscriber acquisitionand retention costs primarily included the loss on the equipment sales and
fees paidto subcontractorsthat acted as agents to acquire new customers or retain the existingsubscribers. The Group’s agents also
spend a portion of their agent feesfor marketing the Group’s products, while a certain partof the Group’s marketing costs could also
be considered as part of the subscriberacquisition and retertion costs. The up-front fees collected from customers for activation or
connection were marginal compared to the incremental acquisition and retention costs. These revenues and costs were recognized
when the customer was connected to the Group’s fixed or mobile networks. No suchcosts or revenues were capitalized or deferred.
These acquisitionand retention costs (losses) were recognized immediately asthey were not accurately separable fromother
marketing costs.
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3.5 Annual fees of mobile licenses

Magyar Telekom's primary activities are the fixed line and mobile operations in Hungary and Macedonia. These services are inmost
cases regulated by these countries’ laws or otherlegislations. These services in most casesrequire the acquisition of a license or
concession, which usually requiresa one-off fee and annual payments. It isjudgmental whether we consider the annual fees to be
reliablyestimable ornot. Ifwe considerthat we canreliably estimate these annual fees, the present value of those are capitalized as
part of the cost of the license, otherwise these are recognized as costs in the period theyrelate to.

As the conditions of the new license contract concluded inHungaryin 2014 and 2013 (see Note 34.1) substantially changed
compared to the old ones, in addition to theinitial cost of the new frequencies in 2014 (HUF 59 billion) and the renewal of the old ones
in 2013 (HUF 38 billion) we also recognized the discounted present value of the future annual license fees (HUF 39 billionin 2014 and
HUF 17 billionin 2013).

In 2013 Magyar Telekomconcluded an Authority Contract with the National Media and Infocommunications Authority (NMIAH) onthe
prolongation of thethen existing 900 MHz and 1800 MHz frequencies until April, 2022. The Contract included provisions on lowering
the annual fee of these and the 2100 MHz bands in the form of a legislation. The reduction of the annual fees was a result of the
Hungarianmobile operators' years of interest enforcement effortsas formerfeeswere far higherthan the European average. The
probability of the modification of these Authority Contract based feesprior to the expiry of the term has become verylowas the parties
agreed in allterms and provisions of the contract, including the reduced fees of the bands, until 2022. It would be unprecedented that
the annual fees change priorto the expiry of thetermof the contract. While the mobile operators took significant efforts priorto the
recent amendmernt to reduce thefees, the lowered feesin the newly concluded contract are more favorable for MT than thefee inthe
authority decree. Based on the same consideration, the mobile operators also initiated the reductionof the feesof those bandsthat
were outside the scope of the modification of the Authority Contract. Thefee of the 2100 MHz band, whichcanbe used until 2019,
was reduced by 50% pursuant to the relevant National Media and Infocommunications Authority decree and thiswas such an
extensive reductionthat it makes the revision of the fees until the expiry of the contracts in 2019 very unlikely. The mobile operators
had reached theirobjectives as the annual fee obligation was significantlyreduced and it is now aligned to the EU trends.

The Authority Contractconcluded between the Company and the NMIAH in October 2014 on the use of the new 800MHz 900 MHz
and 1800 MHz frequency bands also includes annual fees that are inline with the ones achievedin 2013, i.e. we considered them
reliablyestimable to capitalize their discounted present value as part of the cost of the license.

The Authority Contractconcluded between the Company and the NMIAH in August 2018 on the prolongation of the 26 GHz frequency
until May, 2024 also includes annual fees that arein line with the ones achieved in2013, i.e. we considered themreliably estimable to
capitalize their discounted present value as part of the cost of the license.

The Authority Contractconcluded between the Company and the NMIAHin December 2018 on the prolongationof the 2100 MHz
frequency until June, 2027 also includes annualfeesthat are inline with the ones achieved in 2013, i.e. we considered them reliably
estimable to capitalize their discounted present value as part of the cost of the license.

In case of the other frequency license fees of the Group, we did not consider the annual fees to be reliably estimable at the time of
acquisition, therefore, those were not capitalized.

4 FINANCIALINSTRUMENTS

Afinancialinstrument is any contract thatgives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of
another entity.

Financial assetsof the Group include cash and cash equivalents, equity instruments of ancther entity and contractual rightsto receive
cash (trade receivables) or another financial asset fromanother entity or to exchange financial assets orfinancial liabilitieswithanother
entity under conditions that are potentially favorable to the entity (derivatives) a contract that will or may be settled in the entity’sown
equity instruments and is a non-derivative for which the entityis or may be obliged to receive a variable number of the entity’sown
equity instruments; or a derivative that will or may be settled otherthan by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash oranother financial
asset for a fixed number of the entity’sown equity instruments. For this purpose, the entity’s ownequity instrumentsdo not include
puttable financial instruments classified as equity instruments, instruments that impose on the entityan obligationto deliver to another
party a pro rata share of the net assets of the entity only on liquidation and are classified as equity instruments, or instruments thatare
contracts forthe future receipt or delivery of the entity’s own equity instruments.
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Financial liabilities of the Group include liabilities that originate from contractual obligations to deliver cash or another financial asset to
another entity (non-derivatives); or to exchange financial assets orfinancial liabilitieswithanother entity under conditions that are
potentiallyunfavorableto the entity (derivatives) or a contract thatwill or may be settled in the entity’s own equityinstruments and is a
non-derivative forwhich the entity is ormaybe obliged to deliver avariable number of the entity's own equity instruments; or a
derivativethat will ormaybe settled other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash oranotherfinancial asset fora fixed number
ofthe entity’s own equity instruments. For this purpose, the entity’s own equity instruments do not include puttable financial
instruments that are classified asequity instruments, instruments that impose on the entity an obligation to deliverto another partya
pro rata share of the net assets of the entity only on liquidation and are classified as equity instruments, or instruments that are
contracts forthe future receipt or delivery of the entity’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities, in particular, include liabilities to banks and related parties, finance lease payables, trade payablesand derivative
financial liabilities and otherfinancial liabilities.

4.1 Financial assets - accounting policies
4.1.1 Financial assets - accounting policies relevantfrom 2018
From January 1, 2018 with the application of IFRS 9, the Group classifies its financial assets on the basis of both:

= the entity's business model for managing the financial assets and
= the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset

inthe following categories:
= atamortised cost if both of the following conditionsare met:

« the financial asset is held within abusiness model whose objective is to hold financial assets in orderto collectcontractual cash
flows and
« the contractualterms of the financial asset give rise on specified datesto cashflows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
= atfairvaluethrough othercomprehensive income (FVOCI) if both of the following conditions are met:

« the financial asset is held within abusiness model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling
financial assets and
« the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified datesto cashflows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
= atfair valuethrough profit or loss (FVTPL) unless it isclassified inthe previous categories.

For the purpose of the above classification:

= principalis the fairvalue of the financial asset atinitial recognition
= interest consistsof considerationfor the time value of money, for the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding
during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs, as well as a profit margin.

Standard purchases and sales of financial assetsare recognized on the trade-date, the date on which the Group commitsto purchase
or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets notcarried at fair value
through profit or loss. Financial assetscarried at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognized at fair value, and transaction
costs are expensed in the Profit forthe year.

Financial assetsare derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or have been transferred.
Financial assetshave been transferred when the contractual rights to receive cash flows of the financial assets have beentransferred
or the contractual rights to receive cashflows of the financial assets have beenretained but there is a contractual obligation to paythe
cash flows to one ormorerecipients inan arrangement compliant with the conditions set outby IFRS 9. Any gains orlosses on
derecognition are recognized in Profit for the yearand are calculated as the difference between (a) the sum of the consideration
received and any cumulative gain or loss thathad been recognised in other comprehensive income and (b) the carrying amount
derecognized.
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4.1.1.1 Impairment of financial assets

Depending on the business model of the Group and the characteristics of the contractual cash flows of the financial assets, financial
assets are subsequently measured at amortized cost, at fair value through other comprehensiveincome or at fair value through profit
or loss.

Aloss allowance must be recognized for financial assets measured at amortised cost and at fair value through other comprehensive
income. The loss allowance must be recognized through profit or loss and reduces the carrying amount of the relevant financial asset;
inthe case of financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, the corresponding offsetting entry is
recognized in other comprehensive income and does not reduce the carrying amount of the financial asset.

Loss allowances must alsobe recognized for lease receivables asdefined in IAS 17 and IFRS 16, contract assetsas defined in IFRS
15, financial guarantee contractsand loan commitments relating to loans bearing an off-market interest rate.

From January 1, 2018 with the transition to IFRS 9, loss allowance is recognized in respect of not onlylosses alreadyincurred as of the
reporting date (incurred losses) but also losses which have not yet incurred as of the reporting date but which are expected to be
incurred inthe future (expected losses).

Based onthe changesin credit risk, it mustbe assessed at each reporting date whether the current loss allowance must be me asured
atan amount equal to the lifetime expected credit lossesor at anamount equalto the 12-monthexpected credit losses. Ifitis not
possible to assess whetherthe credit risk has increased significantly based on theindividual financial asset, it must be assessed atthe
portfolio level.

The simplified and the general approachesareto be applied to assessand account for credit losses.
= Simplified approach

All financial instruments underlying simplified approach are measured with lifetime expected credit loss. Therefore, except for
insolvency, neither any indicators forincreasein credit risk nor any default events arerelevant withinsimplified approach.

The simplified approach is applicable for trade receivables, contract assets and lease receivableswithout a significant financial
component. MT Group has chosenthe right to use the simplified approach for these receivables with a significant financial component
aswell.

= General approach

According to the expected credit loss model the financial instruments are classified into three buckets. The classification into the three
buckets is based upon the changes of the credit risk forthe financial asset. A relative credit risk modelis used for the evaluation of an
increased creditrisk. The increase of credit risk in comparison to the initial recognition isreflected in the transfer of the financial
instrument between the buckets.

According to the expected credit risk model the impairmentis determined differently for the three buckets. The impairment for
financialinstruments in bucket 1 is calculated based upon the 12 months expected credit loss. The impairment for financial
instruments inbucket 2 and 3 is calculated based upon the lifetime expected creditlosses. Once a long termasset moved to bucket 3
effective interestmethod has to be applied to reach net value afterimpairment.

The general approach is applied for bank accounts, factoring receivables, other financial receivables and employee loans.
4.1.1.2 Financial assets measured at amortised cost
The following itemsare assigned to this category:

= cashandcash equivalents;
= deposits over 3 months;

= trade receivables;

= otherreceivables.

Financial assetsat amortised cost are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently carried at amortized cost using the effective
interest method (relevant only forthe receivables with longterm maturity).
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Cashand cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and in banks, and all highly liquid deposits and securities with original maturities of
three months or less, and exclude all overdrafts.

Bank deposits with original maturities over 3 months

Bank deposits with original maturities over 3 months include bank deposits and other liquid deposits and securities with original
maturities overthree months.

Trade and other receivables

Ifthere is significantincrease in the credit risk of tradereceivables carried at amortized cost, the amount of the impairment loss is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at
the receivable’soriginal effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). In case of shortterm trade
receivables estimation is made on the amount of expected future cashinflowsand compared to the carrying amount, the differenceis
accounted for as allowancefor trade receivables. The carryingamount of the asset is reduced through use of an allowance account.
The amount of the loss is recognized asBad debt expense.

Whenitis determined thatthereis no significant increasein the creditrisk foran individually assessed accounts receivable, the item
should be includedin a group of accounts receivables with similar credit risk characteristics and assessed collectively forimpairment.
Receivables that areindividually assessed for impairmentand for which an impairment loss is or continuesto be recognized are not
included in a collective assessment of impairment.

There are three categoriesof calculating impairment loss for trade receivables:

= forinvoiceswhichareoverdue
= forinvoiceswhicharenot yet due (‘zero day impairmentcalculation’)
= for unbilled revenue.

In case of collective assessmernt there is significant increase in the credit risk ifthere are overdueitems ina group of receivables. An
ageinglistis prepared on overdue receivablesand the amount of impairment is calculated by multiplying impairment ratesbased on
historical loss experience withthe amount of receivables.

Impairmentrates are calculated based on historical loss experience, howeverit is adjusted on the basis of current observabl e data to
reflect the effects of current conditionsthat did not affect the period on which the historical loss experienceis based and to remove the
effects of conditions in the historical period that do not exist currently. During the impairment calculationforward looking information is
also considered. Such kind of information can be forexample internal changes in the billing and dunning processes and external
extreme changes e.g.in unemployment rates, credit crisis etc.

When a trade receivable isestablished to be uncollectible, it is written off against Trade receivables and other assets. Impairment and
subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are accounted foragainstthe period’s Direct costs.

4.1.1.3 Financial assets atfair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)
The “financial assets at fair valuethrough other comprehensive income” measurement category includesthe following financial assets:

= |isted and unlisted equity instruments thatare neitherfully consolidated norincluded using the equitymethod in the consolidated
financial statements, not held for trading and OCl option has been applied;

= debtinstruments within a business modelwhose objective isachieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling
financial assets.

Financial assetsat fair valuethrough other comprehensive income areinitially recognized at fairvalue and are also subsequently
carried atfairvalue. The unrealized changes in the fairvalue of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income are
recognized in equity, in the Revaluationreserve for FVOClI financial assets for both equityinstruments and debt instruments.

When securities classified as financial assets at fairvalue through other comprehensiveincome are sold, the accumulated fair value

adjustments recognized in equity before are recognized in the profit or loss except forequity instruments, where it will be reversed to
equity.
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The Group assessesat each balance sheet date whetherthereis significant increasein the creditrisk . Thereis significantincreasein
the creditrisk of a financial asset as a result of one or more events that occurred afterthe initial recognitionof the asset (a ‘loss event’)
andthat loss event hasan impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assetsthat can be
estimated reliably.

Ifany such evidence exists for FVOClfinancial assets, the cumulative loss - measured as the difference between the acquisition cost
andthe current fairvalue, less anyimpairment loss on that financial asset previously recognized in the profit or loss - is removed from
equity and recognized in theincome statement. Impairment losses recognized in the profit or loss on equity instruments are not
reversed through the profit or loss.

4.1.1.4 Financial assets atfair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

Debt instruments which do not meet the conditionsset out to be initially classified either at amortised cost or at fair value through other
comprehensiveincome must be measured at fairvalue through profit or loss.

The “financial assets at fairvalue through profit or loss” measurement category includesthe following financial assets:

= Debtinstruments that are designated as “at fairvalue through profit or loss” using the fairvalue option.

= Equity instruments acquired forthe purpose of selling immediately orin the neartermand thus classified as “held for trading” and
equity instruments not held fortrading where the OCl optionhas not been applied.

= Derivativefinancial assets.

= Debtinstruments not fulfilling conditions of eitherfinancial assetsat amortized cost orfinancial assets at fairvalue through other
comprehensiveincome.

Financial assetsat fair valuethrough profit orloss are subsequently carried at fair value. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair
value of the financial assets at fairvalue through profit or loss category are recognized in the profit orlossin the period in which they
arise.

Housing loans to employees

Employee loans generallydo not meetthe SPPI criteria, hence are classified in fairvalue through profit or loss category.
4.1.2 Financial assets - accounting policies relevantin 2017

In 2017 and before the transition to IFRS 9, the Group classified its financial assetsin the following categories:

= atfair valuethrough profit or loss (FVTPL)
= |oansandreceivables
= availablefor-sale (AFS)

The classification depends on the purpose forwhichthe financial asset was acquired. Management determines the classification of
financial assets at theirinitial recognition and the characteristics of the asset itself.

Standard purchases and sales of financial assetsare recognized on the trade-date, the date on which the Group commitsto purchase
or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets notcarried at fair value
through profit or loss. Financial assetscarried at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognized at fair value, and transaction
costs are expensed in the Profit forthe year.

Financial assetsare derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired orhave been transferred
andthe Group has transferred substantiallyall risksand rewards of ownership. Anygains or losses on derecognitionare recognizedin
Profit for the year and are calculated as the difference between (a) the sum of the consideration received and any cumulative gainor
loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income and (b) the carrying amountderecognized.

4.1.2.1 Impairment of financial assets

The Group assessesat each financial statement date whetherthere is objective evidence thata financial assetisimpaired. There is
objective evidence of impairment if as a result of loss eventsthat occurred after the initial recognition of the asset have animpact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

38



mflm = = EGYUTT. VELED

Impairmentlosses of financial assets are recognized in the Profit forthe year againstallowance accounts to reduce the carrying
amount until the derecognition of the financial asset.

(a) Financial assets measured at amortised cost

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually forfinancial assets that are individually
significant, and collectivelyfor financial assets that are not individually significant. If no objective evidence of impairmentexists for an
individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it isassessed collectively forimpairment. Assets that are individually
assessed forimpairment and forwhichan impairment loss is recognized are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.
Collectiveassessmentiscarried out by grouping together assets with similar risk characteristics.

Individual assessment of impairment is carried outfor debtors under litigation; bankruptcy proceedings and for the total receivables of
customers with more than 1 year overdue receivables. Individual assessment is also performed in special circumstances, if thereis an
overdue receivable from any designated customer with differentcredit risk attributes. The carrying amount of loans and receivables,
which would otherwise be past due, whoseterms have been renegotiated is notimpaired if the collectability of the renegotiated cash
flows are considered ensured.

In assessing collective impairment, the Group uses historical information on the timing of recoveriesand the amount of loss incurred,
and makes an adjustment if current economic and credit conditions are such that the actual lossesarelikely to be greater or lesser
than suggested by historical trends. The Group’s benchmark policy for collective assessmentof impairment of trade and other
receivables is based on the aging of the receivables due to the large number of relatively similar type of customers.

Animpairmentlossis calculated as the difference between an asset’scarrying amount and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have notbeen incurred) discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. The
carryingamount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the lossis recognized in the Profit for the year.

Impairmentloss on cashand cash equivalents and bank depositswithoriginal maturities over 3 months and its reversal are recognized
inthe Profit for the year (Other finance expense - net). Impairment losson trade and other receivablesand its reversal are recognized
in Direct costsin the Profit forthe year (Bad debt expense). Impairment losses on Employee loans and any reversal isrecognized in the
Profit for the year (Employee related expenses).

If the amount of impairment loss subsequently decreasesand the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring afterthe
impairment wasrecognised (such asan improvement inthe debtor’s credit rating), then the previously recognised impairment | oss is
reversed through the Prdfit forthe year by adjustingthe allowance account. Thereversal shall not result in a carrying amount of the
financial asset thatexceeds what the amortized cost would have been had the impairment not been recognized at the datethe
impairment is reversed. The amount of the reversal shall be recognized in the Profit forthe yearas a reductionto Direct costs (Bad
debt expense).

When the Group considersthat there are no realistic prospects of recovery of the asset (i.e. uncollectible), the relevant amounts are
written off. The amounts written off and subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are recognised in the sameline item
ofthe Statement of profit orloss as the impairment losses.

(b) Available-for-sale (AFS)financial assets

Impairmentlosses on available-for-sale financial assets are recognised by reclassifying the losses accumulated in the Revaluation
reserve for AFSfinancial assets to the Prdfit forthe year (Otherfinance expense - net). The amountreclassified is the difference
between the acquisition cost (net of any principal repayment and amortisation) and the current fairvalue, less any impairment loss
previously recognised in the Profit for theyear. If the fairvalue of an impaired available-forsale debt security subsequentlyincreases
andthe increase can be related objectively to an event occurring after theimpairment loss wasrecognised, thenthe impairment loss is
reversed through the Profit forthe year (Otherfinance expense - net).

Impairmentlosses recognised in Profit forthe year foran investmentin an equityinstrument classified as available-forsale are not
reversed through the Profit forthe year.
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4.1.2.2 Financial assets atfair value through profit or loss
The “financial assets at fairvalue through profit or loss” measurement category includesthe following financial assets:

= Financial assetsincurred forthe purpose of sellingimmediately orin the nearterm and thus classified as “held for trading”
= Derivativefinancial assetsnot involved in aneffective hedge relationship are classified as “held for trading”

Assets in this category are normally classified as current assets (Other current financial assets). Derivatives aimed to hedge the cash
flow risk of non current financial instruments are classified as non current assets(Non current financial assets).

No reclassification between categories has beenmade in the pastand no reclassifications are expected in the future.

Assets in this category are initially recognized and subsequently carried at fair value. Gains or lossesarising fromchanges in the fair
value are recognized inthe Profit for the year (Other finance expense - net) in the period in which they arise. The Group only classifies
derivativefinancial instruments inthis category.

Derivatives are initially recognized at fairvalue on the date a derivative contract is entered into and their fair values are re-measured at
subsequent financial statementdates. Magyar Telekom does notapply hedge accounting forits financial instruments, therefore all
gains and losses are recognized in the Profit forthe year (Other finance expense - net).

4.1.2.3 Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable paymentsthat are not quoted in an active market.
Receivables are included in current assets, except those with maturities over 12 months afterthe financial statement date. These are
classified as Non-current financial assets.

The following itemsare assigned to the “loans and receivables” measurement category:

= cashandcash equivalents

= bank deposits withoriginal maturities over 3 months
= trade receivables

= employee loans

= other receivables

Loans and receivables are initially recognized at fairvalue plus any directly attributable transaction costs and subsequently carried at
amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment.

(a) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and in banks, and all highly liquid deposits and securities with original maturities of
three months or less, and exclude all overdratfts.

(b) Bank deposits with original maturities over 3 months

Bank deposits with original maturities over 3 months include bank deposits and other liquid deposits and securities with original
maturities overthree months.

(c) Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables include the receivables for the services rendered and goods sold from the customers of the Group while other
receivables mainly include advancesand prepayments.

(d) Employee loans

Employee loans arerecognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method,
less any impairment loss.

The difference betweenthe nominal value of the loan granted and the initial fair value of the employeeloan is recognized as prepaid
employee benefits (Other non current assets). Interest income on the loan granted calculated by using the effective interest method is
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recognized as Interest income, while the prepaid employee benefits are amortized to Employee related expenses evenly overthe term
of the loan.

4.1.2.4 Available-for-sale (AFS)financial assets

AFS financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either designated in this category ornot classified inany of the other
categories. They are included inNon currentfinancial assets unless management intends to dispose of the investment within 12
months of the financial statement date. In this latter case they are included in Other current financial assets.

The AFS measurement categoryincludes:

= equity instruments that are neither consolidated norincluded using the equitymethod in the consolidated financial statements
= debtinstruments

AFS financial assets are initially recognized and also subsequently carried at fair value. The unrealized changes inthe fair value of AFS
financial assets are recognized in Accumulated other comprehensive income (Reval uation reserve for AFS financial assets).

Interest on AFS debt securities calculated using the effective interest method isrecognized in the Profit forthe year (Inte rest income).
Dividends on AFS equity instruments are recognized inthe Profit for theyear (Interestincome) when the Group’s right to receive
payments is established.

4.2 Financial assets in the statement of financial position
4.2.1 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and in banks, and all highly liquid deposits and securities with original maturities of
three months or less, and exclude all overdrafts. These financial assets are exposed to credit risks, forwhichsee more detailsin Note
5.1.2. Noimpairment had to be recognized for any of these balances inthe reported years.

In HUF millions At December 31,
2017 2018
Cashonhand 175 151
Cashin bank (demand deposits) 3,807 4,515
Bank deposits with original maturities less than 3 months 1,417 2,538
5,399 7,204
Average interestrates At December 31,
2017 2018
Cashonhand 0.00% 0.00%
Cashin bank (demand deposits) 0.09% 0.10%
Bank deposits with original maturities less than 3 months 0.35% 0.24%
Average interest rate 0.16% 0.15%




mflm = = EGYUTT. VELED

Cash and cash equivalents by currency At December 31,
In HUF millions 2017 2018
HUF 1,865 2,522
EUR 784 2,471
MKD 1,703 1,536
RON 594 521
usb 411 95
Other 42 59
5,399 7,204
Cash and cash equivalents by country of location At December 31,
In HUF millions 2017 2018
Macedonia 2,643 3,960
Hungary 2,064 2,627
Other countries 692 617
5,399 7,204

4.2.2 Trade receivables and contract assets

Trade receivables and other assetsin the Consolidated statement of financial position includes both trade receivables, contract assets
and other assets (Note 12).

4.2.2.1 Trade receivables and contract assets - carrying amounts

At December 31,

In HUF millions 2017 2018

Trade receivables fromthird parties 135,082 154,579
Trade receivables from Deutsche Telekom Group companies 9,029 10,143
Trade receivables fromassociates and jointventures 326 549
Trade receivables (a) 144,437 165,271
Contract assets -current (Notes 1.3and 18.4) - 17,820
Total trade receivables and contract assets 144,437 183,091

The change of Trade receivables fromthird partiesfrom 2017 to 2018 includesalsothe effect of the reclassification due to the
transition to IFRS 15 (i.e. partial recognition of contract assets). See also Notes 1.3 and 2.1.1.
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(a) Age profile of Trade receivables

The following tables showthe age profile of the Group’strade receivables by country of operation by days outstanding (past due). The
carryingamounts of past due receivables are shown net of impairment losses charged as of the financial statement dates.

. of which past due by

2‘;‘;2‘" :f of which
In HUF millions U ot past

asofDec g less — 30.60 61-90 91-180  181-360  OVer

31,2018 than 30 - ) - - 360

days days days days
days days
Hungary 150,647 128,891 15,904 2,518 741 1,254 696 643
Macedonia 13,806 10,467 1,560 327 130 229 324 769
Other countries 818 697 74 14 14 13 5 1
Total 165,271 140,055 17,538 2,859 885 1,496 1,025 1,413
; of which past due by

2";2’::? of which
In HUF millions not past

asof Dec less over

31.2017 due 30-60 61-90 91-180 181-360

’ than 30 360
days days days days
days days

Hungary 130,277 113,727 10,208 2,261 1,143 961 529 1,448
Macedonia 13,365 9,853 1,570 482 278 352 444 386
Other countries 795 634 76 24 11 30 14 6
Total 144,437 124,214 11,854 2,767 1,432 1,343 987 1,840

The vast majority of trade receivables is impaired on a portfolio basis using the simplified approach. The vast majority of past due trade
receivables is partly or fullyimpaired depending mainly on the period of delay of payments. Onlyinsignificant amounts of pastdue
trade receivables are not impaired based on past experience of payment behavior of certain businessand govemmental customers. As
these amounts are not significant, these are not disclosed separately.

4.2.2.2 Impairment losses of trade receivables and contract assets

The table below shows theimpairment losses and changes thereinrelated to trade receivables for2017 and 2018.

In HUF millions At December 31,
2017 2018

Impairmentloss, beginning of period 37,590 30,036
First-time adoption of IFRS 9&15 (Notes 1.3 and 2.2) - 771
Chargedto expense - net (included in Direct costs) 5,575 8,271
Translation difference (41) 384
Decrease of impairment losses due to sale of subsidiary (6,301) -
Utilized (6,787) (7,358)
Impairmentloss, end of period 30,036 32,104
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The table below shows theimpairment losses and changes thereinrelated to contract assets for 2017 and 2018.

In HUF millions

Impairmentloss, beginning of period

First-time adoption of IFRS 9&15 (Notes 1.3 and 2.2)
Chargedto expense - net (included in Direct costs)

Translation difference
Utilized

Impairmentloss, end of period

At December 31,

2017

2018

893
1,225
16
(665)

1,469

In 2018, the line Firsttime adoptionof IFRS 9& 15 includesthe increase inimpairment losses asa result of the first-time adoption of
IFRS 9 (HUF 771 million), as the expected credit loss model was applied and the increase inimpairment losses as a resultof the first-
time adoption of IFRS 15 (HUF 893 million), as the newly recognized contract assets had to be impaired as at the application date (see

alsonotes 1.3and 2.2).

The line Charged to expense- netincluded in2017 alsothis type of change inimpairment related to Crnogorski Telekom AD which
was considered asdiscontinued operation (see alsonote 26.2.1).
The table below includesthe impairment losses and the changes therein in 2017 and 2018 for the countries of operation of the Group.

In HUF millions At Charged Translation Decrease Utilized At
December to difference of (1) December
31,2016 expense (and impairment 31,2017
rounding) losses due
to sale of
subsidiary
HUNGAIY .oovvven 21,801 4,742 1 - (6,472) 20,072
Macedonia.................... 9,370 774 (36) - (293) 9,815
Montenegro ...........cc... 6,248 55 - (6,301) (2)
Other countries .............. 171 4 (6) ; (20) 149
Group oo 37,590 5,575 (41) (6,301) (6,787) 30,036
(1) Utilized means reversed on derecognition (settlement, write-off or factoring).
In HUF millions At First-time Charged to Translation Utilized At
December adoption expense difference (1) December
31,2017 of IFRS (and 31,2018
9&15 rounding)
HUNGAIY .oovvven 20,072 1,108 8,662 (1) (7,174) 22,667
Macedonia.................... 9,815 556 831 391 (849) 10,744
Other countries .............. 149 3 10 162
GroUp covvvvvvvvvinns 30,036 1,664 9,496 400 (8,023) 33,573

(1) Utilized means reversed on derecognition (settlement, write-off or factoring).

See also Note 5.1.2 for furtheranalysis of credit risks related to Trade receivables.
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4.2.3 Other financial assets

Other financial assets include receivables due within 12 months (current) and due after 12 months (non current) fromthe end of the
reporting period (financial statement date). These financial assets are exposed to credit risks, for which see more details in Note 5.1.2.
The impairment loss recognised or reversed for other current and non currentfinancial assets is not material.

4.2.3.1 Other currentfinancial assets

At December 31,

In HUF millions 2017 2018
Bank deposits with original maturities over 3 months (a) 3,523 3,915
Finance leasereceivable (b) 246 50
Loans and receivables from employees (c) 325 355
Derivativefinancial instruments contracted with related parties (d) 2,978 -
Cashpool receivables (e) 6,580
Other 1,090 731

8,162 11,631

(a) Bank deposits with original maturities over 3 months were deposited in Macedonia predominantly in euro. They amounted to HUF
3,915 million as at December 31,2018 (2017: HUF 3,523 million).

4.2.3.2 Other non currentfinancial assets

At December 31,

In HUF millions 2017 2018
Finance leasereceivable (b) 346 308
Employee loans and receivables from employees (c) 1,429 1,099
Trade receivables over oneyear f) 16,690 18,056
Derivativefinancial instruments contracted with related parties (d) - 1,026
Equity instruments (9) 325 544
Contract assets (h) 3,560
Other 533 392

19,323 24,985

(b) See Note 17.2.1 for moreinformation on Finance lease receivable.

(c) Employee loans and receivables from employees primarily represent the housing loans provided to the employees of the Group.
There are no significant past due employee receivables, and theloans are pledged with mortgage. Seealso 4.1.1.4 and 4.1.2.3 d).

(d) Derivative financial instruments contracted withrelated parties include the fairvalue of open currency forwards and cross-currency
interest rate swaps (see more details in Note 5.1.1.1 and 5.1.1.3).
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(e) The aggregate balance of the cashpoolis a receivable (HUF 6,580 million) as at December 31, 2018 whichalso included cashpool
liabilities (HUF 592 million). (The aggregate balance of the cashpool was aliability as atDecember 31, 2017 which also included
cashpool receivables (HUF 97 million). See also Note 4.2.3.1.)

December 31,2018 Carrying amountin Lender Currency Effective Fixed/
HUF millions Interestrate floating
(%)
6,249 DT AG HUF 0.00 floating
923 DT AG EUR 0.00 floating
(592) DT AG usD 2.46 floating
Due within 1 year 6,580

(f) Trade receivables over one yearinclude receivables from customers paying over 1-2 years in installments for telecommunications
equipment sold. Theimpairment losses of trade receivables over one yearamounted to HUF 1,243 million as at December 31, 2018
(2017: HUF 1,358 million).

(9) Equity instruments include insignificantinvestments in equity securities.
(h) Contract assets are disclosed together with revenues fromcontractswith customers inNote 18.4.
4.3 Financial liabilities - accounting policies

The accountingpolicies of the Group did not change significantly regarding the financial liabilities withthe transition to IFRS 9 and
they are disclosed below.

There are two measurement categories forfinancial liabilities used by the Group:

= Financial liabilitiescarried at amortized cost
= Financial liabilitiesat fair valuethrough profit orloss

No reclassification between categories has beenmade in the pastand no reclassifications are expected in the future. Both types of
financialliabilities are initially recognized at fair value, while subsequentmeasurements are different(see below). We der ecognize a
financial liability (ora partof a financial liability) from the Statement of financial position when, and only when, it is extinguished - i.e.
when the obligation specified in the contract isdischarged, cancelled or expired.

4.3.1 Financial liabilities carried atamortized cost

The measurement categoryfor “financial liabilities measured at amortized cost” includes all financial liabilities notclassified as “at fair
value through prdfit orloss”.

(a) Loans and other financial liabilities

Loans and other financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value less transaction costs, and subsequently measured at amortized
costs using the effective interest rate method. The effective interest is recognized in the Profitfor the year (Interest expense) overthe
period of the liabilities.

(b) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables (includingaccruals) are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized ¢ ost using
the effectiveinterest method.

4.3.2 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

The Group currently has no intention of measuring non-derivative financial liabilities at fair value, therefore, only derivative financial
instruments are assigned to this category. However, contingent consideration recognised by the Group as acquirerin a business
combinationto which IFRS 3 applies will subsequently be measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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The Group does not apply hedge accounting, therefore, all derivatives are measured at fairvalue through profitor loss.

Derivatives are initially recognized at fairvalue atthe date a derivative contractis entered into and their fairvaluesare re-measured at
subsequent balance sheet dates. Magyar Telekom does not apply hedge accounting forits financial instruments, therefore all gains
and losses are recognized in the Profit for the year (Other finance expense - net).

4.4 Financial liabilities in the statement of financial position
4.4.1 Financial liabilities to related parties

Financial liabilitiesto related parties include HUF and EUR denominated loans taken from DT Group. In addition, for the whole nominal
amount and interest paymentof loans denominated in EUR granted by DTIF we have cross-currency interest rate swap agreements in
place (with DT AG) so that Magyar Telekom’s exposure in fact remains in HUF. The loans and the related swap agreementsare
accounted for and disclosed on a gross basis. Theseloans were primarily takenfor significantacquisitions in the past and for dividend
payments. These loans, when expiring, are also refinanced by DT, depending on the actual financing need of Magyar Telekom.

The tables below show the details of the financial liabilities towards Deutsche Telekom Group members asat December 31, 2018 and
2017.

December 31,2018 Carryingamount Lender  Currency  Effective Fixed/ Maturity  Original
in HUF millions Interestrate  floating Term
(%)

35,000 DTAG HUF 5.89 fixed Mar2019  5Syears
20,000 DTAG HUF 4.98 fixed Jun2019  byears
50,000 DTAG HUF 4.33 fixed Oct2019  5Syears

Due within 1 year 105,000

Accrued interest 5,872

Other financial liabilities 185

Derivatives 87

Total current W
35,000 DTAG HUF 3.83 fixed Jun2020  5Syears
42,013  DTIF EUR 1.99 fixed Jan2021  6years
45,811 DTIF EUR 1.60 fixed Jul2021  5years

Non current 122,824

Derivatives 525

Total non current 123,349
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December 31,2017 Carryingamount Lender  Currency  Effective Fixed/ Maturity  Original
in HUF millions Interestrate  floating Term
(%)
15,555  DTIF EUR 4,08 fixed Nov2018  7years
12,982 DT AG HUF 0.30 floating Cashpool N/A
(97) DTAG EUR 0.00 floating Cashpool N/A
468 DT AG UsD 1.48 floating Cashpool N/A
Due within 1 year 28,908
Accrued interest 6,034
Derivatives 249
Total current 35,191
35,000 DTAG HUF 5.89 fixed Mar2019  5years
20,000 DTAG HUF 4,98 fixed Jun2019  bSyears
50,000 DTAG HUF 4.33 fixed Oct2019  5Syears
35,000 DTAG HUF 3.83 fixed Jun2020  bSyears
40,626 DTIF EUR 1.99 fixed Jan 2021 6years
45,657 DTIF EUR 1.60 fixed Jul 2021 5years
Non current 226,283
Derivatives 5,363
Total non current 231,646
The table below shows the carrying amounts and fairvaluesof the related party loans.
At December 31,
In HUF millions 2017 2018
Book value Fair value Book value Fair value
HUF denominated loans
Atfixed rate 140,000 154,475 140,000 147,860
Atfloating rate 12,982 12,981 - -
152,982 167,456 140,000 147,860
EUR denominated loans
Atfixed rate 101,838 109,122 87,824 93,552
Atfloating rate (97) (97)
101,741 109,025 87,824 93,552
USD denominated loans
Atfixedrate
Atfloating rate 468 468
468 468
Accrued interest 6,034 6,034 5,872 5,872
Other financial liabilities 185 185
Derivatives 5,612 5,612 612 612
Total related partyfinancial liabilities 266,837 288,595 234,493 247,896

The weighted average interestrate on related party loans was 3.57% in2018 (3.44% in 2017). Any decrease of market interest rates
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will resultin anincrease of the fairvalue of thefixed interest rate liabilities.

The aggregate balance of the cashpoolis a receivable (HUF 6,580 million, see also Note 4.2.3.1) as at December 31, 2018. (The
aggregate balance of the cashpoolwas a liability as at December 31, 2017 which also included cashpool receivables (HUF 97 million).

Derivatives contracted with related parties include cross-currency interestrate swaps and FX forwards concluded with DT AG to
change the Group'’s exposureto HUF incase of the EUR denominated loans and to cover FX needs of expected future foreign
currencyoutflows.

There were no defaults or breaches in connection withthe financial liabilities to related parties.
4.4.2 Other financial liabilities
4.4.2.1 Other financial liabilities - Balances

The table below shows the current balances of Otherfinancial liabilities.

At December 31,

In HUF millions 2017 2018
Annual frequencyfee payable (a) 3,492 3,722
Debtor overpayment 1,110 1,327
Finance lease payable (b) 882 694
Contingent consideration liabilities (c) - 178
Other 3,273 3,307

Total other financial liabilities - current 8,757 9,228

The table below shows the non current balances of Otherfinancial liabilities.
At December 31,

In HUF millions 2017 2018

Annual frequencyfee payable 41,722 42,392

5

Finance lease payable (b) 3,291 3,132
Contingent consideration liabilities (c) 530
Other 2,595 1,865
Total other financial liabilities - non current 47,608 47,919

There were no defaults or breaches in connection with otherfinancial liabilities.
(a) Annual frequency fee payable

On October 15, 2014 Magyar Telekomand the NMIAH signed the Authority Contractfor the use of the 800 MHz 900 MHz and 1800
MHz frequencybands that came into force on that day. Magyar Telekom acquired the frequency usage rights in the above listed
spectrumstill June 15, 2034. See Note 34.1 for more details of the agreement. This agreement providessufficient basis fora reliable
estimate of the future annualfees payable related to these Hungarian frequencylicenses, as a result of which the present value of the
annual fees payable (HUF 39,038 million) was recognized as part of the carrying amount of the licenses as intangible assets, with
corresponding current and non current financial liabilities falling due from 2015 to 2034.

On September 6, 2013 Magyar Telekom and the NMIAH signed the modification of the Authority Contract forthe use of the 900 MHz
and 1800 MHz frequency bands. See Note 34.1 formore details of the agreement. This agreement provides sufficientbasisfor a
reliable estimate of the future annual fees payable related to these Hungarian frequency licenses, asa result of which the present value
of the annual fees payable (HUF 17,332 million) wasrecognized as part of the carrying amount of the licenses asintangible assets,
with corresponding current and non current financial liabil ities falling due from 2014 to 2022.
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In December 2018 based on the resolution of the NMIAH Magyar Telekom'’s frequency usage rights in the 2100 MHz frequency band
otherwise expiring on December 27, 2019 were prolonged until June 27, 2027. For the three duplex 5 MHz frequency blocks Magyar
Telekom s requiredto paya price of HUF 11 billion, due in the first quarter of 2019. As this agreement provides sufficient basis fora
reliable estimate of the future annual fees payable related to these Hungarian frequency licenses, the present value of the annual fees
payable (HUF 4.2 billion) were recognized as part of the carrying amount of the licensesas intangible assets with corresponding
currentand non currentfinancial liabilitiesfalling due from 2018 to 2027.

(b) Finance lease payable
See Note 17.2.2 forthe details of finance leases.
(c) Contingent consideration liabilities

Contingent consideration liabilities are recognised by Magyar Telekom as acquirerin a business combination to which IFRS 3 applies.
They are measured at fairvalue through profit or loss.

4.4.2.2 Proceeds/repayments of loans and other borrowings

Cash payments forregular bank loansand related party loansareincluded in the Repaymentof loans and other borrowings line of the
Statements of cash flows.

4.4.2.3 Additional disclosure about changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

The following tableincludes changes in net debt reconciled withtheir effects on the Consolidated statementof cashflows in orderto
enable users of financial statements to evaluate changesin liabilities arising fromfinancing activities.

Changes in financial liabilities without cash movement are mainly due to FX effects of financial liabilities denominated in EUR and
transactions where future cash flows are recognized at the present value of the annual fees payable (e.g.: frequency fees and finance
leases).
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In HUF millions Opening Changes affecting cash flows from financing activities Closing
Changes . Changes
. . Changesin ,
Changesin affecting financial affecting Proceeds Proceeds
cash and cash flows liabiliti cashflows  fromloans  fromloans Repaymentof Repayment of
Balance at iabilities Balance at
cash from ith h from and and loans and other
January 1, val . without casl| . . . . . . Other December
equivalents operating investing borrowings  borrowings other financial
2017 - movement e - . . ; A 31,2017
activities activities (continuing (discontinued  borrowings liabilities
operation) operation)

Related party loans 316,316 (1,665) (2,438) 97,516 2,041 (150,545) 261,225
Derivatives from related parties 3,452 5512 (3,352) 5,612
Bank loans 11,501 1) 3,203 3,794 (18,497)
Payable for building exchange transaction 952 937) 15
Frequency fee payable 48,490 (88) (3,188) 45214
Finance lease liabilities 5,822 229 (1,878) 4173
Debtors overpayment 1,180 (70) 1,110
Other financial liabilities 4,753 (135) 2,117 (1,482) 5,853
-Less cash and cash equivalents (10,805) 5,406 (5,399)
-Less other current financial assets (5,104) 564 (3,421) (201) (8,162)
Net debt 376,557 5,406 (1,395) 5,802 (3,553) 101,310 2,041 (169,042) (7,485) - 309,641
Treasury share purchase (2,139)
Dividends paid to Owners ofthe parent and Non-controlling interest (29,403)
Net cash used in financing activities (104,718)
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In HUF millions Opening Changes affecting cash flows from financing activities Closing
. Changes Changes in Changes
Changesin affecting financial affecting Proceeds Proceeds
cash and cash flows liabiliti cashflows  fromloans  fromloans Repaymentof Repayment of
Balance at iabilities Balance at
cash from ith h from and and loans and other
January 1, val . without casl| . . . . . . Other December
equivalents operating investing borrowings  borrowings other financial
2018 - movement e - . . ; A 31,2018
activities activities (continuing (discontinued  borrowings liabilities
operation) operation)

Related party loans 261,225 (12,113) 15,163 72,953 (103,347) 233,881
Derivatives from related parties 5,612 (3,651) (1,349) 612
Frequency fee payable 45214 (2,604) 6,924 (3,419) 46,115
Finance lease liabilities 4,173 430 (r77) 3,826
Debtors overpayment 1,110 217 1,327
Contingent consideration - 708 708
Other financial liabilities 5,868 (572) 1,667 (1,792) 5171
-Less cash and cash equivalents (5,399) (1,805) (7,204)
-Less other current financial assets (8,162) 602 (1,304) 3,813 (6,580) (11,631)
Net debt 309,641 (1,805) (14,470) 19,937 2,464 66,373 - (103,347) (5,988) - 272,805
Treasury share purchase (1,822)

Dividends paid to Owners of the parent and Non-controlling interest (29,547)

Net cash used in financing activities (74,331)
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4.4.3 Trade payables

At December 31,
In HUF millions 2017 2018
Payable to DT Group companies 12,026 11,119
Payable to associates and joint ventures 23 451
Other trade payables 123,397 163,742

135,446 175,312

4.5 Additional disclosures on financial instruments
4.5.1 Financial assets and liabilities

The Group classifies fairvalue measurements using a fair value hierarchythat reflects the significance of the inputs used inmaking the
measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

= quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities(Level 1)
= inputs other than quoted pricesincluded withinLevel 1 observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly (Level 2)
= inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (Level 3)

The level in the fairvalue hierarchy within which the fairvalue measurement is categorized in its entirety is determined on the basis of
the lowest levelinput that is significant to the fairvalue measurement inits entirety. The significance of an input is assessed against the
fair value measurement in its entirety. As at the date of initial application there were no changes in the carrying amounts arising from
the change in measurement attribute on transition to IFRS 9. No fair value gain or loss was recognised in profitor loss or other
comprehensiveincome during the reporting period at the reclassification.

There was notransfer between Level 1 and Level 2 financial instruments except foremployee loanswithrepayment option before the
due date, as these were designated in the fairvalue through profit and loss category.

Most of the financial assets and financialliabilities are measured at amortized cost, but fairvalue information is also provided forthese.
The fair values of these assets and liabilities were determined using level 3 type information. The fair value of financial i nstruments that
are nottradedin anactive market is determined by using valuationtechniques, mainly by applying the discounted cash flow method.
The cash flow estimations are based on the relevant underlying contractsand the discount rates are calculate d based on the interest
rate benchmarks applicable forthe relevant maturities and currencies (BUBOR, BIRS, EURIBOR, EUR swap yields). Foreign exchange
conversionis made based on central bank FXfixings (preferablythat of the Central Bank of Hungary). There are no assets orliabilities
carried atfairvalue wherethe fair value was determined using level 3 type information except forthe contingent consideration
liabilities.

Level 2 information are availableto determine derivatives assetsand liabilities as well asfor calculating the fair values of employee
loans designated at FVTPL. Level 1 informationis used for determining FairValue of equity instruments designated as financial assets
atfair valuethrough other comprehensive income.

In addition, Magyar Telekom reclassified all equity instruments previously recognized as available-for-salefinancial assets to the IFRS 9
category at fair value through other comprehensiveincome.

The tables below include the carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial assetsand liabilities asat December 31, 2018
and2017.
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4.5.1.1 Financial assets - Carrying amounts and fair values

Carrying amount Fair

December 31,2018 Total
value

i FVTPL
In HUF millions Amortized  FVOCI FVTPL

cost (Level1) (Level2)  (Level3)
Cash and cash equivalents 7,204 i i i 7,204 7,204
Bank deposits with original maturiies 3,915 . - - 3,915 3,915
over 3 months
Cashpool 6,580 - - - 6,580 6,580
Trade receivables within one year 165,271 - - - 165271 165,271
Trade receivables over oneyear 18,056 - - - 18,056 19,133
Contractassets 21,380 - - - 21,380 21,380
Loans andreceivables from 706 _ 748 - 1,454 1,524
employees
Derivativefinancial instruments . . 1,026 - 1,026 1,026
contracted with related parties
Finance leasereceivable 358 - - - 358 467
Equity instruments - 544 - - 544 544
Other current 731 - - - 731 731
Other non current 392 - - - 392 325
Total 224,593 544 1,774 - 226,911 228,100
December 31,2017 Carrying amount Fai
air
Total
In HUF millions Loansand _ Heldto Availablefor- FVIPL oo value
receivables maturity sale (Level1) (Level2)
Cash and cash equivalents 5,399 - - - 5,399 5,399
Bank deposits with original maturities 3,523 i i i 3,523 3,523
over 3 months
Trade receivables within one year 144,437 - - - 144,437 144,437
Trade receivables over oneyear 16,690 - - - 16,690 17,814
Loans andreceivables from 1,754 ) ) ) 1,754 1,897
employees

Derivativefinancial instruments

contracted with related parties 2,978 2,978 2,978

Finance leasereceivable 592 - - - 592 629
Financial assetsAFS - - 325 - 325 325
Other current 1,090 - - - 1,090 1,090
Other non current 533 - - - 533 765
Total 174,018 - 325 2,978 177,321 178,857

As aresult of the first-time application of IFRS 9, financial assets were categorized in the new measurementcategories. All of the
financial assets from the 2017 loansand receivables categorywere classified as financial assets measured atamortized cost in 2018
except for employee loans with repaymentoption beforethe due date, as these generally do not meet the SPPI criteria. Thereforethey
were designated inthe fair value through profit orlosscategory. Fair Values of these financial assets are determined using level 3 type
information, where the fairvalue is determined taking into account the probability of reaching the eamings target and discounting the
amounts payableto their present value.
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Fair valuethrough profit or loss assetsinclude derivative financial instruments, the fair values of whic h are based on a discounted cash
flow method. The calculation is prepared by Magyar Telekom based on money market interest rate curves, basis swap points and spot
FXrates from Reuters database published at the last working day of the reporting period. The present value of the expected future
cash flows is discounted to the reporting date using money market interest rates and basis swap pointsin the specific currency from
Reuters and exchanged to HUF using spot FXrate. The difference betweenthe HUF present value of the payable and receivable is
accounted for as assets or liabilities.

The carrying values of assets measured at amortized cost with short times to maturity approximate their fair values.

Equity instruments designated as financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (Financial assets available for sale
in 2017)include insignificant investments in equity instruments, all measured at fairvalue, which is the Macedonian stock exchange
price of the equityinstruments.

4.5.1.2 Financial liabilities - Carrying amounts and fair values

December 31,2018 Carrying amount

Total Fair value
In HUF millions Measured at FVTPL FVTPL

amortizedcost  (Level2) (Level 3)
Financial liabilitiesto related parties 233,881 612 - 234,493 247,896
Trade payables 175,312 - - 175,312 175,312
Frequency fee payable 46,114 - - 46,114 52,845
Finance leaseliabilities 3,826 - - 3,826 7,119
Debtors’ overpayment 1,327 - - 1,327 1,327
Contingent consideration liabilities - - 708 708 708
Other current 3,307 - - 3,307 3,307
Other non current 1,865 - - 1,865 1,865
Total 465,632 612 708 466,952 490,399
December 31,2017 Carrying amount
Total Fair value
In HUF millions Measured at FVTPL (Level 2)
amortized cost

Financial liabilitiesto related parties ...........c........ 261,225 5,612 266,837 288,595
Trade payables........ccccccvviieiiiiieie s 135,446 - 135,446 135,446
Frequency feepayable.........ccooovrviiiiiiniicinine, 45,214 - 45,214 55,130
Finance leaseliabilitieS..........ccooevveevrciciniieircinnen, 4173 - 4173 9,009
Debtors’ overpayment.........ccceeveeieieieiesnananns 1,110 - 1,110 1,110
Other CUMeNt.......cccveeiicicccccecs s 3,273 - 3,273 3,273
Othernon CuUIrent........ccvcvevceecccce e 2,595 - 2,595 2,590
TOtaAl ceeiiicie e 453,036 5,612 458,648 495,153

Derivatives and liabilitiesfromcontingent consideration of a businesscombination are measured at fairvalue, while all other financial
liabiliies are measured atamortized cost.

Additional fair value information on the loans and other borrowings isprovided inNotes 4.4.1 and 4.4.2.
The carrying values of the current financial liabil ities measured at amortized cost approximate theirfairvalues.

FVTPL liabilities include both of derivative financial instruments, where the fair values of which are calculated the same way as FVTPL
assets disclosed above inNote 4.5.1.1., and liabilities from contingent consideration of a business combination where the fair value of
such liabilityis determined applyingthe discounted cash flow method.
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4.5.1.3 Financial liabilities carried at fair value determined using level 3 type information

The only financial instrumentwhich is carried at fair value wherethe fair value was determined using level 3 type information isthe
contingent consideration liability. The table below includes the movements of these liabilities.

In HUF millions 2017 2018
Openingbalance atJanuary 1.........ccccovoviviiviniinincnen, - -
Increasearising on business combinations ..................... - 450
Increasearising on asset dealS.......covvevveeieieieceeveennnn, - 250
(Gains) or lossesfor the period on remeasurement

-recognised in profit or loss (net financial result)............... - 8
-recognised in other comprehensive inCome .............c..... - -
Closing balance at December31 ........ccccoviviviieieenennan, - 708
4.5.2 Items of income, expense, gains and losses arising on financial instruments
The tables below includeincome, expense, gains and losses arising on financial instruments in 2018 and 2017.

2018 From From From fee Total net

) From subsequent measurement derecog- gain/
- interest . expense
In HUF miillions nition (loss)
Qhange Currency Impair-
in fair translation  mentloss
value

Equity instruments (Level 1) 219 - 219
Debt instruments (Level 2) 38 - - 38
Flnanglal assetsmeasured at 276 79 (9,496) (4,375) (13,516)
amortized cost

Financial liabilities measured (12,062) (6,042) (33) (18,137)
atamortized cost

FVTPL financial instruments 3,048 2236 ) 5284
(Level 2)

FVTPL financial instruments 8) B (8)
(Level 3)

Net gain/(loss) (11,786) 3,297 (5,963) (9,496) 2,236 (4,408)  (26,120)

onfinancialinstruments
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2017 From From From fee Tota}I net
| N interest From subsequent measurement der.e.cog- expense gain/
n HUF millions nition (loss)
Qhange Currency Impair-

in fair translation  mentloss

value
Available-for-salefinancial - 19 . - - 8 19
assets (Level 1)
FVTPL financial instruments - (4,448) . . (325) - (4,773)
(Level 2)
Loans andreceivables 327 - (161) (5,520) - (4,813)  (10,167)
Financial liabilities measured (1 2,091 ) _ 1 ,268 _ _ (42) (1 0,865)
atamortized cost
Net gain/(loss) (11,764)  (4,429) 1107 (5,520) (325)  (4,855)  (25,786)

onfinancialinstruments

The tables above include the amounts before capitalization of borrowing costs (See Note 24).

Impairmentlosses on Financial assets measured at amortized cost (2017: Loans and receivables) includes all expenses incurred or
expectedto be incurred in relation to the default of our customers. Before writing off or factoring, we impairthe receivables to their
recoverable amounts through the use of an impairment allowance account, as aresult of which the actual write-off or factoring of these
receivables results in no derecognition gains orlosses.

4.5.3 Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

For the financial assets and liabilities subject to enforceable netting arrangements, each agreement between the Group and the
counterparty (typically roaming and interconnect partners) allows for netsettlement of the relevant trade receivable and payable.

The following trade receivables and trade payables are subjectto offsetting agreements, and are presented after netting in the
Consolidated statements of financial position.

In HUF millions At December 31,2017 At December 31,2018
Trade Trade Trade Trade
receivables payables receivables payables
and other and other
assets assets
Gross amounts of recognized financial instruments.............. 160,750 138,451 197,216 177,308
Gross amounts of financial instruments set off..................... (3,005) (3,005) (1,996) (1,996)
Net amounts of recognized financial instruments presented in 157,745 135,446 195,220 175,312

the statement of financial POSItION..........ccccvriiiiiieicce,

4.5.4 Other disclosures about financial instruments

Magyar Telekomis also exposed to risks that arise from the possible drawdown of guarantees ina nominal amount of HUF 14.1 billion
asat December 31,2018 (2017: HUF 10.7 billion). These guarantees wereissued by banks on behalf of Magyar Telekom ascollateral
to secure the fulfillment of the Group’s certain contractual obligations. The Group hasbeen delivering on its contractual obligations
and expects to continue doing so in the future, consequently no significant drawdown of the guarantees happened in 2018 or 2017,
andis not expected to happen in the future.

Magyar Telekomdoes not hold any material collateral of its financial assets.

57



No financial assetswere transferred in such a way thatpart or all of the financial assets did not qualify for derecognition.

The Group does not have compound financial instruments with multiple embedded derivatives.

5 FINANCIALRISK MANAGEMENT

5.1 Financial risk factors

Magyar Telekomis primarily exposed to credit risks related to its financial assets. In addition, the Group is also exposed to risks from
movements in exchange rates, interestrates thataffect the fair value and/or the cash flows arising from financial assets and liabilities.

Financial risk managementaims to limitthese risks through ongoingoperational and finance activities. Selected derivative and non-
derivative hedging instruments are also used for this purpose, depending on the risk assessment. Magyar Telekom onlyhedges the
risks that affect the Group’s cash flows, no hedges are concluded to hedge fairvalues. Derivativesare exclusively used ashedging
instruments, i.e., not for trading or other speculative purposes. To reducethe counterpartyrisk, hedging transactions are generally only
concluded with leading Hungarian or international financial institutions or Deutsche Telekom. Nevertheless, hedge accounting is not
appliedto such transactions, considering that not all the criteria in IFRS 9 are met.

The detailed descriptions of risks, the management thereof as well as sensitivity analyses are provided below. These sensitivity
analyses calculate with reasonably possible changesin the relevant risk variables and theirimpact on profit before tax The impacts
disclosed below forthe reported periodsare subject to anaverage effective income tax rate of approximately 25%, i.e. the impact on
Profit for the year would be approximately 75% of the pretax amount ina year that is free from significantone-off non-deductible pre-
tax impacts and significant changes inthe tax legislations. The potential impacts disclosed (lesstax) would be the same on the
Group’s Equity.

There were no major changes in these risks compared to the previous reporting period.
5.1.1 Marketrisk

Market risk isthe risk that the fairvalue orfuture cash flows of a financial instrumentwill fluctuate because of changes in market prices.
Market risk comprises three types of risk:

= foreign currency risk;
= interestrate risk;
= pricerisk.

The fundamentals of Magyar Telekom's financing strategy are established each year by the Board of Directors. The Group’s policy is to
borrow centrallyusing a balanced combination of mediumtermand short term loans, and fixed and floating interest rates on those
loans. The Board of Directors has approved two debt protectionratio KPIs, and monitors their fulfillment annually. At theend of 2018
Magyar Telekomfulfilled both criteria; Total Debt to EBITDA ratio of 1.52in 2018 (2017: 1.74),the allowed maximum of which would
be 2.8 and EBITDA to Net financial result ratioof 10.81in 2018, (2017: 8.58), the allowed minimumof which would be 3.0. The
Group’s Treasury is responsible for implementing the finance policy and for ongoing risk management The details of foreign
exchange, liquidityand counterparty risk management guidelinesare determined and monitored by the Group’s Treasury
continuously.

Magyar Telekomis exposedto interest and foreign exchange (FX) rate risk associated with itsinterest bearing assets and liabilities and
anticipated transactions. As the vast majority of the revenuesand expenses of the Hungarian entities arise in HUF, the functional
currencyof the Hungarian entities of Magyar Telekom isHUF. Consequently, Magyar Telekom's objective is to minimize the level of its
financialrisk in HUF terms.

For the presentation of market risks, we also provided sensitivity analyses that showthe effects of hypothetical changes of relevantrisk
variables on Profitbeforetax. These hypothetical changes were modeled to present a reasonably possible change in the relevant risk
variables. The periodic effects are determined by relating the hypothetical changes in therisk variables to the balance of financial
instruments atthe end of the latest reporting period (2018) and the preceding reporting period (2017). The balances at the end of the
reporting period are usually representative forthe year as a whole; therefore the impacts are calculated using the yearend balances.
The methods and assumptions used in the sensitivity calculations did not change significantly compared to the previous period. As a
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result of the still rather volatile international capital and securities markets, higher fluctuations of the FXand interest rates are also
possible.

5.1.1.1 Foreign currencyrisk

Foreign currencyrisk isthe riskthat the fairvalue orfuture cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in FX
rates. Currencyrisks primarily arise on financial instruments denominated in a currencythat isnot the functional currency of the given
operating segment of the Group. Differences resulting from the translation of the foreign subsidiaries’ financial statements into the
Group’s presentation currency are not taken into consideration. Relevantrisk variables are generally all non-functional currenciesin
which Magyar Telekom has financial instruments.

In order to mitigate FXriskin case of FX denominated financial instruments, Magyar Telekomminimized its foreign currency
borrowings inthe past years, or covered themwith derivative instruments to substantially reduce FX risk.

(a) FX risks arising on loans from DTIF and related swaps with DT AG

Severalrelated party loans taken to finance general needs of the Group from Deutsche Telekom or its financing vehicle, Deutsche
Telekom Intemnational Finance B.V. (DTIF) are denominated in EUR, while, at the same time, cross-currency interest rate swaps or FX
swaps are concluded with Deutsche Telekom AG (DT AG)to fix the actual cash flows of Magyar Telekom in HUF forthe whole nominal
amount and interest payments of these loans. Even though the Group does not apply hedge accounting, the change inthe HUF/EUR
exchange rate haslimited (net) impact on Profit before tax related to the hedged loansand the hedging transactions together.

Sensitivity analysis

Areasonably possible strengthening orweakening of the EUR in the table belowagainst HUF as at the end of the reporting period
would have affected the measurement of financial instrumentsdenominated ina foreign currencyand increased (+)/ decreased (-)
equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumesthat all othervariables, in particularinterest rates, remain
constant and ignores any impact of forecast salesand purchases. As the profitor loss effect would be the same as the equity effect,
only the formeris disclosed.

In HUF millions Profitor loss

Strengthening  Weakening

At December 31,2018
EUR/HUF (10% movement)

Loan (8,782) 8,782
Swapagreements 9,364 (9,364)
Net effect 582 (582)

At December 31,2017
EUR/HUF (10% movement)

Loan (10,184) 10,184
Swap agreements 10,924 (10,924)
Net effect 740 (740)
(b) Other FX exposure

The remaining FX exposure of Magyar Telekomis mostly related to (i) holding foreigncurrency cash balancesin its subsidiaries inthe
Southern and Eastern Europe region, and (i) operatingactivities through revenues from, and payments to, international
telecommunications operators as well as capital and operating expenditure contracted with vendors in foreign currency. In line with
currencyhedging policy, the Company holds sufficient amounts of foreign currencies on itsbank accounts or buys foreign currencies
through FX forward transactions, the amounts of which are determined considering the balance of short term FX denominated trade
and leases payables and trade receivables in order to hedge the currencyrisk arisingin connection with those assets and liabilities.
The Group’s foreign currency denominated liabilities (other than the above described loans) exceed the Group’sforeign currency
denominated assets, therefore changes of the functional currencies’ exchange rates would have the following impact on the profit of
the Group.
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In order to reducethe above exposure, Magyar Telekomoccasionallyenters into derivative contracts. The negative fairvalue of the
related open short term forward positions was HUF 0.1 billion as of December 31, 2018 (2017: HUF 0.2 billion liability). These
positions were opened to hedge the FX risks of future FX payments exceeding FXincome.

Sensitivity analysis

A reasonably possible strengthening orweakening of the currencies in the table below against HUF and MKD as at the end of the
reporting period would have affected the measurement of financial instruments denominated in a foreign currency and increased (+)/
decreased (-) equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysisassumes that all other variables, inparticular interest
rates, remainconstant and ignoresany impact of forecast sales and purchases. As the profit or loss effect would be the same as the
equity effect, only theformeris disclosed.

In HUF millions Profitor loss

Strengthening  Weakening

At December 31,2018
EUR/HUF (10% movement)
Net balance of FX denominated trade payables and trade receivables plus bank

balances (3,683) 3,683
Related forward agreements 1,637 (1,637)
Net effect (2,046) 2,046
USD/HUF (15% movement)

Net balance of FX denominated trade payables and tradereceivables plus bank (621) 621
balances

Related forward agreements 76 (76)
Net effect (545) 545
EUR/MKD (10% movement)

Net balance of FX denominated trade payables and trade receivables plus bank 166 (166)
balances

Related forward agreements 0 0
Net effect 166 (166)
USD/MKD (10% movement)

Net balance of FX denominated trade payables and trade receivables plus bank 11 (1)
balances

Related forward agreements 0 0
Net effect 11 (11)
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In HUF millions

Profitor loss

Strengthening  Weakening
At December 31,2017
EUR/HUF (10% movement)
Net balance of FX denominated trade payables and trade receivables plus bank (1,764) 1,764
Related forward agreements 1,992 (1,992)
Net effect 228 (228)
USD/HUF (15% movement)
Net balance of FX denominated trade payables and trade receivables plus bank (463) 463
Related forward agreements 430 (430)
Net effect (33) 33
EUR/MKD (10% movement)
Net balance of FX denominated trade payables and trade receivables plus bank (95) 95
Related forward agreements 0 0
Net effect (95) 95
USD/MKD (10% movement)
Net balance of FX denominated trade payables and trade receivables plus bank 32 (32)
Related forward agreements 0 0
Net effect 32 (32)

As aresult of the volatile international capital and securities markets, even amorethan 10%fluctuationof the functional currency HUF
against EUR, a more than 15% fluctuation of the functional currency HUF against USD and a morethan 10%fluctuationof the
functional currency MKD against the EUR and USD is possible as extraordinary market conditions may cause extreme volatility on FX
markets.

5.1.1.2 Interest rate risk

Magyar Telekomis also exposed to interest rate fluctuations. This is due to thefact that changing interest rates affect the fair value of
the fixed rate instrumentsand also affectthe cash flows throughthe floating rate instruments.

Changes in the market interest rates of non-derivative financial instruments with fixed interest ratesonlyaffect income if these are
measured at their fairvalue. On the other hand, all financial instruments with fixed interest rates (whichare carried at amortized cost)
are not subjectto cash flowinterest rate risk.

Changes inthe market interest rate of interest rate derivatives (interest rate swaps, cross-currency swaps) that are notpart of a hedging
relationship asset outin IFRS 9 affect Otherfinance expense- net (net gain/loss from re-measurement of the financial assets to fair
value).

Changes in market interest rates affect the interest income or expense of non-derivative floating-interest financial instruments for which
no cash flow hedgesarein place.

(a) Financial assets

Excess cash of the Group’s Hungarianoperations is primarily used to repay loans, however, significant amount of cash of the Group’s
Macedoniansubsidiary is mostly heldin local banks. These amounts are deposited primarily on fixed interest rateterms inorderto
minimize exposure to market changes that would potentially adversely affectthe cash flows from these instruments.



Due to the extremelylowinterest rates, even a reasonably possible changein the interest rates would not have a significant impact on
the Group’s interestincome.

(b) Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities exposed to interest rate risk are primarily the related party (DTIF, DT AG) and third party loans and the related swap
agreements in place. Theseloans are almost exclusively taken by the Companyas the financing of the Group is managed centrally.
The analysis below describes the Group’s net exposureto the net interest raterisks related to the loans and the related swap
agreements.

As the vast majority of debt portfoliois denominated in HUF, or swap agreements are in place so that the loans payable are e xposed to
changesin HUF interest rates, the Group is mostly exposed to the HUF interest rate fluctuations for its financial liabilities. To control
thisinterest raterisk, a combination of fixed and floating rate debt isused. Fixed interest-bearing debts (including loans swapped to

fixed interestand excluding loans swapped to floating interest) made up 100% of the Group’s total debt as of December 31, 2018
(2017:89%).

Cash-flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

The Group had no floatinginterest-bearing debts as of December 31, 2018. Floating interest-bearing debts (including loans swapped to
floating interest and excluding loans swapped to fixed interest) made up 11% of the Group’s total debt as of December 31, 2017.

Areasonably possible change of 100 basis pointsin interest ratesduring the reporting period (assuming the year-end balance
throughout the reporting period) would have increased (decreased) equity and profit or loss by the amountsshown below. This
analysis assumes that all othervariables, in particularforeign currency exchange rates, remainconstant. As the profit orl oss effect
would be the same as the equity effect, onlythe formeris disclosed.

In HUF millions Profitor loss

100bp increase  100bp decrease

At December 31,2018
Floating rateinstrument - -
IR swap - -

Cash-flowsensitivity (net) - B

At December 31,2017

Floating rateinstrument (134) 134
IR swap (155) 155
Cash-flowsensitivity (net) (289) 289

5.1.2 Credit risk

Creditriskis therisk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financialloss forthe other party by failingto discharge an
obligation.

The maximum exposureto credit risk as at the end of the reporting period are represented by the carrying amounts of the financial
assets in the Statement of financial position. Guarantee agreements reducing the maximum exposure to credit risk as at the end of the
reporting period are described laterin thissection.

The vast majority of credit risks mayarise in respect of Cash and cash equivalents, Bank depositswithoriginal maturities over 3
months and Trade receivables, most of which have short termmaturities.

In line with the Group’s risk management policy Magyar Telekom Group companies deposit the vast majority of excesscash in banks

rated at least BBB+(or equivalent), or make efforts to get guarantees forthe se fixed term deposits frombanks rated at least BBB+. We,
however, also have current accounts inbankswithlowerrating than this.

62



Cash and cash equivalents and Bank deposits with maturities over 3 months held in Macedonia are primarily denominated in MKD
and EUR. Cash and cash equivalents and Bank deposits with maturities over 3 months deposited in Macedoniarunhigher
counterparty risk, due to the small amount of intemationally substantial financial institutions in thatcountries. The deposits in
Macedonia of HUF 6.4 billion asof December 31, 2018 (2017: HUF 4.9 billion) are fully covered with bank guarantees issued by
international financial institutions rated at BBB.

Concentrations of credit risk relating to trade receivablesare limited due to the large number of customers comprising the Group's
customer base and their dispersion across manydifferent geographic areas and industries.

No financial assetsotherthan trade and otherreceivables had to be impaired inthe reported years, as they are neither past due nor are
there any signs of impairment.

The following table contains the carrying amount of trade receivables brokendown by country of operation. Thevast majority of these
balances are denominated in the functional currency of the countries of operations (HUFin Hungary and MKD in Macedonia).

In HUF millions At December 31,

2017 2018
Hungary 130,277 150,647
Macedonia 13,365 13,806
Other 795 818

144,437 165,271

The amounts in the table above are shown net of provisions forimpairment losses. The annual bad debt expense of the Group in 2018
was 1.4% (2017: 0.99%) of the consolidated revenues. Adverse changesin customer payment behavior inthe future, however, may
result in higher impairmentlosses. Each additional 1 percentage point of uncollectible revenue would result inadditional impairment
charges of HUF 6.6 billionin 2018 (in 2017:HUF 6.1 billion, considering only the continuing operations).

There are varying credit checking practices applied across the members of the Group as described below.
Hungary

Credit checking at the time of the service request is carried out automatically by the credit checking application. A variety of checks
including checking the bankruptcy list, the internal database of risky installation locations, the collection history of the past 6 months,
the outstanding debt and the joint database of debtors of the Hungarian mobile operators are performed depending on the service to
be used. The Fraud Detecting Systemmonitorsextreme usage and fraudulentbehavior of customers for mobile, fixed-line and Internet
services. In case of business customers, account managers checkif the customer has outstanding debts.

Dunning procedures are run automatically by the billing systems and include various remindertools like SMS, reminder message via
Telekom APP, telephone calls, reminder letters, reminder emails, restricted service, termination letters and disconnections. In case of
medium and large enterprises dunning process startsmanually (firstreminder letter). After the first step, this process is also automated.
Based on the effective laws and regulationsand over a minimum overdue amount we apply varying and customized reminder
procedures with specific deadlinesto the different customer groups. Afterthe termination of the contractand depending on the
expected success of the process, we combine the different collection steps of involving external partners, selling the outstanding debt
or initiating legal proceedings. All parts of the process are regulated by internal directives.

Macedonia

The process of managingthe credit risk from operating activities includes preventive measures such as creditability checking and
prevention barring, corrective measures during legal relationship forexample remindingand disconnectionactivities, collaboration
with collection agencies and collection after legal relationship as litigation process and court proceedings. The overdue payments are
monitored based on customertype, amount of debt, average invoiced amount and number of disconnections. The creditrisk is
controlled through credibility checking - which determines thatthe customer isnot indebted and the customers’ credit worthiness and
through preventive barring - which determines the creditlimit based on the usual level of the customer’s previous traffic revenues.
There is no concentration of risk in Macedonia either with any single customer or group of customers with similar characteristics. The
procedures inMacedoniaensure on a permanent basis thatsales are made to customerswithan appropriate credit historyand that an
acceptablelevel of credit exposureis not exceeded.
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5.1.3 Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is therisk that an entity may encounter difficultyin meeting obligationsassociated withfinancial liabilities.

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient Cash and cash equivalents and Bank deposits as well asavailable
funding through adequate amount of committed creditlines. The Group’s Treasury management aims at maintaining flexibility in
funding by keeping committed credit lines available. The undrawn credit lines amounted to HUF 43.5 billion asat December 31, 2018
(2017: HUF 41.0 billion). In addition to the above, Deutsche Telekomconfirmed its readiness to finance Magyar Telekom Group’s
budgeted financing needs untilthe end of June 2020.

The following two tables summarize the maturity structure of Magyar Telekom’sfinancial liabilities including the interest payable on
those liabilitiesas of December 31, 2018 and 2017. As the majority of the financial liabilities are paid from the cash generated fromthe
ongoing operations, the maturity analysis of the financial assets as at the end of the reporting periods (incomparisonwith the financial
liabiliies) would not be useful, therefore, is not included in the tables below.

December 31,2018 (in HUF millions) Total within 1 1to 5years after5

year years
Trade payables 175,312 175,312 - -
Financial liabilitiesto related parties 246,003 114,808 131,195 -
Bank loans - - - -
Finance leaseliabilities 9,551 1,827 5,053 2,671
Other financial liabilities 53,321 8,534 16,728 28,059
Total other financial liabilities 62,872 10,361 21,781 30,730
Total cash flows 484,187 300,481 152,976 30,730

Open swap positions’ cash flows

Gross cash inflow inEUR million 290 10 280 -
Gross cash inflow inHUF million (at spot rate) 93,238 3,215 90,023 -
Gross cash outflowin HUF million 95,291 4,844 90,447 -
Net cash inflowin HUF million (2,053) (1,629) (424) -

Open forward positions cash flows

Gross cash inflow inEUR million 93 93 - -
Gross cash inflow inUSD million 2 2 - -
Total gross cash inflowin HUF million (atspot rate) 30,462 30,462 - -
Gross cash outflowin HUF million 30,521 30,521 - -
Net cash inflowin HUF million (59) (59) - -
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December 31,2017 (in HUF millions) Total within 1 1to 5years after5
year years
Trade payables 135,446 135,446 -
Financial liabilitiesto related parties 227,101 18,562 208,539
Bank loans - - - -
Finance leaseliabilities 10,925 2,079 5,076 3,770
Other financial liabilities 52,192 7,875 16,298 28,019
Total other financial liabilities 63,117 9,954 21,374 31,789
Total cash flows 425,664 163,962 229,913 31,789

Open swap positions’ cash flows

Gross cash inflow inEUR million 352 62 290
Gross cash inflow inHUF million (at spot rate) 109,170 19,229 89,941
Gross cash outflowin HUF million 113,396 18,106 95,290
Net cash inflowin HUF million (4,226) 1,123 (5,349)

Open forward positions' cash flows

Gross cash inflow inEUR million 64 64
Gross cash inflow inUSD million 11 11
Total gross cash inflowin HUF million (atspot rate) 22,696 22,696
Gross cash outflowin HUF million 23,037 23,037
Net cash inflowin HUF million (341) (341)

The average maturity of Magyar Telekom’s debt portfolio was 1.36 years asat December 31, 2018 (2017:2.19 years). The floating
interest payments arising fromthe financial instruments were calculated using the last interest ratesfixed before December 31,2018
and2017.

5.2 Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managingcapital are to safeguard the Group’s abilityto continue as a going concern inorderto provide
returns for shareholdersand benefitsfor other stakeholders and to maintainan optimum capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Company’s management proposes to the owners (throughthe Board) of the Company to approve dividend payments or adopt
other changes in the Company’s equity capital in order to optimize the capital structure of the Group. This can be achieved primarily by
adjusting the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, oraltematively, by retumning capital to shareholders by capital reductions,
selling or buying ownshares. Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.

Thisratiois calculated as Net debt divided by Equity (including Non-controlling interest) and Net debt. Net debt is calculated as
follows:

= Currentand non current financial liabilitiesto related parties - Note 4.4.1
= plus Other currentand non current financial liabilities - Note 4.4.2

= |ess Cash and cash equivalents - Note 4.2.1

= |ess Other current financial assets - Note 4.2.3.1

During 2017 and 2018, the Group’s mid and long term target as approved by the Board was to maintain agearing ratio within 30%to
40%. The gearing ratio at December 31, 2018 was 30.8%(2017: 34.8). The Company paid HUF 26,068 million dividend in 2018 (HUF
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26,067 milliondividend in2017), and the Company’s Board recommends to declare a HUF 26,068 milliondividend at the April 2019
Annual General Meeting.

In addition to the above, according to the Hungarian Civil Code, Magyar Telekom Plc. has to ensurethat the Company’s Equity in the
standalone financial statements does not fall below twothirds of its Common stock. The Companyis in compliance with this
regulation, and no such statutory regulation exists for consolidated equity.

The equity capital, whichthe Group manages, amounted to HUF 615 billion on December31, 2018 (2017: HUF 580 billion).

6 INCOME TAX

6.1 Income taxes - accounting policies

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to the extentthat it relates to a
business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensiveincome.

6.1.1 Currenttaxes

Current tax comprises the expected taxpayable or receivable on the taxable income orlossfor the year and anyadjustment to the tax
payable or receivablein respect of previous years. The amount of current tax payable orreceivable is the best estimate of the tax
amount expected to be paid or received that reflectsuncertainty related to income taxes, if any. It ismeasured using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current tax also includesany taxarising fromdividends. Currenttax assets and liabilities
are offset only if certain criteriaare met.

Income taxes comprises of corporate incometaxes and other income taxes.
6.1.1.1 Corporate income taxes

Corporate income taxesare payableto the central tax authorities of the countries inwhich the Group’s consolidated entities operate.
The basis of the tax is the taxable entities’ accounting profit adjusted for non-deductible and nontaxable items. The nominal taxrates
and the determination of the taxbases vary among the countries in which the Group operates.

As Magyar TelekomPlc.is listed on the Budapest Stock Exchange, it was obliged to adopt IFRSs in its statutory financial statements
from 2017 in accordance withthe ActC of 2000 on Accounting. Inthefirst and in the second year following the IFRS transition,
taxpayers, who adopt IFRS in their statutory financial statements, are obliged to pay the total sum of their current taxes (i.e. corporate
income tax and local business tax) calculated for the tax year preceding the year of the IFRS transition, if in these two years their
currenttax liabilitiesare lowerthan in the tax year preceding the IFRS transition (minimum tax). Magyar Telekom Plc. does not have
this minimum tax payment obligation in 2017 and in2018 either.

6.1.1.2 Other income taxes

Other incometaxes include certainlocal and central taxes levied in Hungary on the companies’ net margins, usually determined at a
substantially higherlevelthan the corporate tax base, but applying a significantly lower taxrate.

6.1.2 Deferred taxes

Deferred tax is recognized applying the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
andtheir carrying amountsin the Consolidated financial statements.

Deferredtax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability ina transaction (other than a business
combination) that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nortaxable profit.

Deferred tax is determined using incometax ratesthat have been enacted or substantially enacted by the financial statement date and
are expected to apply when therelated deferred tax assetis realized or the deferred tax liabilityis settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit(or reversing deferred taxliabilities) will be
available against which the temporary differences can be utilized.
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Deferred tax is measured at the taxrates thatare expected to apply to temporary differences when they reverse using income tax rates
enacted or substantially enacted atthe reporting date.

6.2 Income taxes in the Consolidated Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
The table below shows the incometax expenses charged in the Profitforthe year.

For the year ended December 31,

In HUF millions 2017 2018
Corporate income tax 1,553 2,434
Other income taxes 8,850 8,991
Deferred income taxes 5,555 1,908

Total income tax expense 15,958 13,333

6.2.1 Tax expense reconciliation

The reconciliation between the reported income tax expense and the theoretical amount arising by applying the statutory income tax
ratesis as follows:

For the year ended December 31,

In HUF millions 2017 2018

Consolidated IFRS profit before income tax .......c.ocoovvviiiiiiiiininnn, 56,204 59,782
TAXAE Y0 oot (5,058) (5,380)
Impact of differenttax rates .........covverieiiiiieii (a) (140) (124)
Tax shield of items notsubjecttoincome tax .....ccocoovvceriveeiiieniininine, (b) 56 1,010
Taximpact of non deductible items .........ccovvieceiiieiice s (c) (2,557) (742)
Other iNCOMETAXES ...vvevirierieieiieciee et (d) (8,850) (8,991)
Impact of tax deductibility of otherincometaxes............cccovvrirsninnns (e) 797 809
ENergy SUPPIIEIS’ taX .oviviiveiiiiiciee e () (180) -
(De)/recognized deferred tax on tax |0SSES ....cvvvevevieiiiiiiineiieiienas (9) (272) (19)
Investment tax credit aCCretioN .......c.cvieieieieiecece e (h) 246 104
[NCOME tAX EXPENSE ..vvvirieiiiereeieiiete ettt (15,958) (13,333)
Effective tax rate 28.39% 22.30%

(a) Impact of different tax rates
FromJanuary 1, 2017 aflat tax rate of 9% is effective in Hungary.

This line of the reconciliation includes the tax impacts of the different tax rates of the foreign countries where the Group is also prese nt
through its subsidiaries. The corporate tax rate is 10%in Macedonia, 16% in Romania and 10% in Bulgaria inthe reported years. This
line of the reconciliation includes the tax impacts of the above differencescompared to the 9% general tax rate of Hungary applied to
the profit before taxof the Group.
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(b) Tax shield of items not subjectto income tax

This line of the reconciliation primarily includes the tax shield impact of expenses, which are not included in the consolidated profit
before tax, but deductible when determining the standalone corporate income tax base. These items include the depreciation of
assets (or additional values of assets) whichare not included in the assets of the consolidated statements of financial position, and
which are not considered inthe deferred taxcalculation.

(c) Taximpact of non deductible items

This line of the reconciliation includes the negative tax impactof the expenses included in the consolidated profit and loss, but non
deductible when determining the standalone corporateincometax base. These items primarily include the non deductible receivable
impairment and write-downsand penalties.

(d) Other income taxes

Other incometaxes include certainlocal and central taxes levied in Hungary on the companies’ net margins, determined usuallyat a
substantially higher levelthan the corporate tax base, but with substantially lowertax rates(max 2%). As the first line of the
reconciliation calculates theoretical taxexpense calculated using the general corporate tax rate, the Hungarian local busine ss tax and
the innovation fee impose additional income taxexpenses forthe Hungarian entities of the Group, included in this line of the
reconciliation.

(e) Deductibility of other income taxes from the corporate tax base

The Hungarian local business tax and innovation fee are deductible expenses for corporate tax purposes, the positive tax impact of
whichisincludedin this line of the reconciliation.

(f) Energy suppliers’ tax

This line of reconciliation includes the Energy suppliers’ additional tax levied on energy supplier companies’ profits inHungary. The tax
base is the profit before tax adjusted by certain items that increase or decrease thetax base. Magyar Telekom Plc. isalso considered
as an energy suppliercompanysubject to the energy suppliers’ additional tax, in proportion to its energy revenues. Astax c redit can be
utilized for the energy supplier’s taxto the extent that the tax liability can be decreased by a half, this effect is also included in this line
ofthe reconciliation. As Magyar Telekom Plc. hascompletelyended its energy supplier’s activity, this tax would no longer be
applicablefrom2018.

(g) (De)/recognized deferred tax on tax losses

Deferred tax asset is recognized on tax losses only to the extent that the realization of the related tax benefit is probable in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assetson tax losses that will probably notbe recovered are un+ecognized in the period of the loss or
de-recognized in subsequent periods. On the other hand, when the recoverability of the previously un/derecognized tax losses
becomes probable, these deferred tax assets are recognized.

(h) Investment tax credit accretion

Investment tax credit accretionincludes the increase of the net present value of the investment tax credit deriving from the utilization of
the tax credits inperiods subsequent to the year of recognition. See alsoNote 6.3.2.1.

6.3 Income taxes in the Statement of financial position

6.3.1 Current taxes in the Statement of financial position

Currentincometax receivable and payable balances in the Statements of financial position representthe amount of corporate and
other incometaxesreceivable from, and payable to, the tax authorities of the countries in which the Group operates.
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6.3.2 Deferred taxes in the Statement of financial position

The Group's deferred taxbalances and the movements therein are as follows:

In HUF millions

Deferred tax assets and (liabilities)

Investment tax credits (Note
6.3.2.1)

Net operatingloss carry-forward
(Note 6.4.)

Withholdingtax

Other financial assets
Impairmentof receivables and
inventory

Property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets

Goodwill

Trade and other payables
Loans and other borrowings
IFRS transition

Deferred revenue

First-time application of IFRS 15
Provisions for liabilitiesand
charges

Total net deferred tax liability

Of which deferred tax liabil ities
Of which deferred tax assets

Items included in other movements:

First-timeapplication of IFRS 15
Relating to the merger of subsidiary

Investment tax credit adjusted againstP&L

Relatingto the sale of subsidiary

Balanceat Effecton Other Change Balanceat Effecton Other Balance at
Dec. 31, profit movement dueto Dec. 31, profit movemen Dec. 31,
2016 s sale of 2017 ts 2018
subsidiary
10,907  (3,169) 7,738 (3,582) 4,156
622 (272) 350 (202) 148
(119) 119 - .
(325) 397 (119) (47) 4 (102) (145)
1,782 (371) 1,411 183 1,594
(9,627) (907) (57) 714 (9,877) 914 (39) (9,002
(11,977) (866) (12,843)  (1,638) (14,481)
2 67 69 (69)

(1,481) 1,481 - 1 1
- (1362) (1,362) 708 (654)
(45) (97) (142) 99 (43)
. N - 1,436 (1,436) -
1,594 (575) 1,019 238 1,257
(8,667)  (5,555) (176) 714 (13,684)  (1,908) (1,577) (17,169)
(8,740) (13,743) (17,246)
73 59 7

(1,436)

(119) (102)

(57) (39)

714

Items included in the Other movements columnin 2018 indicate the investment tax credit decrease (HUF 39 million), which was
adjusted against the P&L in deferred taxes, as well as the taxeffect of the fairvalue orforeignexchange adjustments relating to the
subsidiaries (HUF 73 million for ITgen merger and HUF 29 millionfor Maktel). ltems in the line Firsttime application of IFRS 15in 2018

include the effect of thetransitionto IFRS15, the standard on Revenue from contracts with customers.

Items included in the Othermovements columnin 2017 indicated the investment tax credit decrease (HUF 57 million) which was
adjusted against the P&L in deferred taxes, as well as the taxeffect of the fairvalue adjustment relating to the merger of Serverinfo Kft
(HUF 119 million). The deferred taxbalances asat December 31, 2017 did not include the tax effects of the Montenegrin subsidiary
(HUF 714 million), as Crogorski Telekom constituted a discontinued operation. The column of Change due to sale of subsidiary

indicates this difference in 2017.
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The Group consists of a number of legal entities, most of which have deferred tax assets and liabilities. The assets and liabilities are
netted by legal entity so that one legal entity has either a deferred tax assetor a liability and the consolidated Statement of financial
position includes these balances accordingly.

The Group’s net deferred tax liability balance as atDecember 31, 2018 is HUF 17,169 million which includes a high amount of
individual deferred tax asset and liability items (seein the abovetable). Of these items, approximately HUF 2,829 million net deferred
tax asset is expectedto reversein 2019 (deferred tax asset of HUF 3,356 million and deferred tax liability of HUF 527 million).

The Group’s net deferred tax liability balance as atDecember 31, 2017 is HUF 13,684 million which includes a high amount of
individual deferred tax asset and liability items (seein the above table). Of these items, approximately HUF 2,342 million net deferred
tax assetis expectedto reversein 2018 (deferred tax asset of HUF 2,572 million and deferred tax liability of HUF 230 million).

Deferred tax assets arisingon investment tax creditsare recognized against the capitalized costof the related investment

Temporary differences associated with investments insubsidiaries forwhich deferred tax liabilities or assets have not been recognized
amounted to a net liability of HUF 14,916 million at December 31, 2018 (HUF 11,016 million at December31, 2017).

Deferred tax liability on goodwillis related to the goodwill arising from the acquisition of subsidiaries (Emitel and T-Mobile) inthe
Company’s financial statements, which had merged into Magyar TelekomPlc. The amortization of goodwillis a tax deductible expense
in corporateincometax, while underIFRSs there isno amortization accounted in the books. The difference deriving fromthe two types
of accounting isrepresented by the deferred tax liability.

6.3.2.1 Investment tax credits

Inorder to increase broadband internet penetration in Hungary, companiesinvesting over HUF 100 million in ayearin broadband
assets (e.g. DSL lines, UMTS assets) from 2003 could apply for a corporate taxreduction. MT accomplished such tax credit programs
between 2003 and 2008. The tax credit programs commenced in2012 and 2013 are "large investment” programs, whichenable
companies to invest notonly in broadband related assets, if the investmentvalue exceeds HUF 3 billionand certainspecial criteria(i.e.
headcount increase) are met. In case of both types of tax credit programs, the potential reduction of the corporate tax chargeis
defined as a percentage of the companies’ capital investment in qualifying assets. As both of these investment taxcredits are of a
government grant nature, Magyar Telekom recognized the deferred tax asset against the cost of the related investment. There are no
unrecognized tax credits. If the tax credits are not utilized in the yearwheneamed, the amount of tax credits carried forward can be
utilized at a higheramount as outstanding amountsare accreted. This accretionisrecognized as an increasein the investment tax
credit balance against a reduction inthe current year deferred tax expense.

The following table showsthe details of the taxcredits in HUF millions:

Earnedin Amount of Amount of Accretion Tax Tax credit Tax credit Expires
year qualifying tax credit recognizedin credit carried forward carried forward inyear
investment earned tax expense to utilized at December31, at December 31,
date 2018 2017
2012 11,074 3,375 517 (3,892) - 2,564 2021
2013 13,782 4,452 490 (,954) 3,988 5,004 2023
2014 490 156 12 - 168 170 2023
Total 25,346 7,983 1,019 (4,846) 4,156 7,738

In order to utilize the tax credits and certain taxdeductibility opportunities earned by the Group’sentities, they have to complywith
strict requirements as set out in the relevant tax regulations. The most important requirement for all investment taxcredits is that the

relevant assetshaveto be operated forat least5 years, which criteriawas sufficiently fulfilled by the Company. However, forthose

earnedin 2012 andin 2013 certainincreasein headcount and/or salary has to be maintained for atleast 4 subsequent years following

the first year of taxcreditutilization. The headcount of the Company hasto be increased by 150 and maintained in the subsequen

t4

years from the first utilization of the investment tax credit (which is 2012 and 2014). The Companyfulfilled the headcount criterion by

the end of 2018.

The 2013 tax credit programwasfinished in January 2014, so the first utilizationof 2013 tax creditis in 2014. The base year for both

programsis 2011,
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6.4 Tax loss carry forwards
Deferred tax assets are recognized fortax loss carry forwards onlyto the extent that realization of the related tax benefit is probable.

The table below shows thetax losses carried forward of the Group.

Tax loss carry Tax loss carry
Expiresinyear forwards at forwards at
December 31,2017 December 31,2018

2007 s 125 -
2008 it 22,442 55
2070 s 88 90
2020 111ttt 129 133
2027 1 s 2 -
2022 e 2 2
2025 s 3,915 1,563
TOMAL 1ttt 26,703 1,843
Tax losses for which deferred taxis recognized...........ccocviiiiiiiiiicinnn, 3,884 1,633
Tax losses for which deferred tax is not recognized..........cocoeveeviiviciiineenen. 22,819 210
TOMAL 1ttt 26,703 1,843

The Hungarian corporate tax law was amended as of January 1, 2015 including that all tax loss carry forwards incurred up to
December 31, 2014 maybe used to reducethe pre-tax profit until no later than December 31, 2025.

6.5 Tax reviews

The tax authorities have commenced a comprehensive tax audit at Magyar Telekom Plc. in2018 Decemberin relation to the taxyears
of 2016 and 2017. As a result, additional taxassessments with penalties and penalty interest may be imposedin2019. Management is
not aware of any circumstances which maygiverise to a potential material liability inthis respect.

6.6 Dividends paid by Magyar Telekom Plc.

The dividends paid and payable by Magyar Telekom Plc. to itsowners may be subject to withholding or income taxes of the owners,
which do not have animpact on the amount of the dividend declared oron the Company’s tax expense as thesetaxes - if any - are
levied on the owners.

6.7 IFRS Transition of Magyar Telekom Plc.

As Magyar TelekomPlc.is listed on the Budapest Stock Exchange, it was obliged to adopt IFRS in its statutoryfinancial statements
from 2017 inaccordance withthe ActC of 2000 on Accounting. As a result of the IFRS transition, Magyar TelekomPlc. has anIFRS
transition difference of HUF 21.8 billion, which qualifiesas a corporateincometax increasing item. The corporate incometax incurred
inrelationto this transition difference will be paid in 3 equal instalments in2017-2019.

Other companies of the Group did not electto adopt IFRS for their local financial statements.



7 INVENTORIES

7.1 Inventories - accounting policies

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value usingthe historical cost method of accounting, and are valued on a
weighted average basis. The costof inventories comprises all costs of purchase, cost of construction and other costs incurred in
bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. Netrealizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course
of business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to makethe sale.

Phone sets are often sold for less than cost in connection with promotions to obtain new subscribers with minimum commitment
periods (Note 3.4). Such losson the sale of equipment is only recorded when the sale occursif the normal resale value ishigher than
the cost of the phone set. Ifthe normal resale valueis lower than costs, the differenceis recognized as impairment.

Impairmentlosses on Inventories are recognized in Other operatingexpenses.

7.2 Inventories in the statement of financial position

At December 31,
In HUF millions 2017 2018
Inventory for resale 16,247 17,286
Other inventory 1,111 2,069
Subtotal 17,358 19,355
Less allowances (183) (237)

17,175 19,118

The impairment loss accounted or released forinventories is not material therefore no separate table of movements is disclos ed.

The Group has no inventory pledged as securityas at December 31,2017 or December 31,2018.

8 ASSETSHELD FORSALEAND LIABILITIESASSOCIATED WITHASSETSHELD FOR SALE

8.1 Non current assets held for sale - accounting policies

An asset (typicallyreal estate) is classified as held for saleifitisno longer needed forthe future operations of the Group, and has been
identified forsale, which ishighly probableto take place within 12 months. These assets are accounted for at the lower of carrying
value or fairvaluelesscost to sell. Depreciation is discontinued from the date of designationto the held for sale status. When an item
of PPE or intangible assets is designated for sale, and the fair value is determined to be lowerthanthe carrying amount, the difference
is recognized in the Profit forthe year (Depreciation and amortization) asan impairment loss.

8.2 Assets held for sale in the statement of financial position

At December 31,
In HUF millions 2017 2018
Property, plant and equipment 162
Total assets held for sale 162

Assets held for sale include primarily land and buildings identified for sale, which is expected within 12 months, as a result of the
continuing improvement of utilization of properties. These assets are presented at carrying amountas no impairment had to be
recognized when reclassified as held forsale.
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9 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

9.1 Property, plant and equipment (PPE) - accounting policies
Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment|osses.

The cost of an item of PPE comprises its purchase price, including import duties and non-refundable purchase taxes, after deducting
trade discountsand rebates, anycosts directlyattributable to bringingthe asset to the location and condition necessaryfor it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by management. The initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item
and restoring thesiteonwhich itis located is alsoincluded in the costs if the obligationincurred has to be recognized as a provision
according to IAS 37 - Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.

Government grantsrelating to the purchase of PPE are deducted fromthe original cost of the items and are recognized in the Profit for
the year through the reduced amount of depreciation of the related assets over their useful lives. Investment tax creditsrelating to
qualifying investment projects (Note 6.3.2.1) are alsorecognized in thismanner.

Costinthe case of telecommunications equipment comprises of all expenditures including the cabling within customers' premises and
borrowing costs of related loans.

Subsequent expenditure on an assetthat meets the recognition criteriato be recognized as an asset oran additionto an assetis
capitalized, while maintenance and repairs are charged to expense when incurred.

When assets are scrapped, the cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and the loss is recognized in the
Profit for the year (Depreciation and amortization).

When assets are sold, the cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the accountsand anyrelated gain or loss is
recognized in the Profit for the year (Other operating income).

Depreciation iscalculated on a straightline basis fromthe time the assets are deployed and charged overtheir economic useful lives.
Onanannual basis, Magyar Telekom reviews the useful livesand residual values for consistency with current development plans and
advances intechnology. Forfurther details on the groups of assets impacted by the most recent useful life revisionsrefer to Note 9.3,
The annual revisions are conducted in the second quarter of the year and the resulting changes are applied from the third quarter of
the year. In additionto the regular revisions, anyinvestment decisions made throughout the year may also result in a change of useful
life of a group of assetsin any period of the year.

The useful lives assigned to different types of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Years
Buildings 5-50
Duct, cable and other outside plant 3-38
Other telecommunications equipment 2-25
Other equipment 2-12

Assets that are subject to amortization or depreciation are reviewed forimpairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate thatthe carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset' s
carryingamount exceedsits recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the assets’ fairvalue less costs to selland its
value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped atthe lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows(cash-generating units - CGUs).

The fair values of the individual tangible and intangible assets of the Group in most cases cannot be determined as individual assets
do not generate cash flows. Instead, the Group determines CGUs to which theindividual assets are allocated and the fair values can
only be determined at CGU level, primarily by using discounted cash flow analyses. See also Note 3.2. Corporate assets which have
the distinctive characteristics of not generating cash inflows independently of other assetsor groups of assets are allocated to CGUs
when conducting impairment tests.
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Goodwill is tested forimpairment annually or more frequently if circumstances indicate that impairmentmay have occurred. When
conducting the impairment tests, Magyar Telekomallocates goodwill to its cash generating units determined at operating segme nt
level. See also Note 3.2. Operating segments mayinclude one clearlyidentifiable company or agroup of companies, orcertain
components of one companyand other companiesas well.

The Group establishesthe segments’ recoverable amounts by determining their fairvalue less cost to sell by using valuation
techniques. These includethe use of recent arm’s length transactions, reference to otherinstruments that are substantially the same,
discounted cashflowanalyses and option pricing models, making maximum use of market inputs and relyingas little as possible on
entity-specific inputs. The fair values determined as described above are used as a basis when establishing the need foran impairment
of any goodwill allocated to the operating segments. See also Note 3.2. If the calculated fairvalue lesscost to sellis lowerthanthe
carryingamount of the operating segment, goodwill is impaired.

The impairment losses of PPE and intangible assets are accounted for in the Depreciation and amortization line of the Statement of
profit or loss.
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9.2 Property, plant and equipment in the statement of financial position

In HUF millions

AtJanuary 1,2017

Cost

Accumulated depreciation
Carrying amount

Of which held for sale

Carrying amount - January 1, 2017
Exchange differences

Additions due to business combinations
Changes due to revisions of asset
retirement obligations

Investments

Disposals

Depreciation charge

Decrease due to sale of subsidiary
Reclassifications

Carrying amount - December 31, 2017

At December 31,2017
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Carrying amount
Of which held for sale

Carrying amount - January 1, 2018
Exchange differences
Additions due to business combinations

Changes due to revisions of asset
retirement obligations

Investments

Disposals

Depreciation charge

Reclassifications

Carrying amount - December 31, 2018

At December 31, 2018
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Carrying amount
Of which held for sale

Land and Buildings Telecom. Other Total
equivalent equipment equipment
rights

8,194 154,876 1,079,697 104,073 1,346,840
(2,451) (60,528) (714,575) (84,556) (862,110)
5,743 94,348 365,122 19,517 484,730
(1,556)
483,174
5,743 94,348 365,122 19,517 484,730
(74) (204) (18) (296)
432 3,644 66 1,951 6,093
297 (30) 267
1 2,125 44,986 10,256 57,368
(20) (999) (48) (289) (1,352)
(74) (5,003) (51,721) (7,428) (64,226)
(811) (5,478) (16,972) (818) (24,079)

185 539 212 (936)
5,456 89,403 341,411 22,235 458,505
7,873 151,129 1,014,408 104,535 1,277,945
(2,417) (61,726) (672,997) (82,300) (819,440)
5,456 89,403 341,411 22,235 458,505
(162)
458,343
5,456 89,403 341,411 22,235 458,505
3 692 1,562 165 2,422
779 (1,924) (1,145)
140 (1 139
34 2,061 52,692 7,386 62,173
(665) (4,708) (538) (278) (6,189)
(77) (5,106) (59,791) (7,784) (72,758)

22 1,226 (1,952) 704
4773 83,568 334,303 20,503 443,147
7,267 147,112 1,035,352 103,904 1,293,635
(2,494) (63,544) (701,049) (83,401) (850,488)
4773 83,568 334,303 20,503 443,147
443,147

75



The closing balance of Property, plant and equipment (PPE) includes assets inthe course of construction in an amount of HUF 59,250
million as at December31, 2018 (2017: HUF 61,452 million). Inthe table above the assets in course of construction are shownin the
categories wherethe asset isexpected to be classified when placed into service.

Exchange differences include the translation impact arisingon the consolidation of foreign subsidiaries of the Group.

Additions due to business combinations include thefair value or carrying value of the assetsacquired by Magyar Telekom through
business combinations atthe time of the acquisition. Differences between the preliminary and the final purchase price allocations are
alsoincludedinthis line.

Changes due to revisions of asset retirement obligations represent the adjustments of the carryingamounts of the assets against a
provision for asset retirement obligation(see also Note 13.2.4).

Investments represent the regularinvesting activityin PPE assets. The belowtable includes the Investments by type of operation.

In HUF millions 2017 2018

Investments in continuing operations 57,278 62,173

Investments in discontinued operations 90 -
57,368 62,173

The below table includesthe Depreciation charge by type of operation.

In HUF millions 2017 2018

Depreciation charge incontinuing operations (63,950) (72,758)

Depreciation charge indiscontinued operations (276) -
(64,226) (72,758)

The reclassifications between asset categoriesor their impact on depreciation expense was notmaterial.
No impairment was identified in 2018 and 2017.

Included in buildings are assets sold and leased back under finance lease conditions. At December 31, 2018 the gross book value of
the assets leased back is HUF 4,048 million (2017: HUF 4,048 million) and the net book valueis HUF 1,249 million (2017: HUF 1,529
million).

Included mainlyin buildings and telecomequipment are alsoassets leased underfinance lease conditions other than sale and lease
back. At December31, 2018 the gross book value of the finance leased assetsis HUF 1,157 million(2017: HUF 3,826 million) and the
net book value is HUF 682 million (2017:HUF 1,060 million).

Included in telecommunications equipment at December 31,2018 are assets leased under operating lease contractsto customers
with a gross book value of HUF 55 million(2017: HUF 127 million) and 0 net book value (2017: HUF O million).

The Group has no PPE withrestricted titles or pledged as security as atDecember 31, 2018 or December 31, 2017,
9.3 Review of useful lives

The reviews of the useful lives (and residual values) of property, plant and equipment during 2018 affected the lives of a large number
of assets primarily inhouse network. The revisions resulted in the following change inthe original trend of depreciation in the current
and future years.

In HUF millions 2018 2019 2020 2021 After 2021

Increase/ (decrease) in depreciation expense 10,282 3,010 1,622 115 (15,029)
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10INTANGIBLEASSETS

10.1 Intangible assets - accounting policies
Intangible assets are stated at historical cost less accumulated amortization and impairmentlosses.

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalized on the basisofthe costs incurred to acquire and bring to use. These costs are
amortized over the estimated useful life of the software. Costs associated with developing or maintaining computer software programs
are generally recognized as anexpense as incurred. Costs directlyassociated with the production of identifiable and unique software
products controlled by the Group, and that will probably generate economic benefits exceedingcosts beyond oneyear, are
recognized as intangible assets. Direct costs include the software development employee related costs and an appropriate portion of
relevant overhead and borrowing costs. Computer software development costs recognized as assets are amortized overtheir
estimated useful lives. Most computer software capitalized include acquired elements representing the majority of the costand own
costsincurredto a lesser extent. These are considered as non self developed software. Computer software fully developed by own
resourcesrepresent animmaterial portion of all software, therefore these are not disclosed separately.

Costs associated withthe acquisition of long term frequency licenses are capitalized. The presentvalue of the future annual payments
for the use of the frequencies are alsocapitalized if these payments can be estimated reliably, or otherwise recognized as Other
operating expenses in the year the payment obligation refers to. The useful lives of concessions and licenses are determined based on
the underlying agreements and are amortized on a straight line basis over the period from availability of the frequency forc ommercial
use until the end of the initial concession or licenseterm. Renewal periods are considered in the determination of useful life only if we
are sure that it will be realized without further consideration to be transferred.

Amortization is calculated on a straightine basis fromthe time the assetsare deployed and charged overtheir economic useful lives.
Other than goodwill, the Group has no intangible assets with indefinite useful life. The amortization expenseis presented in the
depreciation and amortization line of the Statementof profit or loss.

Onanannual basis, Magyar Telekom reviews the useful livesfor consistency with current developmentand replacement plans and
advances intechnology. Forfurther details on the groups of assets impacted by the most recent useful life revisionsrefer to Note 10.3.
The annual revisions are conducted in the second quarter of the year and the resulting changes are applied from the third quarter of
the year. In additionto the regular revisions, anyinvestment decisions made throughout the year may also result in a change of useful
life of a group of assetsin any period of the year.

The estimated useful lives of intangible assets other than goodwill are are as follows:

Years
Software 2-24
Concessions and licenses 3-25
Other intangible assets 3-10

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the net assets and ¢ ontingent
liabilities of the acquired subsidiary or business at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment
losses. Impairmenttesting is carried out on anannual basis forall goodwillin the last quarter of the year based on the carrying values
as at September 30 of the year. Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity or
business include the carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the entity or business sold.

In determining whetheran asset that incorporates both intangible and tangible elements should be treated under IAS 16 - Property,
Plant and Equipment oras an intangible asset under IAS 38 - Intangible Assets, management uses judgment to assesswhich element
is more significant and recognizes the assetsaccordingly.

Assets that are subject to amortizationor depreciation are reviewed forimpairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate thatthe carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset' s
carryingamount exceedsits recoverable amount. The recoverableamount is the higher of the assets’ fairvalue less costs to sell and its
value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped atthe lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows(cash-generating units - CGUs).
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The fair values of the individual tangible and intangible assets of the Group in most cases cannot be determined as individua |l assets
do not generate cash flows. Instead, the Group determines CGUs to which the individual assets are allocated and the fair valugs can
only be determined at CGU level, primarily by using discounted cash flow analyses. See also Note 3.2. Corporate assets which have
the distinctive characteristics of not generating cash inflows independently of other assetsor groups of assets are allocated to CGUs
when conducting impairment tests.

Goodwill is tested forimpairment annually or more frequently if circumstances indicate that impairmentmay have occurred. When
conducting the impairment tests, Magyar Telekomallocates goodwill to its cash generating units determined at operating segment
level. See also Note 3.2. Operating segments mayinclude one clearlyidentifiable company or agroup of companies, orcertain
components of one companyand other companiesas well.

The Group establishesthe segments’ recoverable amounts by determining their fairvalue lesscost to sell by using valuation
techniques. These includethe use of recent arm’s length transactions, reference to otherinstruments that are substantially the same,
discounted cashflowanalyses and option pricing models, making maximumuse of market inputs and relyingas little as possibl e on
entity-specific inputs. The fair values determined as described above are used as a basis when establishing the need for an impairment
of any goodwill allocated to the operating segments. See also Note 3.2. If the calculated fairvalue lesscost to sellis lowerthanthe
carryingamount of the operating segment, goodwill is impaired.

The impairment losses of PPE and intangible assets are accounted for in the Depreciation and amortization line of the Statement of
profit or loss.
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10.2 Intangible assets in the statement of financial position

In HUF millions

At January 1, 2017

Cost

Accumulated amortization
Carrying amount

Carrying amount - January 1, 2017
Exchange differences

Additions due to business combinations
Investments

Disposals

Decrease due to sale of subsidiary
Amortization charge

Reclassifications

Carrying amount - December 31, 2017

At December 31, 2017
Cost
Accumulated amortization

Carrying amount
Of which held for sale

Carrying amount - January 1, 2018
Exchange differences

Additions due to business combinations
Investments

Disposals

Amortization charge

Reclassifications

Carrying amount - December 31, 2018

At December 31,2018
Cost
Accumulated amortization

Carrying amount
Of which held for sale

Goodwill Concessions and Software Other Total
licenses

218,098 198,322 296,027 20,444 732,891
(51,245) (194,250) (9,133) (254,628)
218,098 147,077 101,777 11,311 478,263
218,098 147,077 101,777 11,311 478,263
(21) (31) 6 (46)
631 - 117 748
24,827 4,180 29,007
(72) (72)
(6,445) (10,393) (4,342) (797) (21,977)
(15,151) (26,278) (3,036) (44,465)
212,284 121,512 95,881 11,781 441,458
212,284 184,071 305,563 22,904 724,822
(62,559) (209,682) (11,123) (283,364)
212,284 121,512 95,881 11,781 441,458
441,458
212,284 121,512 95,881 11,781 441,458
112 241 205 558
820 - - 2,618 3,438
15,713 27,564 2,095 45,372
- (102) (1) (103)
(14,756) (24,739) (3,276) (42,771)
213,104 122,581 98,845 13,422 447952
213,104 200,075 333,289 26,934 773,402
(77,494) (234,444) (13,512) (325,450)
213,104 122,581 98,845 13,422 447952
447952
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Exchange differences include the translation impact arisingon the consolidation of foreign subsidiaries of the Group.

Additions due to business combinations include the fair value of assets acquired by Magyar Telekom through business combinations
inthe reported years and the goodwill arising on these business combinations. Differences betweenthe preliminary and the final
purchase priceallocationsarealso included in this line.

Investments represent the regularinvesting activityin intangible assets. Additionsto Concessions and licenses in 2018 include the
cost of the right of use of the newfrequency bands prolonged by the NMIAH for the Companyin 2018 andthe present value of the
annual fees payablefor the use of these frequenciesuntil 2027. (See also Notes4.4.2 and 34.)

The below table includesthe Investments by type of operation.

In HUF millions 2017 2018

Investments in continuing operations 28,920 45,372

Investments in discontinued operations 87 -
29,007 45,372

The amortization expense as well as theimpairment losses of intangible assetsincluding also goodwillis accounted for inthe
depreciation and amortization line of the Statementof profit or loss. The belowtable includesthe Amortizationcharge by type of
operation.

In HUF millions 2017 2018

Amortization charge incontinuing operations (44,224) (42,771)

Amortization charge indiscontinued operations (241) -
(44,465) (42,771)

The reclassifications between asset categoriesor their impact on amortization expense was notmaterial.
The Group has no intangible assets with restricted title or pledged as security as at December 31,2018 or December 31, 2017.
10.3 Useful lives

The reviews of the useful lives of intangible assets during 2018 affected the lives of a large number of assets primarily software. The
revisions resulted in the following change in the original trend of amortization in the current and future years.

In HUF millions 2018 2019 2020 2021 After 2021

Increase/ (decrease)in depreciation expense  (273) (590) 289 148 425
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10.4 Goodwill

For the goodwillimpairment tests, the total amount of goodwill was allocated to the operating segments of the Group and the

recoverable amounts of the operating segments were determined based on fairvalues less costs of disposal based on Level 3inputs in
the fair value calculations (Note 4.5.1). The recoverable amounts of the segments disclosed in the table below exclude netdebts (Note
5.2), which are not allocated to the segments. For further information, please also see Note 3.2.

As atDecember 31,

In HUF millions 2017 2018

Carrying amount of Recoverable Carrying amount of Recoverable

goodwill operating amount of goodwill operating amount of

allocated segment operating allocated segment operating

(incl. segment (incl. segment

goodwill) goodwill)

MT-Hungary 192,085 791,806 1,703,753 192,905 785,911 1,250,068
Macedonia 20,199 63,265 180,004 20,199 65,160 181,057
Total 212,284 855,071 1,883,757 213,104 851,071 1,431,125

The Group regularly carries out animpairment test on goodwill in the last quarter of the financial years. Duringthe annualimpairment
test conducted in the lastquarter of 2017 and 2018 no goodwillimpairment was established for any goodwill of the Group.

10.5 Significantindividual other intangible assets

The Group’s most significant individual other intangible assetsare the mobile licenses. The carrying values and remaining amortization
periods of the significant licensesarelisted inthe table below. Forfurtherinformation on these assets, please see Note 34,

As atDecember 31,

In HUF millions 2017 2018

Carrying Remaining Carrying Remaining

amount amortization amount amortization

period (years) period (years)

Hungarianmobile licenses acquiredin 2014 82,192 17 77,211 16
Hungarianmobile licenses prolonged in 2018 31,717 39,509 "
Hungarian3G license 3,581 2 1,788 1
Macedonian4G license 2,534 16 2,473 15
Macedonian2G/3G license 417 1 339 1
Other 1,071 1,261
Total concessions and licenses 121,512 122,581



11 INVESTMENTSIN ASSOCIATESAND JOINT ARRANGEMENTS

11.1 Associates and joint arrangements - accounting policies

Associatesareentities over which the Group hassignificant influence but not control, generally reflecting a votingright between 20%
and 50%.

Joint arrangements are arrangements where the partiesare bound by a cortractual arrangement of which two or more parties have
joint control and which exist only when decisionsabout the relevant activities require the unanimous consentof the parties sharing the
control.

Ifthe parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the arrangement, it is a jointventure.

Ifthe parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the assets, and obligations forthe liabilities, relating to the
arrangement, itis a joint operation.

Investments in associatesand joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method of accountingand are initially recognized at
cost. The Group’s investment in associatesand joint ventures includes goodwill arisingon acquisitions, and net of anyaccumulated
impairment loss.

The Group’s share of its associates’ and joint ventures' post-acquisition profits or losses is recognized inthe Profit for the year (Share of
associates and joint ventures’ profits). The cumulative post-acquisition movementsare adjusted against the carryingamount of the
investment. When the Group’sshare of lossesin an associate orjoint venture equals or exceeds its interestin the company, the Group
does not recognize furtherlosses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made paymentson behalf of the associ ate
or jointventure.

Unrealized gains on transactions between the Group and its associates and joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interest in the company. Accounting policies of associates and joint ventures are adjusted where necessary to ensure consistencywith
the policiesadopted by the Group.

In case of a joint operation, the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses relating to the joint operation are recognized to the extent of
the Group’s interestin the joint operation.

11.2 Associates

The Group had no significant associates at December 31, 2017 and 2018. The Group had no contingent liabilities or commitments
related to its associates atDecember31, 2017 and 2018.

11.3 Jointventures

The only joint venture of the Group at December 31,2017 and 2018 wasE2 Hungary Zrt. established in 2015 by Magyar TelekomPlc.
and MET Holding AG. E2 Hungary providesenergy services for business customers from2016. The company’s issued capital is HUF
200 million, and additional HUF 1,800 million was contributed as additional paid-incapital which were fully paid by both parties. The
jointventure is set up by the parties on a 50:50 ownership basis withbalanced rights inthe management structure. The investment was
recognized at costin 2015 and E2 Hungary Zrt. is accounted for using the equity method. The operations of the company resulted in
HUF 999 million profitin 2017 and HUF 721 million profitin2018. Current year profit is preliminary at the date of the approval of these
financial statements. HUF 1,038 million was declared as dividend in 2018 (HUF 193 million in 2017).

The Group had no contingent liabilities or commitments relating to its joint venturesat December 31, 2017 and 2018.
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The following table showsthe total assets and liabilities as at December 31, 2017 and 2018, and revenues and profit for the year
ended December 31,2017 and 2018 of E2, the single significant joint venture of the Group.

In HUF millions 2017 2018

Current assets 14,246 16,816
Non current assets 108 329
Current liabilities 11,356 14,423
Non current liabilities _ )
Revenues 53,878 57,260
Profit/ (Loss) for the year 999 721

11.4 Joint operations

Magyar Telekomand TelenorHungary agreed in 2015 to jointly operate and develop their 800MHz 4G mobile networksin all parts of
Hungary except Budapest. The primary goal of the agreement was to accelerate 4G mobile broadband coveragerolloutin the
countryside and to offer higher bandwidth to the 4G customers, inline with the coverage obligations of the 800 MHz spectrum contract
signedin 2014 with the NMIAH. Based on the agreement, Telenor Hungary maintains sites in West Hungary and Magyar Telekom
operates sitesin the easternregion of the country.

The Company assessed the agreement as joint operationas strategic decisions are made joirtly by Magyar Telekomand Telenor, and
there is no separate vehicle to control the operation of the arrangement. The Company does not share the obligations for liabilities and
any returns or expenses beyond the assets included in the agreement.

Therefore only the assetsowned by the Companyare recognized while there isno need to present the partner's assets, liabilities, or
revenues and expenses. The charges fromMT to Telenorand from Telenorto MT are almost equal and settled on a net basis and
accounted for in the statement of profit orloss and the effect of this settlement is not significant.

In case any of the parties initiates thetermination of this contract, in orderto ensure the continuous service for the customers the
Company might be exposed to additional capital expenditure. The probability is estimated remote by the Management currently.

12 0THERASSETS

12.1 Other current assets

At December 31,
In HUF millions 2017 2018
Prepayments and advance payments 8,756 9,784
Other taxes receivable 1,659 2,130
Other 2,893 215
Total other receivables 13,308 12,129

12.2 Other non current assets

Other non current assets mainlyinclude assets recognized from the costs to obtain contracts with customers (amounting to HUF 4,532
million, see also note 18.4) as at December 31, 2018, whilethe 2017 year-end balance mainly included long-term prepaid employee
benefits relating to housing loans provided by the Group to employees at lowerthan market interest rates (see Notes 4.1.1.4 and
4.1.2.3).
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13 PROVISIONS

13.1 Provisions - accounting policies

Provisions arerecognized when Magyar Telekom hasa present legal or constructive obligation (excluding executory contracts) as a
result of past events and it isprobable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settlethe
obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.

Provisions are measured and recorded as the best estimate of the economic outflow required to settle the present obligation at the
financial statement date. The estimate canbe calculated as the weighted average of estimated potential outcomes orcanalsobe the
single most likely outcome. Expenses for provisionsare recognized in the statement of profit or loss line where the actual e xpense is
expectedto be incurred. Whena provision isreleased unused, it is released to the same line of the statement of profit orl osswhere it
was originally provided for.

Provisions for obligations expected to fall due after 12 months are generally recognized at their present value and are accreted
(against Interest expense) until utilization or reversal.

13.2 Provisions in the statement of financial position

In HUF milli Severance Share- Other Total Legal ARO Other Total
n mitlions based employee Employee cases
payments related related

January 1, 2017 oo 2,081 589 1,325 3,995 1,916 7,100 1,010 14,021
Amounts reversed.........cocceeiereeneeninnn, (633) (44) (37) (r14)  (156) (73) (846)  (1,789)
AdditioNS ...vcveieicce 2,851 431 216 3,498 25 340 605 4,468
Decrease due to sale of subsidiary........... - (4) (77 (181) (34) - - (215)
INtErest. i - 4 - 4 (112) 157 - 49
Exchange rate difference ............ccceeee. - - (3) (3) (3) - (6)
Amounts utilized (incl. interest (2,694) (128) (534) (3356)  (624) (36)  (14)  (4,030)
COMPONENE)...evveierieieiiereeieeeieeee e

December 31,2017 ....ccvceveviirieciinns 1,605 848 790 3,243 1,012 7,488 755 12,498
Ofwhichcurrent.......cccoovvvvciieiinicee, 1,356 0 528 1,884 871 19 493 3,267
Ofwhichnoncurrent......cccocevvvvveivineennen. 249 848 262 1,359 141 7,469 262 9,231
January 1, 2018 ..o, 1,605 848 790 3,243 1,012 7,488 755 12,498
Amounts reversed.........ocvvrveeiennivennnn, (284) (74) (37) (395)  (149) (85 (141) (720)
AdditionS ..o 2,999 731 5 3,735 1,173 174 1094 6,176
[NtEreSt. . - 1 - 1 28 190 - 219
Exchange rate difference ...........ccccoovne. - 1 10 11 32 2) 1) 40
Amounts utilized (incl.interest (2,723) (56) (633) (3,412) ) 43)  (75)  (3,530)
COMPONENE)...cviviieieiieie e

December 31,2018....c.cccccevvveviiciienan, 1,597 1,451 135 3,183 2,096 7,772 1,632 14,683
Ofwhichcurrent......coocvvevvevieicieceec, 1,316 725 - 2,041 884 23 470 3,418
Ofwhichnoncurrent......ccccoeevveeeveiineinn, 281 726 135 1,142 1,212 7,749 1,162 11,265

The Interest lines in the table above include the subsequentunwinding of the discountapplied at initial recognitionandthe interest
element of any provisionrecognized, as well asthe release of the interest / accretion element incase of reversal of provisions.
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Magyar Telekomdoes not expect any reimbursement with regards to the provisions recognized, therefore, no related assets have been
recognized in the financial statements.

13.2.1 Severance

The majority of the provision for severance as at December 31, 2018 relatesto the stand-by-pool and the employee terminations
payable in 2019 inrelation to the further efficiency improvement in Magyar Telekom Plc. The stand-by-pool of employeesincludes
people whose legal statusis an employee, however, these people do not provide services to the Company anymore, but the Company
provides a reduced amount of compensationand pays social security expenses forthem. This isa way of severance that is not paid in
one lump sum but in monthlyinstallments following the discontinuation of services. The majority of the provisionfor severance as at
December 31, 2017 also related to the stand-by-pool and the employee terminations paid in 2018 in relation to the efficiency
improvementin Magyar Telekom Plc.

1,181 employees left the Groupin 2018 (2017: 1,044), related to whichtermination payments were made. The balance of provision as
at December 31, 2018 relatesto 164 employees and formeremployeesin the stand-by-poal (2017: 406).

The total payments made inrelation to employeeterminationin2018 amounted to HUF 4,486 million (2017: HUF 4,066 million).
13.2.2 Share-based payments

The bases of the provisionsfor share-based payments are described in Note 20.1.

13.2.3 Legal cases

Provisions for legal cases mainlyinclude amounts expected to be paid to regulatoryand competition authorities aswell as to ex-
employees and trading partners as aresult of legal disputes. There are numerous legal casesfor which provisionswere recognized,
which are individually not material.

13.2.4 Asset retirement obligations (ARO)

Asset retirement obligations primarily exist in case of the telecommunications structures constructed on third parties’ properties. The
Group carriesout a revision of the necessary provisionsevery year. The revisions did not result inmaterial changesin 2018 or2017.

13.2.5 Other provisions

Other provisions include guarantee obligations, onerous contracts and further other individually small items.

14 OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

At December 31,

In HUF millions 2017 2018

Other taxes and social security 14,520 12,708
Salaries and wages (a) 10,466 12,412
Contractliabilities(Note 18.4) - 12,372
Deferred revenue and advances received 13,891 2,003
Advances received for assetrelated grants (b) 4,648 1,851
Dividend payableto non-controlling interests 22 24
Other liabilities 49 25

43,596 41,395
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(a) Salaries and wages

This line of the table includes also the liability arising from the bonus payment via the ESOP Organization (HUF 3,391 millionin 2018).
See alsoNote 20.1.2.5.

(b) Advances received for asset-related grants

In 2016 HUF 12.2 billionof EU funds were granted to Magyar Telekom Plc. asa result of the first and second rounds of a tenderaimed
at developing digital networksnationwide to cover households inWestem and Eastern parts of Hungary with a fixed network capable
of reaching speed of at least 30 Mbps. The Company used up HUF 3,318 millionof this advance in2018 (HUF 1,416 million in 2017).
See also Note 9 for government grantsrelating to the purchase of PPE and Note 28 for details of Purchase of PPE and intangible
assets.

15 OTHERNON CURRENT LIABILITIES

Other non current liabilities primarily include deferred revenues related to long term projects resulting from the non current contract
liabilities. See alsoNote 18.4.

16 NON-CONTROLLINGINTERESTS

Non controlling interests included the minority shareholders in Makedonski Telekom (MKT) and Crogorski Telekom (CT) until 2016.
As a result of the sale of Cmogorski Telekom, the 2017 and 2018 yearend balances include only the minorityshareholdersin MKT.
SeealsoNote26.2.1.

In HUF millions MKT CT Other Total
(discontinued)

Balance atJanuary 1, 2017 ..o 33,319 9,524 - 42,843
Dividend declared..........ccccoeveviiiiiiiiiiicece e (2,728) - (592) (3,320)
Total comprehensive inComMe..........ccovveeiveeniiienieee e, 2,879 (2,781) - 98
Decrease due to sale of subsidiary........cccoovviviiviiiininnnn. - (6,743) - (6,743)
Balance at December31, 2017 ..o, 33,470 - (592) 32,878
Transitionto IFRS 9and 15 (Note 1.3).....cccvviviiiiiiiiins 671 - - 671
Dividend declared..........cccoccovviiiiiiiiiincece e (3,482) - - (3,482)
Total comprehensive inCoME........ccvvvieieieieiece e 4,374 - - 4,374
Balance at December31, 2018 ... 35,033 - (592) 34,441

16.1 Summarized financial information on subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests
The information below includesthe amounts asincluded in the consolidation, before inter-company eliminations.

a) Summarized balance sheets

In HUF millions MKT CT (discontinued)
2017 2018 2017 2018

Current assets 22,425 24,520 -

Current liabilities (18,607) (18,777) -

Non-current assets 97,872 98,786 -

Non-current liabilities (3,660) (2,875) -

Net assets 98,030 101,654 -

86



b) Summarized income statements

In HUF millions MKT CT (discontinued)
2017 2018 2017 2018

Revenues 51,795 54,680 2,023

Profit beforeincometax 7,930 8,035 184

Profit for the period 6,890 6,986 161

¢) Summarized cash flows

In HUF millions MKT CT (discontinued)
2017 2018 2017 2018

Net cash generated fromoperating 19227 19 453 3691

activities ’ ’ ’

Net cash from investingactivities (12,630) (9,656) (6,073)

Dividends/capital reduction paid to (3,566) (4,550) )

Controlling interests ’ ’

Dividends/capital reduction paid to Non- (2,728) (3,482) -

controlling interests

Other cash flows from financing activities (2,417) (1,792) (4)

Net cash used in financing activities (8,711) (9,824) (4)

16.2 Transactions with non-controlling interests
There were no material transactions with non-controlling interestsin 2018 or 2017 other than the dividend payments.

The only significant non-controlling interest of the Group is the Macedonian Republic, holding sharesin MKT. MKT and Magyar
Telekom did not execute as part of its normal business activitiesany transactions that were individually material in the 2018 or 2017
financial year with companies contralled by the Macedonian Republic or companies overwhich the Macedonian Republic can
exercisea significantinfluence.

17 LEASES

17.1 Leases - accounting policies

Alease is an agreement whereby the lessor conveys to the lessee in return for a payment or series of payments the right to use an
assetfor a period of time set out in the contract. A lease can be either anoperating lease or a finance lease.

According to the accounting principle of substance over (legal) form, in practice not only those arrangements can accounting-wise
qualify for leases that are denominated as leases.

Inthe Group’s practice, thefollowing can be inparticular arrangements that are not legally leases but mightcontainleases:

= arrangements assigningnetwork capacityrights to others
= outsourcingtype arrangements (i.e. whereby the Group outsources its own resources/assets/some of its activities/certain
employees to another company).

An arrangement contains alease, if the fulfilment of the arrangement isdependent on the use of a specific asset or assets orifthe
arrangement conveys a right to use the asset(s). The arrangement conveys the right to use the assef(s) whenthe arrangement conveys
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the control overthe use of the underlying asset(s) for the lessee. If anarrangement containsa lease, thenthe lease element of the
arrangement should be classified and accounted for as either operating orfinance lease. The element of the arrangement otherthan
the lease element should be accounted forin accordance with the applicable standards.

For the purpose of applying the classification and accounting rules paymentsand other consi deration required by the arrangement
shall be separated at the inceptionof the arrangement or upon a reassessment of the arrangementinto those for the lease and those
for other elements on the basis of their relative fairvalues. Indoing such separation, asignificant degree of estimation might be
necessary.

Itis the task of the contracting organizations of the Company and supporting controlling departments to inform the relevant
accounting experts related to each new lease transactionwho then have the responsibility of deciding whether the agreements in
question contain a lease element and determining their booking.

a) Finance lease - Group as lessor

Leases of assets where Magyar Telekom transfers substantiallyall the benefits and risks of ownership are recognized and disclosed as
revenue againsta financeleasereceivable. Therevenue equals the estimated present value of the future minimum lease payments
receivable and any unguaranteed residual value (net investment in the lease). The cost of the asset sold in a finance lease transaction
is recognized at the inception of the lease. Each lease receipt is then allocated between the receivable and interest income so as to
achieve a constant rate of returmn on the finance receivable balance outstanding. The interest element of the lease receipt is recognized
in Interestincome.

Finance leasesmainly include equipment provided to business customers as part of our outsourcing contractswhere the Company is
the service provider.

b) Finance lease - Group as lessee

Leases of property, plant and equipment where Magyar Telekom assumes substantially all the benefits and risks of ownership are
classified as finance leases. Finance leasesare capitalized at the fairvalue of the assetor if lower, at the estimated present value of the
future minimum lease payments against a finance lease payable. Each lease payment is allocated between the finance lease liability
and interest expense so as to achieve aconstant rate of interest on the outstanding balance payable. The finance lease obligations, net
of finance charges, areincluded in the Statement of financial position (Other financial liabilities). The interest element of the lease
payments is charged to the Profitfor the year (Interest expense) over the lease period. Property, plant and equipment acquired under
finance lease contracts are depreciated overthe shorter of the lease term orthe useful life of the asset.

c) Operating lease - Group as lessor

Assets leased to customers under operating leases are included in Property, plant and equipment in the Statement of financial
position. They are depreciated overtheir expected useful lives on a basis consistent with similar assets. Rental revenue is recognized
as revenue on a straight-ine basisoverthe leaseterm.

d) Operating lease - Group as lessee

Costs in respect of operating leases are charged to the Profit forthe year (Other operating expenses) on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

e) Sale and leaseback transactions

Sale andleasebacktransactionsinvolve the sale of an asset by Magyar Telekom and the leasing of the same asset or part of itback to
Magyar Telekom. When sale and leaseback transactions qualify as finance leasesany gain on the saleis deferred and recognized in
the Profit for the year overthe lease term through lower depreciation expense. If the leaseback qualifies as an operating lease, any
gains or losses on the sale are recognized in the Profit for the year (Other operatingincome) at the time of the sale as the sales price
reflects the fairvalue of the asset, while the lease payments are recognized in the Profit for the year (Other operating expenses) on a
straight line basis overthe period of the lease.
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17.2 Finance leases

17.2.1 Finance lease - Group as lessor

Finance leases mainly include equipment provided to business customers as part of our outsourcing contracts wherethe Group isthe
service provider.

Future leasereceivables under finance leases at December 31, 2017 and 2018 are as follows:

At December 31,2017 At December 31,2018
In HUF millions Present Interest Minimum Present Interest Minimum
value component lease value component lease
receipt receipt
Within 1 year 246 19 265 50 14 64
1-5years 163 46 209 161 42 203
After Syears 183 31 214 147 70 217
Total 592 96 688 358 126 484

The interest component representsthe uneamed finance income. The present value due withinone year is included in Other current
financial assets, whilethe present value after one yearis included in Non currentfinancial assets. The finance income accruing to the
Group over the leasetermis recognized inthe Profit for the year (Interestincome).

The unguaranteed residual values accruing to the benefit of the Group are insignificant.
17.2.2 Finance lease - Group as lessee

Finance leasesin 2017 and 2018 mainly relateto the sale and lease back of spaces inbuildingsaccommodating telephone
exchanges. Inmost cases the contracts are denominated in EUR, the term of the leases is 5-15 years, and the contracts include
renewal options but no purchase options.

Future lease payments under finance leases related to sale and lease back transactions atDecember 31, 2017 and 2018 are as
follows:

At December 31,2017 At December 31,2018
In HUF millions Present Interest Minimum Present Interest Minimum
value  component lease value  component lease

payment payment
Within 1 year 438 810 1,248 235 764 999
1-5years 649 2,577 3,226 850 2,344 3,194
After Syears 1,201 1,213 2,414 881 803 1,684
Total 2,288 4,600 6,888 1,966 3,911 5,877

Finance leases other than sale and lease back in 2017 and 2018 mainly relate to real estate. In mostcases the contract term of the
leasesis 5-10 years mostlywith renewal options and without purchase options.
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Future lease payments under finance leases otherthan sale and lease back transactions at December 31,2017 and 2018 areas
follows:

At December 31,2017 At December 31,2018
In HUF millions Present Interest Minimum Present Interest Minimum
value  component lease value component lease

payment payment
Within 1 year 444 387 831 459 369 828
1-5years 626 1,224 1,850 751 1,108 1,859
After Syears 815 541 1,356 650 337 987
Total 1,885 2,152 4,037 1,860 1,814 3,674

The Group has no contingent rentsrelated to its finance leases. The Group doesnot sub-lease any of the assets leased ina finance
lease contract.

17.3 Operating leases
17.3.1 Operating lease - Group as lessor

The following table includes the future minimumlease payments receivable by the Group for the operating leases of mobile tower
sections and dark fibre where Magyar Telekom is the lessor.

At December 31,
In HUF millions 2017 2018
Within 1 year 411 596
1-5years 579 1,181
After Syears 523 1,145
Total 1,513 2,922

17.3.2 Operating lease - Group as lessee

Operating lease commitments are mainly in respect of the rental of the new headquarters and mobile cell sites, and to a lesser extent,
related to other buildings, network and othertelecommunications facilities and equipment. The following table includes the future
minimum lease payments payable of the Group:

At December 31,
In HUF millions 2017 2018
Within 1 year 11,501 21,501
1-5years 24,569 52,837
After 5years 4,847 71,674
Total 40,917 146,012

In 2018 the Group is exposed to HUF 56 billionrental fee commitment due to the new Magyar TelekomPlc. headquarters. Besides
this, the lease commitments represent ahigh amount of individually immaterial lease agreements, the terms of which varyon a wide
range, spanning from 1 to 20 yearswith renewal options in mostcases, but no purchase options.
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18 REVENUE

18.1 Revenue - accounting policies

The accountingpolicies of the Group changed regarding accounting for revenue from 2017 to 2018 with the transition from IAS 18
andIAS 11to IFRS 15 andthey are disclosed below.

18.1.1 Sale of goods and Rendering of services

Under IAS 18

Revenue from sale of goods (equipment) isrecognised whenrisks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the customer,
recoveryof the consideration is probable, the associated costs and possible return of goods can be estimated reliably, there is no
continuing management involvement with the goods, and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. The timing of the transfer
of risks and rewards varies depending on the individual terms of the agreement. Revenue from sale of goods is measured net of
returns, trade discounts and volumerebates.

The Group recognises revenue from rendering of servicesin proportion to the stage of completion of the service at the reporting date.
The method of assessment of the stage of completion dependson the type of the service.

Under IFRS 15

The core principle of IFRS 15is forcompaniesto recognize revenueto depict the transfer of goods or services to customers in
amounts that reflect the consideration (that is, payment) to whichthe company expects to be entitled inexchange for those goods or
Services.

Revenue should be recognised ifitis probablethat the Group will collect the consideration to which it will be entitled in exchange for
the goods or services that will be transferred to the customer. Ifthe Group determines that collectabilityis no longerensured (e.g.
because subsequently the customer's ability orintent to pay significantly deteriorates), the Group mustapply cashaccourtingfor the
remainderof the contract, i.e. for the outstanding goodsand services to be provided. Thisreassessment doesnot affect recorded
assets and revenue relating to performance obligations already satisfied.

Revenue is recognized whenor as performance obligations are satisfied by transferring control of a promised good or service to a
customer. Control either transfers over time orat a point in time, which affects when revenue is recorded.

As a practical expedient, the Group applies the guidanceto a group of contracts with similar characteristics instead of to a single
contract with a customer. A portfolio approach isacceptable if the Group canreasonably expect that the effect of applying a portfolio
approach to a group of contracts or group of performance obligations would not differ materially from considering eachcontract or
performance obligation separately. This implies that a portfolio of contracts with similar characteristics does not necessarily need to
refer to homogenous products being included in these contracts.

Transition

Magyar Telekomutilized the option for simplified initial application, i.e., contracts that were notcompleted by January 1, 2018 were
accountedfor as if theyhad beenrecognized in accordance with IFRS 15 fromthe very beginning. The cumulative effect arising from
the transition(catch-up) was recognized as an adjustment to the opening balance of equityin 2018. Prior-year comparatives were not
adjusted. IFRS 15 meansrevenue is recognized earlier and expenses are recognized later for contracts not yet concluded by January
1, 2018. However, asthe accounting effects of the changeoverto the new standard were recognized directly inequity, the onlyeffects
onthe Consolidated Statement of Income in 2018 were related to changes in the point in time at which revenue and expenses are
realized.

Main principles

= |f Group performs by transferring goods or servicesto a customer before the customer pays consideration or before payment is due,
the Group shall present the contract as a Contract asset, excluding any amounts presented as a receivable. A contract asset is the
Group’s right to consideration in exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a customer.

= Inthe case of multiple-element arrangements (e.g., mobile contract plus handset) with subsidized products delivered in advance, a
larger portion of the total remuneration is attributable to the component delivered in advance (mobile handset), requiring earlier
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recognition of revenue. This leads to the recognition of what is known as a contract asset - a receivable arising from the customer
contract that has not yetlegally come into existence - in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

= Atthe same time, it resulted in higherrevenue fromthe sale of goods and merchandise and to lower revenue fromthe provision of
services.

= Expenses for sales commissions(customeracquisition costs) must now be capitalized inthe Contractcosts line of the Consolidated
Statement of Financial Position and recognized over the estimated customer retention period.

= Later recognition of revenue in caseswhere “material rights” are granted, such as offering additional discounts for future purchases
of further products.

= Contract liabilities (which, as deferred revenue, were already recognized as liabilitiesin the past and with the transition reclassified)
are now netted off against the contract assets foreach customer contract.

= For the purposes of determining whether Magyar Telekom sells products for its own account (principal = gross revenue) or for the
account of others (agent= net revenue), there was no material change.

= Asignificant financing component is not considered for the amount and timing of revenue recognition if the period between when a
promised good or serviceis transferred to the customer and when the customer pays forthat good or service will be one year or less,

= |f the promise to grant a license is distinct from the other promised goods or services in the contract then the promise to grant the
license is a separate performance obligation and the Group shall determine whether the license transfers to a customer either ata
pointintime or overtime.

18.1.2 Revenue from operating leases

Revenues from operating leases are recognized as revenue on a straight line basis overthe term of the lease. Lease incentives granted
are recognised as an integral part of the total rentalincome, overthe term of the lease. Operating lease revenue are primarily
recognized as System integrationand IT revenue.

18.2 Revenues from major service lines
18.2.1 Mobile and Fixed line telecommunications revenues

Revenue is primarily derived from services provided to Magyar Telekom'’s customer subscribers and other third parties using Magyar
Telekom’s telecommunications network, and equipment sales.

Customer subscriberarrangements typically include an equipment sale, subscription fee and charge forthe actual voice, intemet, data
or multimedia services used.

Airtime revenue is recognized based uponminutes of use and contracted feesless credits and adjustmentsfor discounts, while
subscription and flat rate revenues arerecognized in the period they relateto. In case of IFRS 15 usage-based consideration (e.g.
airtime)isgenerally not part of the transaction price asthe Group does not have aright to considerationat contract inception.

The Group provides customers with narrow and broadband access to its fixed, mobile and TV distribution networks.
Advertising revenues are recognized inthe period that the advertisements are exhibited.

Revenues from premium rate servicesare recognized on a gross basis when the delivery of the service over Magyar Telekom’s
network is the responsibility of the Group, the Group determines the prices of these services and bears substantial risks of these
services; otherwise these revenues are presented on a net basis.

Customers may also purchase prepaid mobile, public phone and internet credits (cards) which allow those customersto use Magyar
Telekom’s telecommunications network for a selected amount of time. Customers mustpay for such services atthe date whenthe
cardis purchased. Revenues fromthe sale of cards are recognized when used by the customers orwhenthe credits expire with
unused traffic.

Third parties using Magyar Telekom’s telecommunications network include roaming customers of other service providers and other
telecommunications providers which terminate or transit calls on Magyar Telekom’s network. These wholesale (incoming) traffic
revenues are recognized in the period of related usage. A proportion of the revenue received is often paid to other operators
(interconnect) forthe use of their networks, where applicable. The revenues and costs of these transit callsare stated grossin the
Financial statementsas the Group is the principal supplier of these services using itsown network freely defining the pricing of the
services, and recognized inthe period of related usage.
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Under IAS 18

The Group considers the various elements of these arrangements to be separate earnings processes and classifies the revenuefor
each of the deliverables into the categories using the residual method for each of the elements. These units are identified and
separated, since theyhavevalue on a standalone basis and are sold not only in a bundle, but separately as well. Therefore the Group
recognizesrevenues forall of these elements using the residual method, i.e. the amount of considerationallocated to the delivered
elements of the arrangements equals the total consideration less the fairvalue of the undelivered elements. The revenue allocable to a
delivered item, however, is limited to the amount that is not contingent upon the delivery of additional items (the non contingent
amount). The revenue to be recognized is therefore restricted by the amount received that is not contingentupon undelivered
elements of the arrangement. Fix and mobile service revenues are recognized when the servicesare provided in accordance with
contractual termsand conditions. Revenues and expenses associated with the sale of telecommunicationsequipment and
accessories arerecognized when the products are delivered, provided thatthere are no unfulfilled obligations that affect the
customer’s final acceptance of the arrangement. In case the equipment is sold on installments with payment terms exceeding 12
months, the amount of the revenue immediatelyrecognized is the present value of the installments.

Under IFRS 15

Contracts arefrequently sold to customers containing a cross subsidy between two or more components. A typical example iswherea
mobile phone is sold at a price significantly below its market value in a bundle with a service contract for a period of 12 or 24 months.
From a commercial point of view, the subsidy on the mobile phoneis recompensated viathe service fee.

With this adjustment requirement (also termed as "basic adjustment') a cross-subsidy or an overall bundle discount must be allocated
to the individual components of the bundle so thatrevenue generally reflects the fairvalue of the good and/or service with a bundle
discount being appropriately distributed among the affected items.

The revenue is determined for every component by distributing the transaction price to the individual components in proportion to their
relevant standalone selling prices.

18.2.2 System integration (SI) and IT revenues

Contracts for network services, which consist of the installation and operation of communication networks for customers, have an
average duration of 2-3 years.

Revenue from outsourcing contractsreflects the extent of actual services delivered in the period in accordance with theterms of the
contract. Thecontractsare analyzed based on the requirements of IFRIC 4 - Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease,
andifthey include embedded lease elements, the revenues attributableto these are recognized according to IAS 17 - Leases as
describedin Note 17.

Revenue from system integration contracts requiring the delivery of customized products and/or services is generally covered by one
of the following types of contracts: fixed-price or time and material-based.

Under IAS 18

For fixed-price contracts, revenue is generally recognized based on percentage of completion taking into account the proportionthat
contract costs incurred for work performed to date bearto the estimated total contract costs. Inthe case of contracts billed on the
basis of time and material, revenueis recognized asthe services are rendered.

Revenue from maintenance services (generally fixed fee per month) is recognized over the contractual period or asthe serices are
provided. Revenue from repairs, which are not part of the maintenance contract, billed on the basis of time and material used is
recognized as the services are provided.

Revenue from hardware and software sales or sales-type leasesis recognized when the risk of ownership is substantially transferred to
the customer, provided there are no unfulfilled obligations that affect the customer’s final acceptance of the arrangement. Any related
costs of these revenues are recognized when the revenueis recognized.

Revenues from construction contracts are accounted for using the percentage-of-completion method. The stage of completion is
determined onthe basisof the costsincurred to date as a proportionof the estimated total costs. Receivablesfrom construction
contracts are classified in the Statement of financial position as Trade receivables. If the total actual and estimated expensesexceed
revenues for aparticular contract, thetotal expected lossis recognized immediately (Directcosts) against a provision.

93



Under IFRS 15

MT transfers control of goods and services overtime and, therefore, satisfies a performance obligation and recognizes revenue over
time, if one of the following criteria is met:

= a customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefit provided by MT'sperformance asMT performs
= MT’s performance creates orenhances assets that the customer controls as the asset is created orenhanced
= MT’s performance does notcreate an asset with an alternative use to MT and MT has an enforc eable right to payment for performance
completedto date.
If the performance obligation is not satisfied over time, MT satisfies the performance obligation at a pointin time.

Revenue from maintenance services (generally fixed fee per month) is recognized over time. Revenue from repairs, which are notpart
of the maintenance contract, billed on the basis of time and material used is recognized at point in time.

Revenue from hardware salesor sales-typeleases is recognized when the customer obtains the control overthe product.

To determine the progress of performance Magyar Telekom Group is applying the Input method. MT recognize revenue on the basis of
the MT’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a performance obligation (resources consumed, labour hours expended, costincurred,
time elapsed ormachine hours used) relative to the total expected inputsto the satisfaction of the performance obligation.

18.3 Revenue in the Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
18.3.1 Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

The 2018 balances inthe below table were determined with regard to IFRS 15 whilethe 2017 balances are shownbased on IAS 18
andIAS 11. The effects of the IFRS 15 transition are disclosedin Note 1.3.

For the year ended December 31,

In HUF millions 2017 2018
Mobile revenues
Voice retail 141,185 133,512
Voice wholesale 9,987 9,845
Data 73,992 80,881
SMS 17,259 19,175
Equipment 64,210 87,423
Other mobile revenues 16,023 12,309
Total Mobile revenue 322,656 343,145
Fixedline revenues
Voice retail 45,977 42,695
Broadband retail 49,334 51,449
TV 45,188 47,098
Equipment 9,254 18,132
Data retail 10,690 9,367
Wholesale 19,050 19,879
Other fixed linerevenues 16,615 18,281
Total Fixed line revenue 196,108 206,901
System integration and IT revenue 87,485 107,058
Revenue from energyservices 4,602

610,851 657,104
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For the year ended December 31,

In HUF millions 2017 2018
Total revenue: 610,851 657,104
Ofwhich:

Revenue from cortracts with customers n.a. 639,605
Other sources n.a. 17,499

Other sources of revenueinclude real estate and network rental fees whichare presented above in the Fixed line wholesale and Fixed
line other revenue lines.

Equipment revenueis recognized ata point intime while service revenue is recognized over time. SI/IT revenue isrecognized mostly
over time andto a lesser extent at a pointin time depending on the project. In 2018 approximately 70% of SI/IT revenue was
recognized overtime.

None of the Group’s customers representa significant source of revenue. Revenues from transactions with a single external customer
(or group of entitiesthat - knowinglyto us - are under common control of a third party or government) do not exceed 10 percent of
the Group’s revenues.

Regarding geographical segmentationof revenue please see note 33.
18.4 Assets and liabilities related to contracts with customers

Contract assets of the Group consist of unbilled amountstypically resulting from sales underlong-termcontracts when revenue
recognized exceeds the amount billed to the customer. The current portion of contract assets is included in Trade receivables and
other assets in the Consolidated statement of financial position. The non current portion of contract assetsis includedin Othernon
currentfinancial assetsin the Consolidated statement of financial position.

Contract liabilities consist of advance payments and billingsin excess of costsincurred and deferred revenue . The current portion of
contract liabilities is included in Other current liabilities inthe Consolidated statement of financial position. The non current portion of
contract liabilities is included in Othernon current liabilities in the Consolidated statement of financial position.

At December 31,

In HUF millions 2017 2018
Contract assets - current - 17,820
Contract assets - non current - 3,560
Contract liabilities- current - (12,372)
Contract liabilities - non current - (428)
Net contract assets (liabilities) - 8,580
Revenue recognized inthe reporting period from

Amounts included in contract liability at the beginning of the period - 7,700
Asset recognized from the costs to obtain contracts with customers 4,532
Amortisation recognized as cost of obtaining contracts during the 3 (5,721)

period

The increasein our net contract assets from December 31, 2017 to December 31, 2018 was primarily due to thefirst-time application
of IFRS 15. Contract assetsincreased during 2018 as a result of the new 2018 contracts with telecommunication customers of the
Group.

Contract liabilitiesincreased during 2018 as a result of new prepaid subscription contracts and construction contracts.
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Impairmentlosses recognized on contract assets are disclosed together with trade receivables in Note 4.2.2.2 and theyamounted to
HUF 1,469 million as atDecember31, 2018.

As of December 31, 2018 the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligation isHUF
132,042 millionand the Group will recognize this revenue as servicesare rendered, which isexpected to occur over the next 13-30
months.

The Group did not account for revenue recognized in the reporting period from performance obligations satisfied (or partially satisfied)
in previous periodsas IFRS 15 wasadopted in 2018.

19 DIRECT COSTS
For the year ended December 31,

In HUF millions 2017 2018
Interconnect costs 18,885 20,641
SI/IT service related costs 60,438 75,849
Telecom tax (a) 25,085 25,487
Bad debt expense 5,520 9,496
Energy service related costs 4,787 -
Other directcosts (b) 131,062 155,458

245,777 286,931

(a) Telecom tax was introduced in Hungary for fixed and mobile voice and mobile SMS/MMS services, effectivefromJuly 1, 2012. The
taximposed on fixed and mobile usage amounts to HUF 2 per minute and HUF 2 per SMS/MMS for privateindividual subscribers’
subscriptionsandto HUF 3 per minute and HUF 3 per SMS/MMS for non-private individual subscribers' subscriptions. The taxis
capped at HUF 700 and HUF 5,000 per month per calling number for private and non-private individuals’ subscriptions, respectively.

(b) Other direct costs include costs of mobile and fixed device, accessoriesand other equipment, agent commissionsand non-voice
direct costs.

20 EMPLOYEE RELATED EXPENSES

20.1 Employee related expenses - accounting policies
20.1.1 Shortterm employee benefits

Shortterm employee benefits are recognized as acurrent expense in the period when employees rendertheir services. Theseinclude
wages, social security contributions, bonuses, paid holidays, discounted telephone bills, meal and holiday contributions and other
fringe benefitsand the tax charges thereon.

Payments to defined contribution pension and other welfare plans are recognized as an expense inthe period inwhich they are
earned by the employees.

20.1.2 Share based compensation

Magyar Telekomrecognizes the costs of services received from its employees in ashare based payment transaction when services are
received. Magyar Telekom recognizes acorresponding increase inits equity reserves (Reserve forequity settled share based
transactions)if the servicesarereceived in anequity-settled share based payment transaction. When the share based compensation
program is completed, i.e. the shares are transferred to the employees’ ownership or the share options have forfeited, the respective
reserve istransferred to Retained earnings. If the services are received in a cash-settled share based payment transaction, the Group
recognizesthe expense against a liability, re-measured to fairvalue at each financial statement date.
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Fair values are determined using optionpricing models (such as Black -Scholes and Monte Carlo simulation) and other relevant
techniques. As Magyar TelekomPlc.and DT AG arelisted and activelytraded on the stock exchanges, the share pricesand their
history are readily available as a basis forfairvalue calculations.

Bonuses tied to the long term performance of the Magyar Telekom and Deutsche Telekomshares are recognized in the Profit for the
year at theirtime-proportioned fair value against an accumulating balance inProvisions.

20.1.2.1 Share Matching Plan of Magyar Telekom’s CEO

In December 2011 the Board of Directors approved the implementation of the revolving Share Matching Plan of Magyar Telekom. The
program was implemented forthe CEO of Magyar Telekomstarting in 2012. Anamount of minimum 10% of the gross annual bonus of
the CEO was to be invested in shares of Magyar Telekom. The CEO had the option of voluntary increase to a maximumof 33.3% of his
bonus. These shares are to be held for a period of at least 4 years(lock-up period). Afterthe lock-up period of 4 years haspassed, one
additional share (matching share) will be granted for every share acquired as part of the aforementioned personalinvestment. The
program was planned to be revolving in 5 consecutive years starting in 2012,

Magyar Telekomimplemented amendments to the CEQ’s Share Matching Plan from July 1, 2015 so that the CEO had to invest in DT
shares instead of MT shares. The other principlesremained the same.

The Share Matching Plan of Magyar Telekom’s CEO wasended on December 31, 2017. In 2018 no expenses were recognized for the
program (2017: HUF 5 million).

20.1.2.2 Share Matching Plan of Deutsche Telekom

As of July 1, 2015, Magyar Telekom Group implemented Share Matching Plan for all executives (cca. 60). Participationin the program
is voluntary, with the exceptionof the CEQ, who is obliged to participate in the program with the conditions above.

The participant is required to invest a minimum of 10% of his/her gross annual bonus in Deutsche Telekom shares, with an option to
voluntary increase this amount to a maximum of 33.3% (personal investment). These shares shall be kept forat least 4 years (the lock-
up period), the participant is granted matching sharesupon expiry of the lock-up period. The share allocation ratio of the program (1:1,
1:2 or 1:3) depends on the evaluationof the participant's performance in the previous year. Deutsche Telekom grants the matching
shares to the participant based on the acquired Deutsche Telekom shares by the participantwithin the framework of the program. The
program startsannually if the free cash flow target of Deutsche Telekom Group was met in the previous year.

In 2018 HUF 28 million was recognized as expenses forthe program (2017: HUF 27 million).
20.1.2.3 Long-term incentive program (LTI)

As of January 1, 2015 Magyar Telekom Group changed its existing LTI program, turning it into a share-based compensation program.
Approximately 60 executives may participate in the program. The CEO’s participation isunconditional, while other executives may
participate only if the evaluation of the participant's performancein the previous year meets the requirements.

LTlis payable in cashtied to the achievement of four key strategic indicators. Inthe framework of the program, ineach year a new four-
year tranche isto be launched. Payment is due after the end of the program term dependingon the evaluation of the achievement of
the pre-set targets (0 to 150%).

Atthe beginning of the program, the relevantincentive amount is converted into anumber of virtual shares of DTAG and awarded to
the plan participantin the formof virtual shares (basic number). The annual level of target achievement isdetermined at the end of
eachyear. This target achievement levelis multiplied on a pro rata basis by the basic number of virtual shares awarded. The number of
virtual shares calculated using this method shallthen be "fixed" for the plan participantas the binding result forthat spe cific year
("annual result"). Atthe end of the plan term, the four binding annualresults shall be added together. The resulting total number of
virtual shares shall be converted intocash applyingthe then prevailing share price of DTAG, whichis paid to the plan parti cipants. For
dividend payments during the plan term, the virtual shares shall be treated as real shares. The dividends shall be taken into account as
follows: The first/second/third dividend payments shall be “reinvested” intovirtual shares when the actual dividends are paid on real
shares. The fourth (and last) dividend payment shall not be reinvested but paid incash together withthe plan payment following the
DTAG shareholders' meeting at which adecision is made regarding thisdividend payment. The plan currency is euro.

In 2018 HUF 620 millionwas recognized as expensesfor the program (201 7: HUF 380 million).
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20.1.2.4 Share transfer to ESOP Organization

InJuly 2016 Magyar Telekomlaunched a RemunerationPolicy based employee share ownership program (ESOP) under which
Magyar Telekomshares were distributed to the vast majority of the employees of Magyar Telekom Plc. and T-SystemsHungaryLtd..
This program was in addition to the Company’sregular remuneration package. The award of shares was contingent on the Company’s
actual interal operating Free Cash Flow of MT-Hungary segment of the yearending December 31, 2016 exceeding that of the year
ended December 31,2015. Each eligible individual wasentitled to receive 226 Magyar Telekomshares (in the value of HUF 100,000
calculated on the unweighted average share price of 20 trading days prior to June 30, 2016), along with any entitlementto the
dividends attachedto such shares and with no lock-up restrictions. In July 2016, the Company purchased 1,261,204 Magyar Telekom
shares inthe open market, which wascompleted by 272,432 treasury sharesto financethe program. In order to distribute the shares
an employee share ownership organization (ESOP Organization) was established by the Company and registered by the Metropolitan
Courtin 2016, which hasits supreme body appointed by the founder (i.e. the Company). Upon the confirmation of the improvement of
the oF CF of MT-Hungary segment by the Board of Directors in late February 2017, the ESOP Organization was expected to distribute
the shares amongst 6,646 employeesin April 2017, where each eligible individual was entitled to receive 226 shares.

Inaccordancewiththe ESOP Act the ESOP Organization managesthe financialinstruments provided to the ESOP Organization in
accordance with the effective remuneration policies approved by the Company and the Articles of Association of the ESOP
Organization.

The ESOP Organization is managed and represented by the managing director. The managing director is vested with powersto solely
represent the ESOP Organization. The managing directoris nominated and recalled by the supreme body. The managing director
shall not be instructed by the Founder or the Participants.

Magyar Telekomtransferred 1,533,636 treasury shares in August 2016 to the established ESOP Organization of which 25,764 shares
were sold by the ESOP Organizationdue to the revision of the number of the participants inthe program. The ESOP Organization is
fully consolidated fromits set up as it was established and it is controlled by the Company. As the improvement of the oF CF of MT-
Hungary segment was confirmed by the Board of Directors, the ESOP Organization distributed the shares amongst 6,452 employees
in April 2017,

In2017 HUF 164 millionwas recognized as expensesfor the program.
20.1.2.5 Bonus paymentvia ESOP Organization

By reshaping the currentremunerationstructure, the Company haslaunched anincentive program based on the new remuneration
policy in 2017, by whichthe corporate financial targets, approximately half (50%) of the total bonus, will be paid via the ESOP
Organization forMagyar TelekomPlc. and T-Systems Magyarorszag Zrt. eligible employees. Underthe newincentive program, the
Company purchased 4,534,758 Magyar Telekom sharesworth HUF 2,139 million during 2017 and additional 804,236 shares (HUF
364 million)in 2018. The purchased shares weretransferred to the ESOP Organization in severalinstallments. The vesting conditions
of the new program are (a) that the operating free cash flowforthe MT-Hungary segment forthe financial year ended December 31,
2017 to exceed that for the previous yearended December 31, 2016 and (b) that the respective employee isemployed by Magyar
Telekom Plc. or T-Systems Magyarorszag Zrt.in March 2018 (vesting date). In accordance with the remuneration program those
employees of the Company and T-Systems Magyarorszag Zrt. are rewarded who are underthe personal scope of the Remuneration
policy approved on February 22,2017 by the Company's Board of Directors.

As the vesting conditions were met the corporate financial target was paidin cash based on the employees’ claims arising from the
conversionof the Magyar Telekom ordinary shares transferred into cash which amounted to HUF 2,251 million in March2018 viathe
ESOP Organization. The Companyconsiders January 1, 2017 as grant date with respect to the initial assumptions of the newly formed
share based programbecausethe parties had a common understanding on the relevant terms defined by historical conditionsat that
date.

The Company was ableto cover the significant proportion of the bonus payments related to the corporate financial target viathe ESOP
based on the formulain the Remuneration policyand relevant internal regulation. The remaining part of the total bonus was granted to
the employees assupplementary benefitwhen the exchangerate for convertingthe sharesinto cash by the ESOP Organization was
already known. The Company was liable to repurchase the sharesunderthe Articles of Association of the ESOP Organization.

Employees who fell out of the scope of the Remuneration policy before the management of the ESOP Organizationasserted the
fulfillment of the vesting conditions, were not entitled forthe benefit viathe ESOP Organization, such benefits were paid off by the
Company under the relevant intemal regulations.
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In2017 HUF 2.1 billionwas recognized as the total expenses of the program which was recognized in the statement of financial
position as Other current liability.

The Company decided on further changes in the remunerationstructure for2018. Based on these changes significant portion of the
central bonus for2018 will be paid via the ESOP Organizationfor Magyar Telekom Plc. and T-Systems Hungary Ltd. eligible
employees. To operate the incentive program, in addition to the treasury sharesheld by the Company, further Magyar Telekom shares
worth HUF 1,458 million was purchased from the stock exchange and 8,845,794 Magyar Telekomsharesworth HUF 3,846 million
were transferred to the ESOP Organization together with the shares bought back from ESOP at bonus payment for program 2017.

The remunerationcondition of the new program is a) the operating free cash flow forthe MT-Hungary segment for the financial year
ended December 31,2018 to exceed thatfor the previousyearended December 31, 2017 and b) that the affected employeeis
employed by Magyar Telekom Plc. or T-Systems Magyarorszag Zrt. in March 2019 (vesting date). If the remunerationcondition is met,
the relevant compensation will be paid in cash by the ESOP Organization through conversion of the Magyar Telekomshares provided,
expectedly in March 2019.

The Company considers January 1, 2018 as grant date withrespect to the initial assumptions of the share based program because the
parties had a common understanding on the relevant termsdefined by historical conditions at that date.

The Company is expected to be ableto cover the significant proportion of the bonus paymentsrelated to the corporate financial target
viathe ESOP based on the formulain the Remuneration policy and relevant interal regulation. The remaining part of the totalbonus
will be granted to the employeesas supplementary benefit when the exchange rate for converting the shares into cash by the ESOP
Organization isalready known. The Company is liable to repurchase the shares under the Atticles of Association of the ESOP
Organization.

As the number of effected employeesis uncertain for calculating the starting number of shares, fluctuationrates were considered and
the exchange rate is fixed at the 2018 March 20-day-average closingrate of Magyar Telekom shares.

Employees who fall out of the scope of the Remuneration policy before the management of the ESOP Organizationassertsthe
fulfillment of the vesting conditions, are not entitled for the benefit via the ESOP Organization, such benefits will be paid off by the
Company under the relevant intemal regulations.

In 2018 HUF 3.4 billionwas recognized as the total expenses of the program which was recognized in the Consolidated statement of
financial positionas Other currentliability. The ESOP Orgainzation owns 8,732,763 Magyar Telekom shares on December 31, 2018.

20.1.3 Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable whenever an employee’s employment isterminated beforethe nominal retirement date or whenever
an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange forthese benefits. The Group recognizes terminationbenefits when itis
demonstrably committed to eitherterminate the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without the
possibility of withdrawal or to provide termination benefits as aresult of anoffer made to encourage voluntary redundancy.
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20.2 Employee related expenses in the Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

For the year ended December 31,

In HUF millions 2017 2018
Shortterm benefits(Notes20.1.1) 80,562 81,447
Termination benefits (Note 20.1.3) 3,618 4,495
Equity settled share based compensations (Notes 20.1.2.1 and 32 28
20.1.2.2)
Cash settled share based compensations (Note 20.1.2.3) 380 620
Employee share ownership program (ESOP Note 20.1.2.4) 164
Bonus payment via ESOP (Note 20.1.2.5) 2,131 3,391
Total before capitalization 86,887 89,981
Expenses capitalized (6,647) (7,013)
80,240 82,968
Total costs expensed in relation to defined contribution plans 16,288 15,417
(including social security contribution)
Average number of employees(fulltime equivalent) 9,135 9,160
Closing number of employees (full time equivalent) 9,154 8,948

21 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

For the year ended December 31,

In HUF millions 2017 2018
Rental and leasing expenses 17,931 19,652
Marketing expenses 11,383 11,491
Utility tax (a) 7,418 7,159
Energy costs 8,351 7,130
Cost of other purchased services (b) 52,408 50,204
Other operating expenses 8,427 8,279
105,918 103,915

Research as well asmarketing costsare expensed as incurred. Research costs recognized by the Group were not material in either of

the presented years.

(a) Utility tax

In 2012 the Hungarian Parliament adopted an act imposing a newtax on utility networks, effective fromJanuary 1, 2013. The act
provides that a tax of HUF 125 per meter s levied on the owners of ducts providing for electricity, telecommunication, natural gas,
heating, water and wastewater services. Fortelecommunication networks, the level of tax levied depends on the length of ducts
(applicableas of 1 January 2014): forthe ducts not exceeding the first 200 000 meter length no taxes have to be paid for. 30% of the
HUF 125 per meter is levied on between 200,000 and 350,000 meter lengthof ducts, 75% islevied between 350,000 and 500,000
meters, whilethe total HUF 125 per meter has to be paid for all ducts above 500,000 meters.
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(b) Audit costs included in Cost of other purchased services

Cost of other purchased services among others include expenses incurred in relation to the audit of the standalone and consolidated
financial statements of the members of the Group as well as other services provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) as follows.

For the year ended December 31,

In HUF millions 2017 2018

Audit of the financial statements 380 438
Other audit related fees 29 43
Other non audit related fees - 4
Total expenses payable to PwC 409 522

Audit of the financial statements isthe aggregate fees of PwC in connection with the audit of ourannualfinancial statementsand
services performed in relation to legal obligations and submissions required by regulatory provisions.

Other audit-related feesarethe aggregate fees of PwC for review of the second quarterly report and services which are normally
performed by the external auditor inconnectionwith the auditing of the annualfinancial statements, e.g. advice onissues of
accounting and reporting, which were not classified as audit services.

Other non audit related fees are fees of PwC primarily related to consulting services and services like participation by Magyar Telekom
employees in conferences andtraining sessions organized by PwC.

22 OTHER OPERATING INCOME

For the year ended December 31,

In HUF millions 2017 2018
Gsér;dofr;trhsz;s:!igl‘ PPE, Intangible assets and assets 1,290 4,604
Income rgceivedforthe ‘ 939 1127
relocation and reconstructionof our ownnetwork
Brandlicense fee 500 300
Income from insurance compensation 163 123
Income from intra-DT group supportservices 104 49
Other 3,750 3,014
6,746 9,217

The increase of Other operating income reflects the one-off gain realized on the sale of the old headquarters.
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23 INTEREST INCOME

For the year ended December 31,

In HUF millions 2017 2018
Interestincome on financial assets 327 276
Finance leaseinterestincome 27 19
Reversal of interest elementof provisions 175 52
Dividendincome 14 16
543 363

24 INTEREST EXPENSE
For the year ended December 31,

In HUF millions 2017 2018
Interest expense payable to DT 9,094 8,818
Other interest expense 3,212 3,303
Finance leaseinterest expense 1,209 1,214
Accretion / interest on provisions 49 219
less: borrowing costs capitalized (39) (131)
13,525 13,423

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset form part of the cost of
that asset. Otherborrowing costs are recognized as an expense. Borrowing costs include interest and other costs that the Group
incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds. The borrowing costs eligible for capitalizationare capitalized applying the weighted
average of the borrowing costs applicable to the general borrowings of the Group that are outstanding during the period. A qualifying
assetis an asset that necessarily takesa substantial period of time, ingeneral over 12 months, to get ready for its intended use.

Total Interestexpense is shown net of borrowing costs capitalized using average borrowing rates of 3.04%-3.40% in2018 (2017:
2.92%-3.46% ). Whencalculating the borrowing rates, Otherfinance expenses (included in Note 25) are also considered.
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25 OTHERFINANCE EXPENSE -NET

For the year ended December 31,

In HUF millions 2017 2018

Fee expense 4,856 4,416
Net foreign exchange losses / (gains) on financial instruments (1,107) 5,963
Other net foreign exchange losses/ (gains) 123 (325)
Losses /(gains) on the subsequent measurement of derivatives 4,448 (3,048)

contracted with related parties

Losses/ (gains) on the subsequent measurement of derivatives 3 )
contracted with third parties

Losses /(gains) on the subsequent measurement of financial assets ) (38)
atfair valuethrough profit or loss (other than derivatives)

Losses /(gains) on the subsequent measurement of financial ) (8)
liabilities at fair value through profit orloss (other than derivatives)

Losses/(gains) onthe derecognitionof derivatives contracted with 337 (2,236)
related parties

Losses /(gains) on the derecognition of derivatives contracted with (12)
third parties

Losses /(gains) on the derecognition of equity instruments

(Reclassifications from Other comprehensiveincome)

8,645 4,724

26 CHANGESIN THE GROUP

26.1 Business combinations

26.1.1 Acquisition of ITgen Kft.

In November 2017 T-SystemsMagyarorszag Zrt. signed a Share Purchase Agreement to acquire a 100% stake in ITgen Kft., an SAP

technology and security specialist, for a purchase price plus a potential eamout payment totalling to a maximumof HUF 1.2 billion,
dependent on 2018, 2019 and 2020 financial performance. The closing of the transaction took place inJanuary 2018.
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The carrying valuesof assets and liabilities acquired as well as the consideration transferred are disclosed in the table be low.

In HUF millions Carrying
values
Considerationtransferred 1,249
Less: Fair value of the netassets acquired (873)
Goodwill 376

Net assets acquired:

Cashand cash equivalents 137
Trade and other receivables 1565
Brand 123
Property, plant and equipment 6
Customer value 688
Trade and other payables (163)
Deferred tax liability (73)

873

From the total purchase price HUF 799 million was paid in cash in2018 while the earmout payment of HUF 450 milliondepending on
the 2018, 2019 and 2020 performance of the companywill be paid in the relevant years.

26.1.2 Acquisition of SERVERINFO

In October 2016 T-Systems Magyarorszag Zrt. signed anagreement with WING Group to buy 100% of SERVERINFOINGATLANKit.
(Serverinfo). As a resultof the transaction Magyar Telekom Group gained ownership of the property where itshighly secure data center
with state of the arttechnical infrastructure is located. The value of the transaction was EUR 14.4 million (approximately HUF 4.4
billion) including loans of HUF 3.2 billion of Serverinfo, which were repaid subsequent to the closing of the transaction. Serverinfo
manages the rentals and the maintenance of the property where the data center of T-SystemsMagyarorszag Zrt. is located. The
majority of the considerationrelates to the fairvalue of the property. The closing of the transaction took place inJanuary 2017.

The carrying valuesof assets and liabilities acquired as well as the consideration transferred are disclosed in the table be low.

In HUF millions Carrying
values
Considerationtransferred 1,485
Less: Fair value of the netassets acquired (1,150)
Goodwill 335

Net assets acquired:

Cashandcash equivalents 475
Trade and other receivables 55
Income tax receivables 1
Property, plant and equipment 4,079
Loans (3,203)
Trade and other payables (138)
Deferred tax liability (119)

1,150

The total purchase pricewas paid in cashin 2017.

Serverinfo and GTS Hungary Kft. merged into TSMHungary Zrt. as of September 30, 2017. Magyar Telekom made its decision on the
merger in line with its portfalio simplification strategy.
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26.1.3 Cable TV network and operations

In2018 and 2017, the Group acquired a number of cable TV businessesin individually insignificant transactions. All these acquisitions
qualified as business combinations of the MT-Hungary operating segment. The vast majority of the total purchase price was paidin
cashin2018and2017.

The table below shows the summary of the individually insignificant transactions.

In HUF millions 2017 2018

Considerationtransferred 2,428 1,092
Less: Fair value of the netassets acquired (2,132) (648)
Goodwill 206 444

26.2 Disposals of subsidiaries
26.2.1 Sale of Crnogorski Telekom A.D.

InJanuary 2017, the Companysigned a share purchase agreementwith Hrvatski Telekom d.d. forthe sale of the total of its 76.53%
shareholding in Crnogorski Telekom A.D. for a total considerationof EUR 123.5 million (HUF 38.5 billion). The closing of the
transaction took place inJanuary 2017.

This subsidiarywas previously not classified as held for sale but it was considered as a separate cash generating unitand reportable
segment as well, therefore the sale constituted a discontinued operation. Impact on the segmentdisclosures isin Note 33.2.1. The
comparative consolidated statementof profit or loss and other comprehensive income has beenrestated to show the discontinued
operation separately from continuingoperations of the Group. In the Consalidated Statements of cashflows the proceeds from the
sale of subsidiaries and business units are disclosed net of the Cashand cash equivalents of the subsidiaries sold.

26.2.1.1 Results of the discontinued operation

In HUF millions For the year ended
December 31,

2017 2018
Revenues 2,027
Direct costs (533)
Employee related expenses (332)
Depreciation and amortization (517)
Other operating expenses (525)
Operating expenses (1,907)
Other operating income 73
Operating profit 193
Net financial result 7
Income tax fromdiscontinued operations (23)
Profit aftertax fromdiscontinued operations 177
Gain on sale of discontinued operation 10,504
Income tax on gainon sale of discontinued operation (1,155)
Profit for the year from discontinued operations 9,526
Other comprehensive income fromdiscontinued operations (12,512)
Total comprehensiveincome from discontinued operations (2,986)
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26.2.1.2 Effect of the disposal on the financial position of the Group

In HUF millions At disposal in2017
Cash and cash equivalents 2,062
Trade and other receivables 8,860
Other current financial assets 452
Other current assets 736
Inventories 558
Property, plant and equipment 24,079
Intangible assets (including goodwill) 21,977
Deferred tax assets 718
Other non current financial assets 3,060
Other non current assets 540
Currentfinancial liabiliies (2,826)
Other current liabilities (1,099)
Trade payables (9,260)
Currentincometax payable (408)
Provisions (215)
Non current financial liabilities (590)
Deferred tax liabilities (1,439)
Netassets and liabilities 47,205
Considerationreceived 38,458
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of 2,062
Netcashinflows 36,396

26.3 Pro forma information

The pro forma informationshowsthe most importantfinancial data of the Group, as if the business combinations that took pla ce inthat
year had been consolidated fromthe beginning of the year of acquisition, and also how much the business combinationcontributed to
the reported figuressince the acquisition date. Cable TV acquisitions wereinsignificant in 2017 and 2018 therefore their contribution
tothe Group’s operations was also insignificant. The 2017 sale of Cmogorski TelekomA.D. is considered as a discontinued operation,
which resulted in represented 2016 figures. As Serverinfo and ITgenKft. were acquired in January 2017 and January 2018,
respectively, and theirinclusion in the Group’s operations was not significant, they do not affect the pro formainformation.

27 EARNINGSPER SHARE

Basic earningsper shareis calculated by dividing profit attributable to the owners of the Company forthe period by the weighted
average number of common stocks outstanding. Diluted earnings per shareis calculated considering the weighted average number of
diluting share options (if any) in addition to the number of commonstocks outstanding.
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28 PURCHASE OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENTAND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The table below shows the reconciliation of investments in property, plantand equipment and intangible assets and the cash
payments made for these investments from continuing operations. The investments in both property, plant and equipmentand
intangible assets of discontinued operations are included inthe Net cash used in investing activities fromdiscontinued operations line
ofthe Consolidated Statementof cashflows. Capitalized borrowing costs are included inthe Investmentsin PPE and intangible assets,
where applicable.

For the year ended December 31,

In HUF millions 2017 2018

Investments in property, plant and equipment (Note 9.2) 57,278 62,173
Investments in intangible assets(Note 10.2) 28,920 45,372
Total investments inPPE and intangible assets 86,198 107,545
Capitalized annual frequencyfee payable (a) (4,391)
Net change of advances received for asset-related grants (b) 456 2,797
Capitalized leases (c) (272) (343)
Change in trade payables relating to capital expenditures (d) 4,418 (11,920)
Cash payments for purchases of PPE and intangible assets 90,800 93,688

(a) Capitalized annual frequency fee payable

The present value of the annualfrequency fees iscapitalized as partof the intangible asset (Licenses) if the future paymentscanbe
reliablyestimated, however, these fees are paid in cash in subsequent periods. The cash payments on the discounted liability are
included in the Repayment of other financial liabilities line of the Financing cash flow, while the interest payments accruing on the
discounted liability are included inthe Interest and otherfinancial charges paid line of the Operating cash flow. The significant license
acquisitionin 2018 is describedin Note 10.

(b) Advances received for asset-related grants

In2016 HUF 12.2 billionof EU funds have been granted to Magyar Telekom Plc. (Details in Note 14 (a).) HUF 5.1 billionwere received
by the Company as advance forthis grant, and none of this was used up in 2016. In 2017, additional HUF 1.0 billionwere received by
the Company as advance forthis grant,and HUF 1.4 billion of this was used up. In2018, additional HUF 1.8billion was used up from
the grant. As such grantsare deducted from the original cost of the items (Note 10.1), the amountreducescash payments for
purchases of PPE and intangible assets.

(c) Capitalized leases

Investments in PPE as a result of finance lease transactions do not usually resultin immediate cash payments. The cashpayments
throughout the lease term appearas Repayment of other financial liabilities (Financing cash flow) and Interest and otherfinancial
charges paid (Operating cash flow).

(d) Change in trade payables relating to capital expenditures

Change in payables relating to capital expenditures includes the effect thatthe actual cash setiement of the vendor invoices is made
subsequent to the recognition of the investment.
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29 PURCHASE OF SUBSIDIARIES AND BUSINESS UNITS

For the year ended December 31,

In HUF millions 2017 2018

Acquisitionof ITgen Kft.(Note 26.1.1) - 920
Acquisitionof Serverinfo (Note 26.1.2) 1,485 -
Cable TV businesses (Note 26.1.3) 2,306 1,125
Cash payments for purchases of subsidiaries and business units 3,791 2,045

Cash payments related to the purchases of subsidiaries and business units include advance payments made before the closingof the
transaction, theinitial purchase price paid on the closing of the transaction as well as amounts paid as additional continge nt purchase
prices disbursed inyears following the year of the business combination.

30 CONTINGENT ASSETSAND LIABILITIES

30.1 Contingent assets

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises frompast events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurre nce of
uncertain future events not within the control of the Group. These assets are notrecognized in the statement of financial position.

The Group has no contingencies where the inflow of economic benefitswould be probable and material.
30.2 Contingent liabilities

No provision isrecognized for contingentliabilities. A contingent liability isa possible obligation thatarisesfrompast events and
whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one ormore uncertain future events (excluding
executory contracts) not wholly within the contral of the entity; ora present obligation that arisesfrom past events but is notrecognized
because itis not probable thatan outflow of resources embodying economic benefitswill be required to settle the obligation orthe
amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

The most significant contingent liabilities of the Group are described below. No provisions have beenrecognized for these cases as
management estimates that itis unlikely thatthese claims originating from pastevents would result in any material economic outflows
from the Group, or theamount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

30.2.1 Hungary
30.2.1.1 Guarantees

Magyar TelekomPlc. is exposed to risksthat arise fromthe possible drawdown of guarantees for which see more details inNote 4.5.4.
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31 PURCHASE COMMITMENTS

31.1 Purchase commitments for tangible and intangible assets

The table below summarizes Magyar Telekom's contractual purchase commitments for tangible and intangible assets with the majority
falling due within two years.

At December 31,
In HUF millions 2017 2018
Property, plant and equipment 9,813 5,433
Intangible assets 5,310 6,499
Total 15,123 11,932

31.2 Purchase commitments for businesses

As at December 31, 2018 and 2017 the Group had no significant committed business combinations.

32 RELATEDPARTY TRANSACTIONS

No impairment was recognized for receivables fromrelated parties inthe reported years.
32.1 Deutsche Telekom Group and the Federal Republic of Germany
32.1.1 Deutsche Telekom Group

Deutsche Telekom AGis the ultimate (indirect) controlling owner of Magyar TelekomPlc. holding 59.21% of the voting rights attached
to the Company’s shares. Deutsche Telekom Group has a number of fixed line, mobile and IT service provider subsidiaries worldwide,
with whom Magyar Telekom Group has regulartransactions.

Deutsche Telekom International Finance (DTIF) isthe treasury center of DT Group, which typically provides loan financing acr oss the
DT Groupincluding Magyar Telekom.

The table below summarizesthe above related party transactions and balances with DT Group.

In HUF millions 2017 2018

Revenues from services provided to DT Group companies 18,370 19,854
Costs of services provided by DT Group companies (13,151) (15,921)
Income from support services provided to DT Group companies 104 49
Interest expense to DTIF (2,297) (2,172)
Interest expense to DTAG (6,797) (6,646)
Dividend paid to parent company 15,436 15,516
Accounts receivablefrom DT Group companies 9,029 10,143
Accounts payable to DT Group companies (12,026) (11,119)
Loans payable to DTIF (101,838) (87,824)
Loans payable to DTAG (153,353) (140,000)
Fair value of swap agreementswithDTAG - asset 2,978 1,026
Fair value of swap agreementswith DTAG - liability (5,612) 612)

Deutsche Telekom has pledged its support for Magyar Telekom'’s budgeted financing needs through to June 30, 2020.
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32.1.2 The Federal Republic of Germany

The Federal Republic of Germany is both a direct and an indirect shareholder and holds approximately 32 percent of the share capital
of DTAG. Due to the average attendance at the shareholders’ meetings, the Federal Republic of Germany represents a solid majority at
the shareholders’ meetings of DTAG, although itonly has a minority shareholding, making DTAG adependant company of the Federal
Republic. Therefore, the Federal Republic and the companies controlled by the Federal Republic or companies over which the Federal
Republic can exercise a significant influence are classified as related parties of DTAG, and consequently of Magyar Telekom aswell.

DTAG and Magyar Telekom did not execute as part of itsnormal business activities anytransactions that were individually material in
the 2018 or 2017 financial yearwith companies controlled by the Federal Republic or companiesoverwhichthe Federal Republic can
exercisea significantinfluence.

32.2 Associates and jointventures
The Group has no significant associatesand the transactions with themare not material.

E2 Hungary Zrt.is a joint venture of the Magyar Telekom Group since July 9,2015 and providesenergy services for business
customers. Seealso note 11.3. The Group did not have material transactions withits joint venture ineither 2017 or 2018.

32.3 Board and Supervisory Board members

For the year ended December 31,

In HUF millions 2017 2018
Remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors 16 16
Remuneration of the members of the Supervisory Board 63 63

Loans grantedto the members of the Board of Directors - -
Loans granted to the members of the Supervisory Board 2 1

Loans granted to the members of the Supervisory Board are limited to the employee delegates and had beengranted to themin their
capacity asemployees.
32.4 Key management

Key management has been identified as the members of the Company’s Management Committee, which isthe chief operating
decision making body of Magyar Telekom.

The table below shows intotal the compensation expenses (includingsocial securityand other payroll related taxes) incurred by the
Groupinrelationto the keymanagement.

For the year ended December 31,

In HUF millions 2017 2018
Salaries and other shorttermemployee benefits 1,168 969
Contractual termination expense - -
Share based compensation (Note 20.1) 25 8
1,193 977

Of which costs expensed in relation to defined contribution plans (including
social security contribution)

The Group does not provideloans to its key management.
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33 REPORTABLE SEGMENTSAND INFORMATIONABOUT GEOGRAPHICAL AREAS

33.1 Segmentinformation

The Group’s segments are reported in a manner consistent with the intemal reporting provided to the chief operating decision makers,
the members of the Management Committee (MC) of Magyar Telekom Plc. The MCisresponsible for allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the operating segments on a monthly basis. The accounting policiesand measurement principlesof the
operating segments arevery similarto those applied forthe Group described inthe previous sub-notes of the Summary of significant
accounting policies. The differences primarily originate fromthe fact that the operating segments’ annualresults are determined and
closed atan earlier stage, around January 8-10 each year, than these Financial statements. Any items discovered and requiring
adjustment betweenthe closing date of the segment results and the approval date of the Financial statements are reflected inthe next
year’s segment results.

The operating segments’ revenuesinclude revenues from external customers aswell as the interal revenues generated from inter-
segment support services.

The operating segments’ results are monitored by the MC down to EBITDA (Earnings before interest, tax, depreciationand
amortization) level, which is defined by the Group as Operating profit without Depreciation and amortizationexpense.

The MC does not monitorthe assets and liabilities at segmentlevel.

Another important KPl monitored at segment level is capital expenditure (Capex), which is determined as the annual investments in
PPE and Intangible assets.

33.2 Reportable segments

Asof Q1 2017, Magyar Telekom’soperating segmentsare MT-Hungary and Macedonia. Magyar Telekomdisposed of its majority
stake in Crnogorski Telekom A.D.in January, 2017, and as such, the Montenegrinsegment is no longer part of the Group’s
consolidated results. Further information about this discontinued operation is provided in Note 26.2.1.

The MT-Hungarysegment operates inHungary, providing mobile and fixed linetelecommunications, TV distribution, information
communication and system integration servicesto millions of residential and business customers under the Telekom and T-Systems
brands. Residential and SMB customers are served by the Telekom brand and key business customers (large corporate and public
sector customers) are served by the T-Systems brand. The MT-Hungary segment is also responsible forthe wholesale of mobile and
fixed line services withinHungary, and performsstrategic and cross-divisional management, as well as support functions on behalf of
the Group including Procurement, Treasury, Real Estate, Accounting, Tax, Legal and Internal Audit. This segment is also responsible
for the Group’s points of presence inBulgaria and Romania, which mainly provide wholesale services to local companies and
operators. The Macedonian segment isresponsible for the Group’s full-scale mobile and fixed line telecommunications operations in
Macedonia.

33.2.1 Information regularly provided to the Management Committee (MC)

The following tables present the segment information by reportable segment regularly provided to the MC of the Company, reconciled
to the corresponding Group numbers. The informationregularly provided to the MCincludes several measures of profit which are
considered forthe purposes of assessing performance and allocating resources, including EBITDA adjusted forthe impact of certain
items considered as “special influence”. Theseitems vary year-over-year in nature and magnitude. Management believesthat
Revenue, EBITDA and Capexarethe segmentmeasures that are most consistent with the measurementprinciples used in measuring
the corresponding amountsin these financial statements.
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Revenues

In HUF millions

Total MT-HUNGArY rEVENUES .......eivviieciiece et
Less: MT-Hungaryrevenues from other segments
MT-Hungaryrevenues from external customers

Total Macedonia TeVENUES. .........ccuiiiiiiiiit s
Less: Macedoniarevenues from other segments

Macedoniarevenues from external customers

Total consolidated revenue of the SegMEents ...
Measurement differences / rounding between segmentand Group revenue
Total revenue of the Group from continuing operations.

Total Montenegro revenues (discontinued)........c.ovveririiriiiniieneieecece e
Less: Montenegro revenues from other ssgments (discontinued)
Montenegro revenues from external customers (discontinued)

Total revenue of the Group

MT-Hungary revenues

In HUF millions

S /T IBVBNUB. ...ttt ans
Revenue from ENergy SEIVICES......oiviviiiiiiecee e

Total revenue of the MT-Hungary segment

12

For the year ended

December 31,
2017 2018
559,248 602,609
(127) (117
559,121 602,492
51,795 54,680
(65) (68)
51,730 54,612
610,851 657,104
610,851 657,104
2,023
4
2,027 -
612,878 657,104

For the year ended

December 31,
2017 2018
134,060 127,195
83,381 91,642
59,751 79,886
14,321 11,047
291,513 309,770
40,858 37,685
43,995 46,134
41,798 43,212
8,854 17,722
41,216 42,601
176,721 187,354
86,412 105,485
4,602
559,248 602,609




Macedonia revenues For the year ended
December 31,

In HUF millions 2017 2018

L Lo o= YT 17,112 16,162
1 o]0 Yo T = Y TP TR 7,870 8,414
EQUIDIMENL . 4,459 7,537
(1oL 1,709 1,266
TOtal MODIIE TEVENUE ...ttt ettt ettt e et et e e s 31,150 33,379
VOICE TEIAI ... 5119 5,008
Broadband - rtail ........ccveieecieeecece e 5,339 5,315
LN 2 3,390 3,886
EQUIPMBINL e 400 412
(1oL SRR 5,324 5,107
Total fIXEAHINE FEVENUE ...ttt 19,572 19,728
S /T IBVBNUB ...ttt sttt e e ars 1,073 1,573
Total revenue of the Macedonia segment 51,795 54,680

As other sources of revenue represent an insignificant part of total revenue, we assumed regarding segment revenue that total revenue
is revenue from contractswith customers.

Segmentresults (EBITDA) For the year ended
December 31,

In HUF millions 2017 2018
MT-HUNGAIY 1.t 164,968 170,776
1Y P ToT=Te (o] 1 - TS 20,225 21,365
Total EBITDA of the segments fromcontinuing operations...........c.cccceeevvevveivenenne. 185,193 192,141
Measurement differences / rounding between segmentand Group EBITDA.......... 469 366
Total EBITDA of the Group from continuing operations..........ccovececeeeeessecseseneas 185,662 192,507
Montenegro (AiSCONTNUE).......vieiieieeeeee e 702 -
Income from sale of Crogorski Telekom (segment Montenegro).........ccovevvevennee. 10,504

Measurement differences / rounding between segmentand Group EBITDA.......... 8

Total EBITDA of the Group from discontinued operations . 11,214 -
Total EBITDA Of the GroUP......ccecereersersersersesssssessessessessessessessessessessessasssssssssssssns 196,876 192,507
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Capital expenditure (Capex) on PPE and Intangible assets As atDecember 31,

In HUF millions 2017 2018

MT-HUNGAIY e 73,936 81,403
1Y P ToT=Te (o3 1F= TR 12,529 10,566
Montenegro (diSCONtINUE) .......voiviiieiiecieee e 177 -
Total capital expenditure of the SegmMeNts........ccccvevviiieiecice e 86,642 91,969
Acquisitionof mobile licenses (Note 10)......vevvieriiieiiiieieecee e - 15,713
Other measurement differences between segment and Group Capex ............... (267) (137)
Total investments of the Group in PPE and Intangible assets .........ccccceeuveenee. 86,375 107,545

The acquisition of mobilelicensesis not considered part of the Capex measure of the segments. Total investments of the Group in PPE
and Intangible assets correspond to the “Investments” lines disclosed inNotes 9, 10 and 28.

33.3 Information about geographical areas

The table below shows the revenues generated from extemnal customersin the countries where the Group operates, using the same
measurement principles asfor the corresponding Group numbers. As other sources of revenue represent an insignificant part of total
revenue, we assumed regarding geographical areas of revenue that total revenue is revenue fromcontracts with customers.

Revenues For the year ended
December 31,

In HUF millions 2017 2018

HUNGAIY ettt 554,831 596,603
1Y P ToTTe (o] o1 = N RSP UTRRRO 51,730 54,612
ROMANIA. 1. 2,307 3,579
BUIGAITA 11t 1,983 2,310
Total revenue of the Group from continuing operations.........ccceoveeeceerereecaencns 610,851 657,104
Montenegro (diSCONtINUEH) ......ceiiiiieiiicee s 2,027 -
Total revenue of the GroUP......c.cvcerrrrerserses s sesseessesnesnnans 612,878 657,104
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The table below shows the Non currentassets of the Group located in the countries of operations (including goodwill allocate d to
operating segments operating in these countries) and the reconciliation to the total Non current assets of the Group, using the same
measurement principles asfor the corresponding Group numbers.

Non current assets As atDecember 31,

In HUF millions 2017 2018
HUNGAIY ot 799,616 794,822
1Y F=ToT=Yo Lo 10 1= NPT 95,845 96,324
Montenegro (diSCONtINUE) .......vviviiieiiecieee e - -
BUIGAIA 1o 3,038 3,361
[ ToTaaF=Ta - NPT 1,429 1,607
Tgtal excluding Other non current financial assets, Investmentsin associates and 899,928 896,114
jointventures and Deferred taxassetS ... c.ovvivvivviriiiiiriiirieieceeere e

Other non current financial assets (Note 4.2.3.2) v..ovovvivvivviiiiiiicrcc s 19,323 24,985
Investments in associatesand joint ventures (Note 11) ..o, 1,324 1,393
Deferredtax assets (Nt 6.3.2) .vviviviviiiieii i 59 7
Total Non current assetsof the GroUD ... ..ceivieviiieiiiee e 920,634 922,569

34 REGULATED MARKETS AND PROCEDURES

Magyar Telekom’s primary activities arethe fixed line and mobile operations in Hungary and Macedonia. These services are partially
regulated by these countries’ lawsor other legislations. These services in most cases require request for service provision or
acquisition of requested rights, which usuallyrequires a one-off fee and annual payments.

The most important features of the regulations of these services are described below.
34.1 Hungarian Mobile

Magyar TelekomPlc. is the market leading mobile service provider inHungary. The Implementation of the EU New Regulatory
Framework (NRF) Review package had been completed by the amendment of the Act C of 2003 on Electronic Communications
(hereinafter: Communications Act). The National Media and Infocommunications Authority of Hungary (NMIAH) is the supreme
supervisorybody and s responsible for secondary legislation making and the preparation of relevant decrees.

InJune 2012, the Hungarian Parliament adopted the modification of the Electronic Communications Law extending the scope of
competence and tasks of the NMIAH. Pursuant to the amendment, all spectrum related issues are dealt with by the NMIAH.

On December 7, 2004, the Company obtained the spectrumusage right of certain frequency blocksin the 2100 MHz band forthe
deployment and operation of an IMT2000/UMTS mobile telecommunications system (3G system). The duration of the spectrum
license was 15 years (until December 7, 2019) that was extended for anather 7.5 years in December 2018 for a one-time fee of HUF 11
billion.

The Company won a tenderfor a spectrum usage right fora 26 GHzblock on April 30, 2009. OnMay 14,2012 the NMIAH granted
spectrum license to Magyar Telekom for 4 pieces of basic spectrumblocks (2 x 28 MHz each) in the 26 GHz band. Furthermore
Telekom acquired GTSHungary Ltd’s 2 blocks in the 26 GHz band for HUF 114.6 million HUF net, and hasa usage right for it from
November 1, 2016. Blocks purchased in 2009 were prolongedin 2018.

The Company filed an auction bid inDecember 2011 with the NMIAH forthe right of use of unused spectrum in the 900 MHz
frequency band, related to the provision of mobile telecommunications services. The spectrum can be utilized in a technology-neutral
manner. The NMIAHannounced ifs first-instance decision on the result of the 900 MHzauction (Auction) on January 30, 2012. Magyar
Telekom won theright of use of two duplex frequency blocksof 1 MHz each fora period of 15 years.

On September 6, 2013 Magyar Telekom and the NMIAH signed the modification of the Authority Contract on the use of the 900 MHz
and 1800 MHz frequency bands. The main stipulations of the modification are the following:
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= Magyar Telekom's spectrum usage rights in the 1800 MHz frequencyband otherwise expiring on October 7, 2014 and inthe 900
MHz frequencyband otherwise expiring on May 4, 2016 were prolonged and harmonized until April 2022.

= Magyar Telekomwillretain spectrumusage right also until April 2022 on the twoduplex 1 MHz frequencyblocks inthe 900 MHz
frequency band won in the 900 MHz auction in 2012. Accordingly, Magyar Telekom currently has frequency usage rights of 10 MHz
duplex frequency blocksin the 900 MHz frequency bands and of 15 MHzduplexblocks inthe 1800 MHzfrequency band.

= The initial fee of the prolongation and harmonizationof 900 MHz/1800 MHz spectrum licenses was HUF 38 billion. However,
Magyar Telekomwas required to pay HUF 34 billionout of the aforementioned amount, considering the expiry of the frequency
blocks won in 2012 being changed from the original 2027 date to 2022.

OnMay 22, 2014, the NMIAH published the “Documentation forthe tenderannounced in the subject of spectrum licenses for
broadband services”. Blocks in 800 MHz / 900 MHz / 1800 MHz / 2600 MHz and 26 GHz frequency bands were auctioned.

On September 29, 2014 the NMIAH published thetender results so that Magyar Telekomacquired the following frequenciesfor an
aggregate amount of HUF 58,650 million:

= 2x 10MHzin 800 MHz
= 2x2MHzin 900 MHz

= 2x 30MHzin 2600 MHz
= 2x 10MHzin 1800 MHz.

On October 15, 2014 Magyar Telekomand the NMIAH signed the Authority Contracton the use of the 800MHz, 900 MHz and 1800
MHz frequency bands that came into force right on that day. Forthe newbands the frequency license and radio permissionwere
issued on October 17,2014 to Magyar Telekom.

As aresult of the last tender Magyar Telekom acquired frequency usage rightsin the above listed spectrums till June 15,2029. The
Authority Contract can be prolonged with further 5 years if all requirements defined in the contract are met.

The Company is subject to number portability regulation since 2004, applicable only in case of other mobile operators. The Company
is designated as anSMP operator (a service provider with significant market power) inthe mobile wholesale calltermination market
(new M2, old M7 market) and subject to regulatory obligations regarding the termination charge of calls into its network, mobile
termination rate (MTR). Thelast mobile marketresolutionwas published on March 18, 2015 with a newly defined pure Bottom-Up
Long Run Incremental Costing model (pure BU-LRIC) resulting in an MTR of 1.71 HUF/min net cost based fee.

Since June 30,2007, an EUregulation has been regulating international roaming tariffs forwholesale and retail customers on the basis
of a price cap system. The first EU roaming regulation prescribed a glide-path that mandated annual reductions of wholesale and retail
prices. (EURoaming Regulation|.)

As of July 2009 the EU also introduced regulated tariffs for SMS and data roaming similarly to the regulation of voice roaming. (EU
Roaming RegulationI.)

As of July 1, 2012 the EU further broadened the European roaming regulation with a new regulatory measure: separate sales of
regulated roaming services. As a result Magyar Telekomhad to implement the technical possibility to host an Alternative Roaming
Provider inits network and also it allows its own customers to use Local Break-out solutions within the EU offered by a foreign EU
member country’smobile operatorfrom July 1, 2014. (EU Roaming Regulation Ill.)

The actual EUroaming regulation - “Full Roam Like At Home With Fair Use Policy Possibility” - is applied from June 15, 2017. (EU
Roaming Regulation IV.). As a result, European retail roaming price levels for voice, SMS and data are equal to domestic prices since
summer 2017. The Commission implementing regulation(EU) 2016/2286 of 15 December 2016 laid down detailed rules on the
application of fair use policy and on the methodology forassessing the sustainability of the abolition of retail roaming sur charges and
onthe application to be submitted by a roaming provider for the purposes of thatassessment.

On December 11, 2018, the European Union published its EuropeanElectronic Communication Code ("Code") Directive (EU)
2018/1972 that defines price caps forintra-EU callsand texts that is to be applied by May 15,2019. MT will fullfil the price cap
regulationon time.

34.2 Hungarian Fixed line

Universal services are basic communicationsservices (including accessto communication services at a fixed location, public
payphones, directoryand directory enquiry services) that should be availableto all customers at an affordable price. The NMIAH
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published its request for voluntary universal service provisioning on January 19, 2018. MT did not bid to any parts of the universal
services, so the NMIAH designated MT to offer the following universal services fromJanuary 1, 2019: public payphones, access on
fixed location and for national directory enquiry service. Asa result of the procedure MT lost 2 primary areas to serve (Sze kszard - nr74
and Paks - nr75) and received a newone (Szeged -nr62).

Inthe electronic communicationsfield Magyar Telekom was designated as an SMP operator (a service provider with significant market
power)on the regulated markets:

= 1. Wholesale fixed calltermination

= 2. Wholesale mobile calltermination

= 3.a)Wholesalelocalaccess at a fixed location - WLA

3.b) Wholesale central access for mass-market products - WCA
= 4 Wholesale high-qualityaccess at a fixed location

Magyar Telekomis Hungary’s leading fixed line broadband service providerin the wholesale market and one of the leading onesin the
retail market. In accordance with the effective resolution, all retail fixed products shall be ‘reproducible’ by competitors based on the
wholesale service. Consequently, the full retail portfolio shall have a wholesale equivalent. Previous regulation defined a retail minus
price setting. The NMIAH published the latest resolutions with regards to markets 3aand 3b on December 15, 2017. SMP operators
are obliged to prepare reference unbundling offer foraccess to (physical) passive network infrastructure (RUO) and to provide these
services whenthereis a request for them by other telecommunications service providers. The reference offer of each SMP oper ator
must be approved by the NMIAH. As a novelty the resolutions contained geographical segmentation inthe access regulation, as a start
of a deregulation path,in a limited number of settlementsand as a new service the virtual unbundlingobligation (L2-\WAP).

Magyar Telekomwas designated as an SMP in both 3a and 3b markets. Service fee calculation for all relevant regulated services -
both markets 3a (resolution PC/1791566/2017.) and 3b (resolution PC/17920-66/2017.) - are with a BU-LRIC+ model. The latest
reference unbundling offer(MARUQ) accordingly was approved on December 4, 2018. The new fees are applied from January 1,
2019. The new L2-WAP regulated product and itsimplementation in the reference unbundling offeris ongoing, and assumed to be
finished in Q3 2019, also resulting modificationsin the MARUO.Withregards the fix networks’ regulated interconnection the NMIAH
published its fifth round market analysis procedure’s resolution on May 15, 2018. The resolution’s FTR (fix termination rate) proposal -
that is based on a pure BU-LRIC model- is 0.26 HUF/min. The new fee had to be applied symmetrically with an effect fromend of Q2
2018 altogether for 144 operators.

The latest MARIO and supplementary interconnection service feesare assumed to come into force by end of Q1 2019.

34.3 Energy servicesin Hungary

Magyar Telekomdecidedto exit fromthe residential segment of the gas market with effect fromJuly31, 2015 and also from the
residential segment of the electricity market with effect from November 1, 2017.

From October 1,2016 Magyar Telekomseized itsoperation in the public procurementgas market as the natural gasservicessegment
ofthe energy business was outsourced to E2 HungaryZrt., a joint venture owned by Magyar Telekom Plc.and MET Holding AG to
operate in the businessand public procurement segment of the Hungariangas and energy market. In accordance with the agreement
ofthe owners, Magyar Telekom transferred its businessenergy operations to E2.

34.4 Macedonian Mobile

The Groupis also present in the Macedonianmobile market throughits subsidiary, Makedonski Telekom AD Skopje (MKT, previously
T-Mobile). The Macedoniantelecommunications sectoris regulated by the Electronic Communications Law (ECL) enacted in March
2014 as primary legislation and rulebooksas secondary legislation.

On September 5, 2008 the Agency for Electronic Communications (AEC, the Agency), ex officio, issued a notificationto T-Mobile for
those public electronic communication networksand/or services which have been allocated thereto underthe Concession Contracts.
The license forradiofrequencies used by T-Mobile with a bandwidth of 25 MHz in the GSM 900 band, was also issuedin a form
regulatedin the ECL with a validity period until September 5, 2018, which was renewed in 2018 for additional 10 yearsuntil 2028 in
accordance with the ECL. Due to changesin the bylaws the 900 MHz band was opened for UMTS technologyand based on MKT’s
request the radiofrequencylicense was changed so that these frequencies are now available forboth GSM and UMTS technology.

In 2008 a decision forgranting three licenses were published. The validity of the license is 10 yearsi.e. December 17, 2018, License
was renewed in 2018 with for 10 years, until2028 in accordance with the ECL.
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OnDecember 19, 2014, amendments of the ECL were enacted. Many significant changes were made on the ECL, with the Balkan
Roaming Regulation being one of the most important changes made in line with EU Roaming Il regulation. The glide pathfor roaming
prices reduction finished on July 1, 2017. Additional roaming regulation was proposed, with final goal roaming prices among the
Western Balkan countries to be on the same level as domestic ones, starting from July 2021 (RLAH - Roam Like At Home - model).

Both mobile operators on the market, T-Mobile and One.VIP are designated as operators with SMP status on relevant wholesale market
“Access and call origination on public mobile networks”. The Agency imposed same regulatory remedies for both operators:

= mobile access obligation forall MVNO hybrid types (including Reseller),

= costbased pricefor Full MVNO

= retail minus (-35%) for the Reseller,

= obligation foraccess to MMS services and mobile data based on technology neutrality

An MVNO, Lyca Mobile hosted on One.VIP network entered the Macedonian market and started retail operations in July 2016 under
regulated wholesale conditions.

Telekabel offering fixed services, in January 2019 started operating as MVNO hosted on Telekom mobile network under regulated
wholesale conditions.

Both operators, Telekom and One.VIP are designated as operators with SMP status on relevant wholesale market “Wholesale call
termination on public mobile networks”. The current termination rates are symmetrical for Telekom and One.VIP, but Lyca Mobile has
high assymmetry starting fromMay2018. .

The Agency made new market analysis in the middle of 2018 for ,Wholesale SMS termination in public mobile networks” and
deregulated Telekomand One.VIP, which were SMP operators on this market, and removed all obligations to both operators.

Anauction procedure concluded in August 2013 awarded the whole 790 - 862 MHz band together with the unassigned spectrumin
the 1740-1880 MHz band for Long Term Evolution(LTE) technologyin a public tender. Each of the 3 Macedonian mobile operators,
atthattime, obtained anLTE radiofrequencylicense of 1x10 MHz in the 800 MHz band and 2x15 MHzin the 1800 MHz band. Each
license was acquired for a one-offfee of EUR 10.3 million (approximately HUF 3.2 billion). The licenseis for 20 years, until December
1, 2033, with an extension option for 20 years, in accordance with the ECL.

After the mergerof One and VIP, One.VIP submitted a request on November 18,2016 to the Agency for change of the licenses for using
radio frequencies in land mobile service with record numbers 108269/1, 108271/1, 104068, 104069, 104711, 108269/2 and
108267/2. The Agency brought resolution not to approve the reshuffling request of One.VIP.

Based on public debate at the beginning of 2017 the Agency adopted changes in the Rulebook on Radiofrequencies fees:

= Decrease of RF fees from 2.3 GHz to 3 GHz for 43% (from 16,800 EUR/MHz to 9,600 EUR/MH2)
= Decrease of RF fees above 3 GHz for 76 % (from 16,800 EUR/MHz to 4,000 EUR/MHz)
= Decrease of RF fees above 55 GHz(E band RF links) for 50% (from 8,000 EUR/250 MHz to 4,000 EUR/250 MHz)

The change is favorablefor the existing operators and for new entrants, especially for 2.6 GHz (not occupied).

Licence duration of twolicences previously owned by VIP was until 2017, 10 MHz from 900 MHzband and 10 MHz from 1800 MHz
band expired on March 23, 2017, positioned in the lower parts of the bands. Based on request from One.VIP for licence prolongation,
the Agency brought resolution No. 0804-974 fromNovember 2, 2016 not to prolong thesetwo licences. At the momentthese
radiofrequencies are not allocated and notavailable for sale.

OnMay 26, 2017 One.VIP submitted arequest tothe Agency for change of the licence for using radio frequenciesin land mobile service
with registered number 108267/2, whereby the following radiofrequency block is allocated: 1770-1785/1865-1880MHz. On October
9, 2017, the Agency issued resolution for refusal of one.VIP’s request for reshuffling on 1800 MHz

The Agency announced in their 2019 working program preparation of tender for 700 MHz band. Also they announced release of
Digital dividend 2 radiofrequencies and repositioning of the broadcastersin the lower part of the UHF band. Also, public debate on
high of onetime feesand annualfeesfor 5G spectrumisexpected in 2019 with possibility 3.xGHz to be announced on public te nder.
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34.5 Macedonian Fixed line
MakedonskiTelekomhas SMP obligations in several requlated markets for fixed services.

Atthe beginning of 2015, the regulation foraccess to fiber was implemented, with Local Bitstream Accessover NGAon level 3 and 4
and VULA (Virtual Unbundled Local Access) regulation on level 2. Theintroduction of newtechnologies (VDSL Vectoring technology
in 2017)announced by MKT for theretail customersled to the introductionon new wholesale access productsand reshaping the
regulatoryobligations.

Final document for wholesale central access for mass-market products provided at a fixed location market analyses (Market 6) was
publishedin April 2017.For thefirst time the Agency imposed regulation of access to Hybrid Fiber Coaxial Access (HFC). All existing
obligations forthe copper and fiber network remainunchanged. All obligations apply for MKT and for One.VIP operatoras SMP on the
broadband market.

According to the Rulebook fortechnical conditions and building infrastructure (from July15,2014), Makedonski TelekomAD is
obligedto buildits infrastructure underground in urban areas with over 15,000 citizensfor buildings for collective living with more than
eight apartments. MKT has a Digital Agenda obligation for coverage of 100% and 50% of all Macedonian households with 30 Mbps
and 100 Mbps broadband speed respectively, witha technology neutral basis until the end of 2020.

The amendments in September 2016 with a new obligation to register on the new & existingelectronic networks (ATLAS), refer to the
joint building and use of networksand a new obligation forthe Agency to publish the received reports on the optic backbone segment
measurements by all operators.

The tender for USO provider has been published at the end of 2016, and one of the main criteria is the required amount fora refund.
According to the results from the last tender, the Companyis universal service provider until 2021 for the following services:

= Fixedaccess andaccess to disabled users (voice and intermnet of minimum 2Mbit/s download)
= Public payphones

The tender for USO provider was completed at the end of 2016 and also R3 Infomedia signed contract with the Agency forthe
Telephone Directory and Directory Inquiry universal services.

Following the market trends and EU regulation, the Agency made decisionsfor deregulation on several markets: trunk segment of
leased lines and avoiding regulation of the Ethernet leased line services; minimal set of leased lines (retail); WLR (Wholesale Line
Rental) market; traditional retail fixed voice services (access and traffic). MKT has a cost based price obligation forthe regulated
wholesale services, using Long Run Incremental Costs methodology (LRIC).

The Agency developed process and model foreconomical replicaof retail and wholesale NGN (Next Generation Network) products.

Ministry for information society and administration formed working groups for mappingthe telecommunication networks and
developing National Broadband Plan and 5G strategy for fulfillment of the Digital Agenda, which should be finalized in Q1 2019.
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35EVENTSAFTER THEREPORTING PERIOD

35.1 Cable TV network and operations

In December 2018, the Group signed a Share Purchase Agreement to acquire a cable TV business for a purchase price of HUF 789
million. The closing of the transactiontook place in February 2019.

35.2 Sale of Szerémi-Kaposvar buildings

InJanuary 2019, the sale of Szerémi-Kaposvar buildings was completed, representing the last remaining transaction of the
comprehensivereal estate agreement signed with WING Group on May 19,2015. The salespriceamounted to EUR 11.3 million.

Budapest, February20, 2019.

v L

/ y
Tibor Rékasi \ {Jaros Szabo

Chief Executive Officer, Board member Chief Financial Officer
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INTRODUCTION

The Company’s activities are described in Note 1 of the Consolidated Financial Statements, while the business report provides
additional information on the followingtopics:

= SUMMARY ON 2018 OPERATIONS

= THECOMPANY'SSHARE CAPITAL, VOTING RIGHTS AND TRANSFER OF SHARES

= CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

= SOCIAL COMMITMENTS, LABOUR STANDARDS, HUMAN RIGHTS

= COMPENSATION OF MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORY BOARD, AND MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
= RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

= REAL ESTATE, SITES OF OPERATION

= SUSTAINABILITY

= ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION

= CORPORATE COMPLIANCE

= ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT

= TARGETS ANDSTRATEGY

= INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISKSAND UNCERTAINTIES

= ANALYSIS OF FINANCIALRESULTS FOR 2018

= SUBSEQUENT EVENTS BETWEENTHE END OF THE YEAR AND THE RELEASE OF THE REPORT
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SUMMARY ON 2018 OPERATIONS

Tibor Rékasi, CEO commented:

“The Group has maintained strong earnings momentum throughout 2018, delivering revenue growth of 7.6%forthe year. We
outperformed our guidance, for both revenues, which reached HUF 657.1 billion, and EBITDA, which amounted to HUF 192.5 billion.
The factors behind the EBITDA growth were the higher gross profit and one-off profit realized by the sale of real estates. Wealso
exceeded our free cashflowtarget, which reached HUF 68 billion in2018 thanks to a higher EBITDA, declining acquisitioncostsand
the one-off income from the realestate sales, while CAPEX stood at HUF 91.8 billion. Furthermore, through our continuous focus on
our core business and meeting customer needs, and by constantly refreshing our product offering, we regained or maintained our
leading position in all key market segments, including post-paid mobile, TV and fixed broadband.

In Hungary, positive business trends continued throughout the year, with revenue growth across allthree major business lines. Inthe
mobile segment, demand formobile data continued to growas more customers used our state-of-the-art 4G network, significantly
supporting revenue generation. This was reinforced by our ongoing strategy for equipmentsales and the migration of pre-paid
customers into post-paid packages. We delivered moderate growth in our customer base, while also increasing mobile ARPUin Q4,
with growth of 6.8% achieved in the full year.

Inthe fixed market, we maintained our strong focus on growing our fixed network, providing nearly 300,000 new householdswith
100+ MBs internetconnectivity, and bringing us closer to our goal of providing gigabit internet connectivity across the whole country.
We continuedto see the positive results of this strategy in the growth of fixed line revenue, where - despite the industry-wide trend of
declining voice revenues - we grew revenues by 5.5% year-on-year and by 4.9% inthe final quarter. Furthermore, broadband and TV
revenues and fixed line equipment revenues maintained strong growth, reaching 95.9%year-on-year, thanks to a strong fourth quarter
performance helped by Black Friday and Christmas promotions.

With the strong performance of both our fixed and mobile businesslines, we were able to focus on the third pillar of our core business
strategy, the FMC customerbase.In 2018 weremained the onlytruly integrated playerin Hungary and wetook action to reinforce our
leading position in this market. While in the second quarter we doubled the mobile data allowance, in the third quarter we unified our
offering, giving our Magental customers the ability to secure a 30% discount on all related services. Building on this we were able to
continuouslygrowour Magental customer base, by offering asimplerand more attractive package. We also looked for new ways to
reach our customersand strengthened ouronline channels. Over 40% of our customersnow use our Telekom app and over 20% of
all sales occur via ouronline channels.

Inthe System Integration and IT segment we had a strong year, achieving22.4% growth versus 2017. Once again, the growth was
attributableto a high volume of software and hardware projects with lower profit margins. Our strategyis to continue focusing on these
deals, to build long-termrelationships with our business partners, and over time convert these relationships to higher margin service
contracts.

Group performance during the yearwas further supported by the continued turnaround in Macedonia. Both revenues and EBITDA

improved, thanks to a solid performance across all business lines, positive trends inservice revenues, and outstanding growth in
System Integration and IT revenues.”
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1 THECOMPANY’S SHARE CAPITAL, VOTINGRIGHTS AND TRANSFER OF SHARES

As of December 31, 2018, the share capital of Magyar Telekom Plc. wasHUF 104,274,254,300, consisting of 1,042,742,543 Series
“A” dematerialized ordinary shares. All Series “A” ordinary shares have a nominal value of HUF 100. Rightsand obligations re lated to
Series “A” ordinary shares are described in detailin Section 2 of the Articles of Association
(http://www.telekom.hu/about_us/investor _relations/corporate_governance/corporate_governance_docume nts). Information
concerning our ownership structure as of December 31, 2018 isdescribed in the followingtable:

Percentage of

Shareholder Number of shares share capital
Deutsche Telekom EUrope B.V.......icnimcim s sssnsinens 617,436,759 59.21
Publicly traded....... 416,469,436 39.94
TrEASUIY SNAIES. ...t e et s s s 8,836,348 0.85
1,042,742,543 100.00

Deutsche Telekom Europe B.V. owning 59.21% of the Company’s voting rights is member of the Deutsche Telekom Group. The
ultimate controlling parent of Magyar Telekom is Deutsche Telekom AG(DT or DTAG).

Deutsche Telekom Europe B.V. does not have different voting rights than our other shareholders and, as with our other shareholders,
Deutsche Telekom Europe B.V.is entitled to one vote pereach ordinary share that it owns.

1.1 Voting Rights and Voting

The holder of each Series “A” ordinary share shall be entitled to one vote at the General Meeting of the Company. The names of
shareholders and nomineeswho intend to participate at the General Meeting shall be registered in the Share Register on the second
working day priorto the starting date of the General Meeting. The General Meeting shall adopt its resolutions by a simple majority vote
except for resolutions on issues listed in the Articles of Associations, which shall require at least a three-quarters majority of the votes
cast. There isno limitation on the rights of non-resident or foreign shareholders to hold or exercise voting rights on the ordinary shares.
There is no limitation of voting rights for ordinary sharesin the Atticles of Association. The Company has no sharesassigne d with
special management rights.

1.2 Transfer of Shares

For the transfer of dematerialized share acontract fortransfer or other legal title is required and, inthat context, the transferor's
securities account shall be debited and the new holder'ssecurities account shall be credited with the transferre d dematerialized
shares. The holder of dematerialized share shall be considered the holder of the securities account on which the dematerialized
shares are recorded.

The transfer of any Series “A” ordinary shares isnot bound to any restriction or attainme nt of agreement.

2 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

2.1 Annual General Meeting

The General Meeting has the exclusive right to approve and amend the Articles of Association (section 5.2. (a)) unless otherwise
provided by law orthe Articles of Association. According to the Articles of Association, the Board of Directors is entitled to make
decisions regarding any change in the registered seat, sites, branchoffices and - except for the main activity - the scope of activities
ofthe Company andin relation to this, to modify the Articles of Association (section6.4.(p)).

2.2 Board of Directors

The detailed ruleson the scope of authorities and operation of the Board of Directors are detailed in6.4 of the Articles of Association
andinthe Rules of Procedure of the Board of Directors
(https://www.telekom.hu/about_us/investor_relations/corporate_governance/board_of_directors).
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The rules of competence regarding the capital increase and purchase of treasury shares are detailed inSections 5.2 (b) and (p) as well
as 6.4. (I)and (m) of the Articles of Association. The General Meeting by its Resolution No. 8/2018 (IV.10.) authorized the Board of
Directors to purchase Magyar Telekomordinary shares for 18 months starting fromthe date of approval of the resolution. See the
detailed description of the authorization on the General Meetings section of our website.

The Board of Directors is responsible for all mattersrelating to the Company’s management and course of businessnot otherwise
reserved to the General Meeting or to other corporate bodies by the Articles of Association or by the laws. The Board of Directors
draws up, at the end of each business year, a report forthe General Meeting and quarterly to the Supervisory Board on the
management of the Company, the assets of the Company, the financial situation of the Company and the business policy of the
Company.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Board of Directors consists of a minimum of six and a maximum of eleven members elected
by the General Meeting fora term of three years, unless otherwise provided by the General Meeting. On December 31, 2018, there
were seven members of the Board of Directors.

Meetings of the Board of Directors are held at least fourtimes a year. Meetings of the Board of Directors requirethe presence of at
least the majority of the members fora quorum. Each member of the Board of Directors has onevote. The Board of Directors passes
resolutionsby a simple majority vote.

OnDecember 31, 2018, members of the Board of Directors, their principal occupationand the years of their original election were as
follows:

Name Born Principal Occupation Member since
Tibor REKaSi......c.coevvevveicieienen, 1973  Chief Executive Officer of Magyar Telekom Plc. 2018
Dr. Mihaly Patai............cccovevvenennns 1953  Chairman-CEQ of Unicredit Bank Hungary Ltd. 2012
RalfNejed s 1970 i(eanloere President B2B Europe, Deutsche Telekom 2016
Frank Odzuck........cooviveviiiinnn, 1959  Chief Executive Officer of Zwack Unicum Plc. 2006

Senior Vice President Finance & Performance
Dr. Robert Hauber........c..ccovuene. 1971 Management Europe, DT AG, Chairman of the Board of 2017
Directors of Magyar Telekom Plc.
Senior Vice President Technology Europe, Deutsche

GuidoMenzel........cccoovvvvevennnnn. 1961 Telekom AG

2017

Lead of InnovationHub at Technology & Innovation,

Mardia Niehaus..........coooviviines 1963 Deutsche Telekom AG

2017

The members’ assignmentlasts until May 31, 2019.

" As of January 1, 2019 Senior Vice President HR BP Technology&Innovation.
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2.3 Management Committee

Pursuant to the Rules of Procedure of the Board of Directors, the Board of Directorsestablished a Management Committee in 2000.
The Management Committee carriesout its activities based on its Rules of Procedure approved by the Board of Directors, which is
available onthe Company’s website:

(http://www.telekom.hu/about_us/investor _relations/corporate_governance/management_committee).

Management Committee membership shall last from the date of the assignment orfrom the date set forth thereinas the date of the
assignment, to thetermination of the assignment, dueto any reasons.

OnDecember 31, 2018, the members of the Management Committee and the years of their original election were as follows:

Name Born Current position Member since
Tibor REKaSi......c..ccovvevvevviieiennen, 1973 Chief Executive Officer of Magyar Telekom Plc. 2013
Janos Szabd ..o, 1961 Chief Financial Officer 2013
Dr. Baldzs MAthé'............covveeee... 1968 Chief Legal and Corporate Affairs Officer 2010
Melinda Szab..........c.cccovvvernan. 1971 Chief Commercial Officer Residential 2018
Zsuzsanna Friedl.........c.cccovnnne 1977 Chief HumanResources Officer 2017
ZoItAN KaSZAaS ......vcvveveviiiiiiin 1968 Chief Commercial Officer Enterprise, Chief Executive 2017

Officer of T-Systems Hungary Ltd.

MC membership terminated on December 31, 2018

2.4 Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board carriesout its activities based on Section 7 of the Articles of Association and its Rules of Procedure approved
by the General Meeting (https://www.telekom.hu/about_us/investor_relations/corporate_governance/supervisory_board). The
Supervisory Board shall examine all submissions to be submitted to the General Meeting and present its opinion thereof at the General
Meeting. The General Meetingmay pass a resolution on a report pursuant to the Accounting Act and the use of the profit after income
tax only upon receipt of the written report of the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board makes a proposal directly to the Generall
Meeting regarding the election, remunerationand removal of the Statutory Auditor.

Pursuantto the Company's Articles of Association, the Supervisory Board consists of a minimum of three and a maximum of fifteen
members elected by the General Meeting fora term of three years, unless otherwise provided by the General Meeting. The Central
Workers’ Council of Magyar Telekom nominates one-third of the Supervisory Board members(employee representatives). Meetings of
the Supervisory Board have a quorumif two-thirds of its elected members but at least three members are present.
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OnDecember 31, 2018, the members of the Supervisory Board, their principal occupation and the years of their original election were
as follows:

Name Born Principal Occupation Member since
Dr. LaszIo Pap......ccccocevvvvieiieinnnn, 1943 Professor emeritus, Budapest University of Technology 1997

and Economics
Dr.Janos Bitd......ccocvvvveviviiiienn, 1936 Chairman of the Thesis and Final Examination Board at 2010

Pazmany Péter Catholic University, Information
Technology Faculty

Attila BUjd0SO........coeeriiciriene, 1967 President of the Telecommunications Trade Union 2018

Sandor Hartai .......c..coeveevecvenennen, 1966 Expert of Wholesale Directorate, Magyar Telekom 2016

Dr. Janos I1IESSY .....covvvvvieeiiiiiae. 1962 Managing Director of Lebona Kift. 2006

Dr. Sandor Kerekes.........coevvnnene. 1948 Director of Institute of Environmental Sciences, Corvinus 2006
University Budapest

Konrad Kreuzer........ccccevvevvenennn, 1948 Managing Director of EUTOP Vienna, Budapest and 2006
Prague

Tamas Lichnovszky........ccceevvenens 1962 Chairman of the Central Workers” Council, Magyar 2010
Telekom

Martin Meffert.........ccooooviiniinnn. 1960 Project Manager Asset Development Europe, Deutsche 2009
Telekom AG

Dr. Kéroly Salamon...........ccceenee. 1954 Managing Director of MISKift. 2010

Zsoltné Varga.......ccoevevveevecnenennen, 1969 Quality Manager, Magyar Telekom 2008

Dr. KonradWetzker...........ccccvaee. 1950 Chairman of the School of Management of Corvinus 2011

University Budapest
The members’ assignmentlasts until May 31, 2019.
2.5 Audit Committee

The Audit Committee executesits duties pursuant to the Articles of Association Section 7.8, and its own Rules of Procedure
(https://www.telekom.hu/about_us/investor_relations/corporate_governance/audit_committee ). The members of the Audit
Committee have been elected by the General Meeting from the independent members of the Supervisory Board forthe same period as
their membership inthe Supervisory Board.

On December 31, 2018, the members of the Audit Committee were as follows:

= Dr.Janosllléssy

= Dr. Janos Bito

= Dr. Sandor Kerekes
= Dr. Laszl6 Pap

= Dr. Karoly Salamon

2.6 Remuneration and Nomination Committee

As of September 20, 2013, certain nomination related taskswere also assigned to the Remuneration Committee and itsname was
changedto Remuneration and Nomination Committee.

The Remuneration and Nomination Committeeis established by the Board of Directors of the Company to function as supporting body
of the Board of Directors of the Companyregarding the remunerationand certainnomination related issues of the members of the
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corporate bodies and the top executives of the Company in accordance with its Rules of Procedure.
(https://www.telekom.hu/about_us/investor_relations/corporate_governance/compensation ).

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee, among others, makes recommendations to the Board of Directors on the
establishment and/ortermination of employment, and the modification of the employment contract of the chief executive officerand
the chief officers, aswell as the remuneration package of the chief executive officerand the chief officers, including setting and
evaluating annual individual targets. The Remuneration and Nomination Committee holdsat least two meetingseach year.

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee consists of three members. The members are elected by the Board of Directors from
among its members.

On December 31, 2018, the members of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee were as follows:

= Frank Odzuck
= Dr. Robert Hauber
= Ralf Nejedl

2.7 Corporate Governance and Management Report

Magyar TelekomPlc. is a public limited company listed on the Budapest Stock Exchange. In2004, the Budapest Stock Exchange
issued its Corporate Governance Recommendations (the Recommendations) containing recommendations related to the corporate
governance practice of companies listed on the Budapest Stock Exchange, taking account of the most commonly used intemational
principles, of experiences gathered in Hungary, and of the characteristics of the Hungarian market as well asthe Companies Act. The
Recommendations were updated in 2007,2008, 2012 and in2018. The Recommendations effective fromtimeto timeis available at
the website of the Budapest Stock Exchange: https://www.bse.hu/Products-and-Services/Rules-and-Regulations/BSE-Rules

Inline with the current regulations, the Board of Directors of Magyar Telekom Plc. approved the Corporate Governance and
Management Report of the Company (report) prepared in accordance with the Corporate Governance Recommendations and
submitted it to the General Meeting. The report — along with other corporate governance related documents- is published at the
Corporate Governance section of the website of the Company:

http://www.telekom.hu/about_us/investor_relations/corporate_governance/corporate_govermnance_documents

Companies listed on the stock exchange are required to express their views on their corporate governance practices in two ways. In
the first part of the report they have to give account of the corporate governance practices applied by theircompanyin the given
business year, including their corporate governance policy,and a description of anyunusual circumstances. In the second part of the
report, the issuers should give an account on theircompliance with each pointof the Recommendations in accordance with the
"comply or explain" principle, including any reasons for derogating froma specific recommendation and/or proposal. When an issuer
does not apply a recommendation orappliesitin a differentway, they should explainwherethe differences are and offera reasonfor
such derogation (‘complyor explain’ principle). This method allows issuers to consider their unique, industry-specific etc.
idiosyncrasies and to inform shareholders and market players about their derogations from general corporate gove mance principles
andto provide an explanation. Operating on the same principle, issuers can also explain any derogations from the proposals.

The Corporate Governance Declaration on the Compliance with the Corporate Governance Recommendations, and regarding certain
questions the possible alterations and their explanations are included in the report. Sections 1to 5 of the above report include the
descriptionand operation of the Board of Directors, the Supervisory Board, the relevant committees and executive management
Section 6 of the report includesa description of the internal controls and risk management procedures, while Section 8 of the report
describes the disclosure policies and insidertradingguidelines. In Sections 9to 10 the method of excercising shareholders’ right and
the rules on conducting the General Meeting is summarized, while Section 11 contains the Remuneration Statement. The Company
complies with the vast majority of the 85 recommendationsand proposals, howeverin the business year of 2018 in case of 4
recommendations and 2 proposals it has not or not completely complied with due to the organizational structure or processes of the
Company.

The Board of Directors, through the interal audit area, carried out an evaluation of the Company’s disclosure processesin 2018
again. Based on the evaluation, the disclosure controls and procedures of the Companywere effective and designed to ensure a
proper basis for thetimelyand accurate disclosuresto the market participantsrequired underthe respective accounting, capital
markets and company law regulations.
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3 SOCIAL COMMITMENTS, LABOUR STANDARDS, HUMAN RIGHTS

Some of the key challenges of the sustainability strategy come fromthe area of human resources management. This is why human
resourcesmanagement has a crucial part in the achievement of our sustainability targets. Our vision is to operate ina corporate
environment thatislivable, likeable and successful. This set of values strengthens the commitment and satisfaction of our e mployees
andis also attractive on the job market.

3.1 People strategy
3.1.1 People strategy from the perspective of the company
The priorities of Magyar Telekom’s people strategy in 2018 were:

= Improvement of employerbranding
= Culture development - growth mindset - development based corporate culture
= |ncreased digitalization

3.1.2 People strategy from the perspective of our employees

The business strategy of Magyar Telekom iscentered around the realization of a digital business model that isbased on utilizing new
technologies in service of consumer relationship management in orderto build trust and drive value creation. Insupport of reaching
this goal the operating model and the organization of HR has been transformed to an evenmore efficientand client oriented body
backing up the corporate business strategy goals.

Key focus areas of HRin 2018:

= Efficient support of transforming workforce

= Development of adaptive corporate structure and culture
= Diverse and attractive workplace

= Resilient and impactful HR organization

Employer brand building - we create a livable and likeable workplace, which is satisfactory for ouremployeesand offers an attractive
perspectivein the labor market through its future oriented methods of work. We put greater emphasis on using social media solutions
in building the brand.

Recruitment-selection - We use segment-based online recruitment channels and meansto selectthe best candidate for the specific
positions. During the selection process, we seek the attitude and personaltraits defined as requirements for future Telekom
employees.

Remuneration -We make ourcompany attractive foremployees by means of our wide range of benefits. We have a transparent,
simpler and consistentjob grading model, which reflects primarily the respective values of jobs, and provides for market comparison,
as a basis for a competitive remuneration policy.

Training development-We owe our competitive advantage to our qualified workforce. We are building a digital Telekom, thus put an
increasing emphasis on collaborative digital tools and solutions that enable and inspire self-development. Online training catalogue,
online training materials, online coachbank and mentoring, online knowledge sharing (Share).

Wellbeing - Energetic employees We take action for each other and ourselvesin order to maintain our physical, mental and social
wellbeing. Energized employees make us successful. We draw employees’ attention to conscious preventive health efforts, volunteer
work, sustainabilityand work-life balance.
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3.1.3 Headcount

The following table providesinformation on the number of fulltime employees, including fulltime equivalents, of Magyar Telekom Plc.
and its consolidated subsidiaries:

2017 2018
Magyar TEIBKOM PIC........eiiiiicie e 6,241 6,134
A Magyar Telekom Plc.and its consolidated subsidiaries..........cccovveviviiviiiesce e, 9,154 8,948

2017 2018
MT-Hungary /TeleKOMHUNGANY........coiiiiiic e 7,977 7,865
MBCEAONIA. ..ttt 1,177 1,083
TOTAL et 9,154 8,948

From 2017 the operating segments of the Group: MT-Hungary and Macedonia. Please refer to the Note 33. to Consolidated financial
statement for further details.

3.2Policies
3.2.1 Policies and agreements
Code of Conduct: hitps://www.telekom.hu/static-tr/sw/file/mtcode-of-conduct. pdf

The Code of Conduct provides the framework of orientation for all employees of Deutsche Telekom Group and Magyar Telekom
Group. Additionally, it applies to people to whoare viewed as equivalent to employeesin functional terms, e. g. to temporary agency
employees. it combines the joint requirement of compliance withlegal obligations and acting with integrity and thus ensures that
Deutsche Telekom and Magyar Telekomremain transparent and traceable enterprises for everybody. Deutsche Telekom and Magyar
Telekom expect their suppliers and consultants to comply with the rules of behavior manifested inthis Code of Conduct and to
endeavor them to ensure thatthey are also obliged to abideto its regulation by contract.

Code of Human Rights and Social Principles:
https://www.telekom.hu/static-tr/sw/file/code-of-human-rights-social-principles-eng. pdf
Equal Opportunities Plan: https://www telekom.hu/static-tr/sw/file/Magyar_Telekom_Eselyegyenlosegi_Terv_2016_2020_en.pdf

The Code of Human Rights and Social Principles and the Equal Opportunities Plan of Magyar Telekomset the general human rights
principles of the group and guidance to their group-wide implementation. Magyar Telekom Group recognizes and respects the fact
that the cultural, social and legal diversity of its employees provide the foundations of operations based on equal opportunities. Itis
also a competitive advantage that leads to businesssuccess.

Diversity Policy - https://www.telekom.hu/stafic-tr/sw/file/Diversity_Policy pdf

The Diversity Palicy of Magyar Telekom Group underscores our commitment to consistentlyidentifyand utilize potential for
improvement.

Group Policy on Employee Relations - https://www.telekom.hu/static-tr/sw/file/Employee-relations-palicy. pdf

The policy is present as an internal corporate directive since 2011 and was being published as a public corporate policy in 2018.
Based on our shared values and Guiding Principles, this policy offers aframework that enablesthe entire workforceto strengthen
business performance, contribute individually to business objectives and increase shareholdervalue. Employee relations cover all
aspects of the work life cycle that are relevant to the employment relationship.
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Suppliers’ Compliance: Magyar Telekom Group is committed to respect and protect human rights and it expects its suppliers to
comply with these rules of behavior. Priorto becoming authorized suppliers of Magyar Telekomand T-Systems our suppliers must
register theirenterprises at ourvendors’ registration site.

https://beszerzes telekom.hu/beszerzes/portal_en?appid=beszerzes& page=english/registration_vendor.vm

As an obligatorypart of the registration process vendors are obliged to understand and accept our Suppliers Code of Conduct that
among other policies, entails our Code of Conduct, Social Charter and Diversity Policy. Our suppliers must understand and acc ept
these policies and obligatory frameworks for their behaviorsas well.

Equal Opportunities Plan: https://www telekom.hu/static-tr/sw/file/Magyar_Telekom_Eselyegyenlosegi_Terv_2016_2020_en.pdf

Anti-discrimination and the safeguarding of equal opportunities is a key priority to Magyar Telekom Group. According to the act CXXV
of 2003 on Equal Treatment and Promotion of Equal Opportunities, and the corporate protocolin place since 2010 Magyar Telekom
Group has accepted its4" Equal Opportunities Plan in orderto secure the practices of equal treatment, the advancement of equal
opportunities and the monitoring an improvement of the labor positions of particular disadvantaged employee groups. The Equall
Opportunities plan currentlyin forceis valid between 2016 and 2020 and has been developed in close cooperation with the employee
representative bodies.

The Diversity Charter of the European Union - Hungary has joined the Diversity Charter of the EuropeanUnion in2016 and, among
50 signatory companies Magyar Telekom has also underscored its dedication to safeguard diversity asa fundamental value. Magy ar
Telekom has been among the signatory companies in 2017 and 2018 as well.

UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights — According to the dedication of Magyar Telekom Group to safeguard and
protect human rights along its operations as stated in the UN Guiding Principles of Business and Human Rights, the company
considers the rights and guidelines stated in the Universal Declaration of Human Rightsand in theILO’s Declaration on Fundamental
Principles and Rights at Work to be mandatoryin itsown practices.

UN Human Rights Treaties ratified by Hungary - Magyar Telekom Group as a corporationlegally registered in Hungary is carrying
outits entire operationsand business practices in full accordance with the nationally ratified UN Human Rights Treaties.

http://tbinternet.ohchr.org/_layouts/TreatyBodyExternal/Treaty.aspx?CountrylD=77&Lang=EN
3.2.2 Monitoring and auditing practices

The group-level coordination of corporate sustainability operations that also incorporate labor standards, socialissues and the
protection of human rights is being coordinated by the Group Sustainability Coordination Council (GSCC). Thelevels of development
and management of the corporate sustainability strategy are separated from the operative implementation level withi n the operation of
the GSCC, thus the process of implementing sustainability activities isdivided to the level of strategy development and mana gement,
andthe level of operative implementation.

According to the relevant group directive the strategic tasks are allocated to the respective Chief Officers. 50% of the bonuses of Chief
Officers depend on the performance of collective objectives. More detailed information aboutthe actual operation of the GSCC and its
reporting obligationstowards the Management Committee could be found in the Sustainability chapter of this document andin the
annual Sustainability Report.

Magyar TelekomGroup’s Code of Conduct covers the requirements of corporate compliance and states our collective set of values,
and thus stands as an affirmation of Magyar Telekom’s strongreputation, solid position and future success. The Code of Conduct
appliesto all board members of Magyar Telekom Group from employeesto managing directors, executives and board members.
Furthermore, Magyar Telekom Group expects its suppliers and consultants to comply with the rules of behavior manifested in this
Code of Conduct andto endeavor them to ensure that they are also obliged to abide to its regulation by contract.

Magyar Telekom Group’s Corporate Compliance Programhas been elaborated with the aim to ensurethat Magyar Telekom Group
conducts its business with maximum consciousness and commitment, in accordance with relevant lawsand regulations, in harmony
with the strictest possible business ethics standards. The Compliance Programinvolves the Group Compliance Manager and
compliance representatives of particular functional areas of operation, who are working together asmembers of the Group
Compliance Committee. The Compliance Program has beendesigned to ensurethat the Group conducts its business to the highest
standards of awareness, transparency, accountability, commitment, and adherence to applicable laws and regulations.
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External auditscould be conducted as part of the contral process carried out by the Hungarian Labor Inspectorate. The Inspectorate
has the right to issue such anauditing process in case of public complaints orissued requests. TheInspectorate also provides
counseling to the corporations insupport of legal compliance.

3.3 Results of Policies
3.3.1 Diversity and Equal Opportunities

As one of the largest employers in the Hungarian ICT sector we believe that diversity contributesto the success of businesses and all
kinds of organizations to a large extent. This valueis also at the core when it comes to the increase of creativity and innovation, to the
involvement of new partners, experts and clients, to the quick adaptation to changes and most of all, to the compliance with the legal
obligations of non-discrimination inall corporate operations.

The corporate Equal Opportunities Plan of 2016-2020 addressesactionsand proceduresto improvethe labor conditions and career
perspectives of particular vulnerable employee target groups such as women, employees withfamilies, e mployeeson child-careleave,
employees living with disabilities, recent graduates and 50+ employees. In order to maintain this focus Magyar Telekom has
developed and accepted Equal Opportunities plans since 2008 in close cooperationwith the employee representative bodies. The
currentis the 4" Equal Opportunities Plan of the company, the guidelines, policies and actions of which coverthe 2016-2020 period.

The principles of justice and equal treatment of Magyar Telekom are being defined by our Code of Conduct. Ways of non-typical
employment such as Telework, flexible working hours, part-time work, employment of people livingwith disabilities allowthe company
torealize the principle of equal treatmentin practice. These measures are furtherassisted by several measures implemented in
corporate dayto-day operations, such as the large office spacesthat are designed to support Teleworking inthe new headquarters of
Magyar Telekom.

Inaccordance withHungarian labor legislations we provide our employeeswith extra days off after their children, and after blood
donation. In case of more than 40% health damage we provide our employees with extra five days off annuallyfor rehabilitation. On
top of these we also credit the voluntary work of ouremployees by providing days off, the proportion of whichis strictlyre gulated in
internal directives.

One of the targets of our 2016-2020 Sustainability strategy wasto measure and improve the diversity culture of Magyar Telekom. We
have measured the state of corporate diversity culture through an internal survey in January 2018. After the evaluation of the results we
have defined the strategic steps, targets and result indicators of the effective improvement of our corporate diversity and equal
opportunities culturethat isgoing to be advanced throughthe complex implementation of operative measures.

3.3.2 Anti-discrimination and labor-market integration actions

As an employer, Magyar Telekom hasissued the following actions in 2018 to improve the conditions of the employee groups marked
inthe 2016-2020 Equal Opportunities plan.

The company continued to support the HRom and Integrom labormarket integration programs aiming to support and enable young
roma talents to connect with large corporations and help themin their job application processes. In 2018 the corporate recr uitment
team received a professional trainingon labor market inclusion practices of vulnerable social groups. Asa member of the Hungarian
Employers Forumon Equal Opportunities we have contributed our experiences and best practices to the paper (HU-only) 'Diverse and
inclusive workplaces for roma and others’ http://mef.forum.hu/ckfinder/userfiles/files/sokszinu_befogado_munkahelyek.pdf

In order to secure the equal opportunities of our currentand future colleagueslivingwith disabilities, we are using a special module on
our online job-applicationsite (http://www telekom.hu/rolunk/ karrier) since 2010, where ourapplicants are encouraged to state any
accessibility requests they might have in orderto attend the selection process.

3.3.3 Respect of Human Rights, actions against child labor and all kinds of forced labor

As disclosedin the Code of Human Rights and Social Principles the company rejectschild laborand all kinds of forced or com pulsory
labor and fights against all kinds of human trafficking and modern day slavery by all means at its disposal. As the parent company of
Magyar Telekom Deutsche Telekom Group is responsible for supply chain compliance auditing and management on a global level.
More detailed information about the methodology and results of the global supply chainmanagementat
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New employees of Magyar Telekom Group as part of their orientation process in their first two months receive compulsory education
about the company principles, guidelines and practices conceming social issues, labor standards and human rights. Allemployees
must understand and accept these guidelines as the fundaments of their own professional behavior and operations.

Inline with the Code of Human Rightsand Social Principles, all Magyar Telekom Group employees and all partners closely related to
our brand representation attended compulsory trainings regardinghumanrights. Fromthe end of 2018 the training is part of the
compulsory trainings of Magyar Telekom.

Moreover, the company is aware of the fact that there could be situations inwhich it is harderto tell appropriate from inappropriate. In
order to assist employeesin making the right choices in these situations, the company offerssecure internal whistl eblower channels,
operated by the Corporate Compliance Department. “Kérdezz!” (“Ask me!”) advice portal has been set up to help resolve uncertainties
as far as compliance relevant behavioris concemed. Serious misconduct must be announced for prevention purposes and for
appropriate sanctions. For this reason, the “Tell me!” whistleblower portal has been established. The main principles and the detailed
descriptionof the internal inspection process isdetailed in employee directives available on allemployeeson the shared intranet
platform. Throughout the inspectionprocess the whistleblowers' anonymity, personal and data privacy are guaranteed and handled
with utmost discretion.

3.3.4 Relationship of management and employees

At present two unionsand workers’ council operate at Magyar Telekom, communication with themrunson two levels. Central
decisions concerning the whole Company, when the employee representation bodiesneed to be consulted, are deliberated with the
Central Workers Counciland the representatives delegated by the trade unions, eitherin the frame of joint consultation(Interest
Reconciliation Council), or separately, depending on the nature of the matter discussed. Central communication is managed both
verbally (negotiation) and inwriting. The Chief HR Officer and the HR Strategic Directorare responsible for central level
communication with the employee representation bodies. Interest enforcement issues concerninga given governance areaare also
discussed locally with the representatives of the trade unions and the local workers’ council. The HR Business Partnersof the
governancearea areresponsible for communication with thelocal employee representationbodies.

Trade union and the workers’ council (Central Workers Council) must be consulted and their opinion solicited on significant decisions
resulting in organizational changes or changes affecting a large group of employees. In organization restructuring decisions the
collective bargainingbodies have 7 days to submit their comments, in other cases 15 days. The measure inquestion may not be
implemented during this 15-day period. Trade unionsand workers' councils (Central Workers Council) must be consulted with regard
to draft resolutions, aiming at organizational changeswithout regard to the number of employees concerned.

Under the ActV of 2013 on the Civil Code one third of the Supervisory Board shall consist of employee representatives. The e mployee
representatives inthe SupervisoryBoard are nominated by the Central Workers’ Council considering the opinion of the trade unions
operating at the Company. Personsnominated by the Central Workers’ Council shall be elected by the General Meeting to the member
of the Supervisory Board, except ifdisqualifications exist in respect of the nominated persons. On December 31, 2018, four members
of the Supervisory Board were employee representatives. These memberswere Tamas Lichnovszky, Zsoltné Varga, AttilaBujdosé and
Sandor Hartai.

3.3.5 Freedom of organization and collective bargaining

Magyar Telekom Group acknowledgesthe basic rights to freedom of organization and collective agreement inits Social Charter. In
line with an opennessand trust that relies on a constructive social dialogue, Magyar Telekom Group declares its support to
cooperationwith the legitimate representatives of the employees inorderto establish a balance of interests.

The Social Charter togetherwith the long history of mutual respect and cooperation of the management and employee representative
councils are the guaranteesthat these rightsare being fully and thoroughly respected. 100% of the employmentcontracts of Magyar
Telekom Group employees operating in Hungary fall under collective bargaining agreements developed with the Hungarian
Telecommunications Trade Unions (Tavkézlési Szakszervezet, TAVSZAK and Magyar Tavkozési Agazati Szakszevezet, MATASZ). The
agreement, whichcan be terminated by either party with three months' notice, applies to all Magyar Telekom Plc. employees except
the CEOQ, regardless of their union membership status. Wage terms inthe collective bargaining agreement must be renegotiated
annually.Ifthe employment is terminated due to reasons related to the employer'soperation, employees are entitled to a specific
amount of severance pay surplus, which depends on the tenure of the employee.
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In addition to the collective bargaining agreement, employees of our Hungarian operations are generally covered by the Act | of 2012
onthe Labor Code, which imposes various restrictions on the involuntarytermination of employment. The Labor Code protects
employee interests through two different labor organizations: the Trade Union and the Workers” Council.

The Trade Union, as the official representative of employee interests in negotiations relating to the terms of employment, has the right
to be informed of all corporate measures that may significantly affect the interests of employees and to commence legal action against
the Company for employment-related conduct that infringesan employment rule. Inaddition, the Workers’ Council directly represents
employee interests indealings with management and decides jointly with management on matters involving employee welfare funds
andinstitutions. The Workers’ Council must be informed semi-annually on issues affecting our economic performance and changes in
wages, employment conditions and working hours. The Workers’ Council mustalsobe consulted on corporate measures affecting
employees.

We believethat our relations with our employees are good. We have not experienced any labor strikes or disruptions since our
formation.

3.3.6 Workforce Reduction and Redeployment

Magyar Telekom - in orderto ensurethe resources related to the Company’s strategic objectives - has reached anagreement with the
trade unions in 2018 on headcount reductionand wage increase measures for 2019.

According to the terms of the agreement, the Company plansto make ca. 400 parent company employees redundant. The majority of
the employees to be made redundant are expected to have left the Company by the end of 2018 or by March 1, 2019. The company
shall provide active job search, labor market training and one-on-one counselling to the colleagues|aid off, inthe framework of
Program Chance, whichhas proven its success in the past years, and truststhat the above support these highly-trained employees of
up-to-date professional expertise in finding employment elsewhere as soon as possible.

Itis plannedto reinvest a significant proportion of the expected employee cost savings in resources related to the Company’s strategic
objectives.

As from April 1, 2019, employee salaries at the Companywill rise by an average of 5%.

3.3.7 Pensions and Benefit Programs

Magyar Telekom'’s welfare and social benefits constitute an exceedinglywide-ranging pool. A part of them is granted to every
employee, while othersareavailable on certain conditionsor are of an insurance nature. In case of certain benefits, employee’s
individual contributionis a prerequisite of the employer's contribution. The way social benefits and discretionary benefitsare granted is
setoutinthe Collective Agreementand related regulations.

We provide employeeswithtelecommunicationallowances, subsidized meals, interest-free housing loans (such loans are not offered
or extended to the Company's Board of Directors), discount holidayfacilitiesand other fringe benefits. In additionto our statutory
contributions to governmental health, retirement and unemployment schemes, we contribute to the employees' pension, healthand
self-aid savings, provided he is member of the voluntary fund, which provides private pension and health insurance as well as social
benefits supplementing government pension and health benefits. We do not, however, guarantee payment by the fund to its members.
In December 31, 2018, approximately 55% of employees of Magyar Telekom Plc. participated in the pension-, 36% in the self-aid-,
and 43.8% in the health fund.

3.4 Risk management

3.4.1 Providing educational and professional background

The educational pillar of Magyar Telekom’s Sustainability Strategy aims to improve the digital competencies of the clientsandthe
wider public. It also aims to contribute to the development of industrial succession knowing that a potential throwback inthe amount of
available highly qualified professionals in theindustry could meana seriousrisk to maintaining, improvement and development of the
quality of our services. Inorderto secure the highest quality service to our clients we need work with the best professionals. To be able
to have them a competitive industrial educational background is necessary.

Upon the initiative and by funding of T-Labs (Telekom Innovation Laboratories, Berlin) the faculty Data Science and Engineering began
to operate at E6tvos Lorand University from September 2016 asthe first pillar of the EU Labs researcher network.
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Magyar Telekomalso provides practice opportunitiesfor secondary school pupilsfrom the relevanttechnological industries. In2018
45 students have spent their obligatory practices atour company.

We supported the work of the Environment Protection Committee of the Hungarian Academy of Sciences aswell as the scientific work
ofthe National Adaptation Center. Our colleaguesarein close relationship with several higher educationinstitutes and we help the
universitieswithconsultancy for writing theses, expert education and giving lectures.

3.4.2 Employee expectations and equal opportunities

The pillars of our People Strategy are based on the aim to meet the needs of ouremployees, and to live up to the challenges of
maintaining ourcompany status as a highly competitive and future oriented employer. Ouremployees require security, stability,
opportunities foradvancement and competitive compensations. Magyar Telekom, as a company committed to provide equal
opportunities to its employees, finds it especiallyimportant to harmonize wages and to terminate unjust wage gaps. Our tiered wage
system, built on the Hay methodology, serves the above purpose. Ourremuneration system is fullytransparent thus our base wage
tables and the relevant policies are available for allemployees. We pay extraordinary attention notto differ unreasonably the wages of
the employees performing the same tasksand that the wage differences between the employees reflect real work differences.

As an employer dedicated to diversity asa core value, Magyar Telekom finds it importantto raise the amount of women inleadership
positions. As a member of Deutsche Telekom Group the objectivein 2010 was to increase the proportion of female managers to 30%
by 2020. Along the aim to contribute to reaching the defined target, the company strives to utilize the actual business benefits inherent
to the advancement of corporate diversity culture.

Magyar Telekomconsiders stress, overload and burnout related risk-reduction as its priority dutyin relation to its employees. In order
to take charge of theserisks by securing an empowering environment to develop and maintaina healthylifestyle, employeesarealso
provided with coaching and trainingopportunities that help in the advancement of their task management skills. Efficient work-life
balance of employees with families is further supported by our child-friendly offices and the available, tax-free nurseryand/or
kindergarten support that could be selected from our cafeteria benefit scheme, thus contributing to the reduction of expenses. Taking
notice of the special conditions of employees (ex. illness or the longer term domestic care of a relative) a longer period of unpaid leave
is also available.

3.5 Performance indicators

Education results of the 2016-2020 Sustainability Strategy:
= 48051 smarter brains since 2016 withthe help of digitalinclusion programs eg. Digital Bridge, LTI

Non-typical employment at Magyar Telekom Group
= No. of Part-timeemployeesin2018: 585

= No. of Flexitime employeesin 2018: 1395

= No. of Teleworking employeesin 2018: 3046

More women in leadership positions at Magyar Telekom Plc.
= Percentage of women in overallworkforce: 35.5%

= Percentage of women in senior management: 23.5%

= Percentage of women in executive board: 40%

Volunteer work benefits at Magyar Telekom Group
= No. of volunteerworking hours: 11 991
= No. of supported people by the projects: 22 581

3.6 ESOP organization

In 2018 the Company continued its incentive program based on the reshaped renumeration policy launched in 2017. According to the
2018 program the central bonuselement of employees of Magyar Telekom Plc. and T-Systems Magyarorszag Zrt. will be paid through
the ESOP organization. In orderto maintain the program, the company has transferred 8 845 794 Magyar Telekomsharesto the
ESOP organization in two steps. The vesting condition of the 2018 year program is that is the operating free cash flow forthe MT-
Hungary segment for the financial year ending December 31, 2018 to exceed that forthe previous year ending December 31, 2017.1In
accordance with the remuneration programthose employees of the Company and T-Systems Magyarorszég Zrt. are rewarded who are
under the personalscope of the Remuneration policyapproved on March 26, 2018 by the Company’s Board of Directors. Forfurther
informationsee Note 20.1.2.5 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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4 COMPENSATION OF MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORY BOARD,
AND MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The aggregate compensation of the members of the Board of Directorsin their capacity asBoard memberswasHUF 13 million in
2018.

The aggregate compensation of the members of the Supervisory Board in their capacity as Supervisory Board members was HUF 63
millionin 2018,

The total compensation expenses(including social security and other payroll-related taxes aswell ascontractual termination
expenses) of the members of the Management Committee (MC) was HUF 1,116 millionin2018.

On December 31, 2018, five MC members have anemployment contract with indefinite duration. The notice period is two months for
all five of the indefinite contracts. Pursuant to Hungarian legislation, if an employment contract is terminated before the end of its term,
the absence fee received for the remaining period is up to 12 months. In case of one contract the severance payment is in accordance
with the Labour Code and the Collective Agreement, forthe rest of the contracts the severance payment isbetween 3 and 16 months.
The employment status of the sixth member of the MC got terminated as of December 31,2018.

In addition to the above, the affected persons are bound by the non-compete clause, underwhichthe employee is barred from
entering into employment with anyHungarianor international competitor of Magyar Telekom and is required to refrain fromproviding
director indirect servicesor activities of any kind to such companies fora definite period (not longer than one year) upon termination
of his/her employment. Furthermore, such employee isbarred from anyactionaimed to recruit employees of Magyar Telekom for any
other company. This limitation entails certain compensation which is proportional with the above obligation. If the employeeisin
breach of the agreement, he/she will reimburse the net amount of compensationto the employer. In addition, the employee will be
liable for a payment of compensation to the employer.

MC members from foreign countriesmay be entitled to housing subsidies. There are no current membersaffected by this entitle ment.

Inline with the Company’s remuneration guidelines, the Company provides contribution-based personal pension scheme and
personal insurance scheme on behalf of the MC members. In addition, the MC members are entitled to the use of companycars.

For information about the Share Based Compensationprograms, see Note 20.1.2 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

5 RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Hungary

In 2018, within the scope of tender obligations, the research and development activities of Magyar Telekom were comprised of
maintaining the R&D tender project funded and awarded by the National Research, Development, and Innovation Fund.

During 2017, in addition to the tender obligation, we have continued the developmentof several project related products and services
that were based on the R&D activities of previousyears.

In addition to the above, in2018 we have continued our common R&D projects with the Hungarian Academy of Sciences in thefields
Big Data. We haveinvestigated the opportunities of modelling and forecasting mobility trends in city regions using mobile data.

In addition to innovative domestic SMEs, the research and development tasks are performed by the internal researchers aswell as the
product and services development staff of Magyar Telekom. In addition, the Company leverages the synergistic effect of an internal
and external knowledge base, and strivesfor partnership with well-known innovation centers and institutes of higher education. Our
main partners are renowned Hungarian universitiesand research institutes, such as the Budapest University of Technologyand
Economics, the Eotvos Lorand University, the Budapest Corvinus University, the Obuda University, and the Hungarian Academy of
Sciences.

Within the framework of cooperationlaunched in 2016, we have continued our work with the Technische Universitat Berlin, the
Department of Data Science and Data Technology operating at the Faculty of Informatics at the Eétvds Lorand University, the research
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and development department of Magyar Telekomand Deutsche Telekom, and the Telekom Innovation Laboratories(T-Labs) in Berlin.

Asthe partner of EIT Digital, Magyar Telekom promotes and supports even closer cooperation betweenhigher education institutions
andtheir industrial partners. Within this framework, the Budapest University of Technologyand Economics and the Eétvos Lorand
University provides professional support to students within the EIT Digital post gradual training system.

In 2018, we have launched the 2" season of our intemalidea incubation initiative the Mission T Program. All the applicarts were from
the employees of the Magyar Telekomgroup. Within the framework of this program applications are received and after several rounds
of selection, the best fiveideas are realized to prototype level. Thiswill be followed by the go-live and business utilization of stand-alone
prototypes.

In addition to the above, Magyar Telekom also believes it importantto support R&D type knowledgetransfer projects. As a result, ithas
been an active participant of the EIT ICT Labs knowledge transfer program asa professional cooperating partner since 2012, and
cooperates several international R&D tender initiatives.

Macedonia

Makedonski Telekom(MKT) continues with its determination and itswork to be innovationand technology leader on the market.
Among the main focuses, as a continuationto the previous years, are the projects in the area of the Smart City. Further to our
successful Smart Bus Transport Project implemented forthe City of Skopje in 2015 and 2016 and realized demooperation solutions
for a Smart Light, Smart Waste, Smart Parking, Smart Bench and Electrical Vehicle Charging in 2017, duringthis yearwe have
demonstrated the advantages fromthe implementation of such smart systems and our competences in this areato municipalities and
key accounts.

Apart of the Smart City businessarea, we drive full force exploring of other business possibilities for growth and development,in the
field of finance, health, education etc, especially considering their business prospectsand potentials interms of top line growth of our
ICT and B2B business in overall. MKT as firm supporter of the new era of smart connected way of life and working, in 2018 we realized
successfully our pilot project in the area of Smart school - Hybrid Classroom, that is about implementation of ICT assisted solution for
interactivelearning at classes and atdistance, intwo secondaryschoolsin the City of Skopje. Implementation of this projectaims at
creating positive change of way of education, providing advanced, self-driven, collaborative and interactive classroom experience for
youngsters. As wellits aimis to demonstrate how use of technology could support the quality and efficiency of the education, thus
impacting the longterm development of the educational systemas well as the societyand economy.

Moreover we investigated potential marketand we made cost analysis for implementation of Narrowband for Internet of Things (NB-
loT).

Also, utilizing the potential coming out from the EU funded projects inthe smart Digitalization, loT solutions, e-government, etc., was
under close loop as well.

In addition to the business development activities given above, in 2018 we put focus to the development of the projectsand products
for digitalization and smart working forthe business segment, whichwe believe that are growing market potentials in the forthcoming
years, expected to be driven by the advantages of the efficiency of ICT indaily workflows systems and networks, as well asby the
transparency and accountability of such solutions.

Under the motto - INNOVATION SYNERGIES - WIN WITHPARTNER, we keep further on our strategic technology partnerships-Cisco
Gold, EMC Cloud solution provider and Microsoft Silver Data Center. Furthermore, in 2018 we got recertification of our Oracle
Platinum and HP Business partnership, and havefinished the process of getting a status of Microsoft Cloud Solution provider and we
lunched Office 365 as a first Microsoft Cloud product. These partnerships are confirmations of MKT’s competences inthe areas of
enterprise networks, cloud, collaborations, network securities, and Data Centertechnologies. Such competencesare deemed to be
crucial assets on which we can leverage further in our ICT business development activities.

Competitive pressure inconjunction with saturated Telco market, complexity of business environment with multiple and more
sophisticated customersegments, multiple vendors and complex service offerings, fast changes inthe technology withnew
technology paradigm targeting for one universal IP network and cloud based service delivery platform, as well as changesinthe
regulations, are only part of the challenges that MKT will face in the next fewyears.
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In order to keep sustainable business and major revenue streams invery complex telecommunication environment, as well as
proactively influence to market trends with new business opportunities, MKT is aiming to keep technology leadership position and
ensure growth through serviceimprovement and innovation by continuous development of its infrastructure.

Development of infrastructure and investment in Technology should encompass the following objectives/trends: broadband
performance, integrated service delivery platforms, efficiency and quality leadership, self-service enablers, cloud concept and “virtual”
infrastructure, cost efficiency, flexibility and responsiveness - reduced time-to-market, aswell as competence development.

During 2018, we have made significant steps towards achievement of our goals with development of telecommunication network,
service platformsand supporting systems.

In order to ensure high quality Broad Band (BB) performance, BB market and technology leadership, MKT is continuously investing in
fixand mobile access development. Atthe end of 2018, more than 172,500 homes passed installed capacity or 30,5% MKT network
households’ coverage with FTTH was reached. Regarding VDSL rollout, total numbersof VDSLCO was more than 154k and more
than 13k VDSL FTTC homes passed.

Hybrid Access Solution was further developed which aggregatesthe bandwidth of both DSL and LTE transmissionlinks and create a
single, powerful broadband pipe between the network service node and customer’s Broadband CPE. At the end of 2018, there were
more than 4,8K users and more than 2,8KFMS users.

Significantimprovement was also donein LTE rollout, reaching 92%territory coverage and 99,67% population coverage outdoor.
More than 95% of total sites provide LTE services. At the end of 2018, 62% of BTSs were connected via optic.

Alongside extensive mobile BB access rallout, during 2018, high focus was set on the network qualityand performance, whichis
confirmedby P3 “Bestin Test” cettificatein November 2018 which represents an interationally recognized acknowledgement for
quality of mobile network, as well as by the National Report for Network Quality Parameters prepared by the Agency. Makedonski
Telekom s the bestin class for voice and dataservices and leads the overall ranking with 907 points.

During 2018, the emphasis was placed on fix voice network modernization. The scope of the project included HW/SW upgrade of IMS
network nodes, OSS migration and consolidation, MMDec HW/SW upgrade, as well as LIHW/SW upgrade. Projectfor Consolidation
of subscriber databases finished with migration of fixed customers at the end of November2018. It was in awayto unify the existing
monolithic 2G/3G and LTE UDM mobile networkswith the existing monalithic UDM for IMS fixed network. It provides consolidation of
user data for all network functions like userauthentication, service authorization, mobility management and fraud protection on a
single SDM system, thusenabling convergence of CS, PS, EPC, WLAN, M2M and IMS user profile se vices.

MKT continuously followthe newest technology trends in the world thus providing their customers with the latest innovative services
which constantly keep themas leading operators on the market in Macedonia and wider aspart of DT Group. In that line, start of
VoLTE projectin MKT was announced at the end of 2018. It is one of the moreimportant projects planned for 2019 with commer cial
start planned forthe end of 2019. The introductionof VoL TE will guarantee for long-term competitiveness of mobile services in
Makedonski Telekomby securing leading position on Macedonian market, at the same time following DT PANNET strategyand
fulfilling the given directions and requirements.

Technicalimplementation of Mobile Virtual Network Operator wasfinished withinternal resourcesand Managed Services help at the
end of 2018. Planned commercial launch is at the beginning of 2019. Modermnization of voice network will continue in direction of MSS
HW and SW modemizationfor MKT mobile users. The 2019 project isdriven by the HW/SW EoS (End of Support) dates and they will
cover both MSSssites, Skopje and Velesand it isaimed for MSS SW/HW upgrade to SW version 18B and replacement of existing
MGWSs with new MRS network elements.

The growth of BB access and continuoustrafficincrease are supported with further development of IP Core and transport network as
cornerstone of all services. During the last twoyears, IP Core & Transport Network Modernization project which includes
modernization, reorganization and extension of all IP Core Network elements, Transport and Aggregation systems was successful ly
completed. MKT managed to install full DWDM network and finalized IP Coreimplementation and i ntegration, as well as IP Core
services migration. Plansareto continue with HA Aggregation Network modernization and to finish 100% of the Aggregation sites and
to continue withactivities formodemizationof SPNI & BRAS segment of the network.

Video and high-speed data services are expected to be the maindriverand main potential for further market differentiation as well as
main opportunityfor business growth. In order to improve the quality of IPTV service and to achieve the ambition for number 1 TV
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provider on the Macedonian market, it isvery important to follow the newtechnologiesand new market trends. Inthat line, e xpectation
from the platformbesides ensuring high quality of the existing services is new functionality thatshould increase interactivity and
service personalization forthe customers. Implementation of the new IPTV client wascompleted at Q2 2018. Itprovides introducing
new marketing demandsand features on new DT harmonized design of IPTV client userinterface. Replacement of solutionfor IPTV
Network Time Protocol Infrastructure was performed as well. Following the Corporate Strategyandthe EUIT strategy inthe DT group,
MKTIT has developed IT Strategy and Business Plan that is focusing on:

1. Supporting new products development
2. Digitalization

3. Future proof and transformation

4. Cloudification.

There are several projects that are aimed to provide efficient I T systems and solutions which will fulfill the planand reali zation of
strategic focuses. Inorderto support new products development, functional improvements of several systemslike CRM system, Billing,
0SS, as well asSAP system were done during 2018.

Charging System Upgrade project to version CS18 was successfully finished at the end of 2018. SugarCRMMobile Consalidation
project, as well asSugarCRM Sales Force Automation project are ongoing and planed go live is Q1 2019. Change Requestin CRMfor
improved automated provisioning of Hybrid technology and 4G devices, as well as for Complains handling improvements went live in
December 2018. Versionupgrade of BPMS system- (Appian) was successfully done aswell.

The One App project started in Q3 2018 with first delivery planned Q1 2019. Implementation of this project will provide usage of new
generation of Telekom MK self-servicing application that enables MKT customers to easyand online manage theirtelecommunication
services. MKT customers using OneApp will have improved online accessto all their mobile and fix telecommunication services, be
able to online managetheir services, view and pay their bills, top-up voucher, activate add-on services, chat to MKT Customer Service,
view history of their spending, get access to MKT shop map, access to MKT HGW, use SDK modules such asVITO, push notification,
analytics, and many more. The application presentscentral online communicationschannelfor the entire business that will be
available to both residential (PostPaid and PrePaid) and business segments.

Interms of IT infrastructure solutions, during 2018, SAN Infrastructure Renovation Project and Project for Corporate Network
Renovation were completed according plan.

6 REALESTATE, SITESOF OPERATION

We have one of the largest real estate holdings in Hungary and we arealsoa majorreal estate owner in Macedonia. We use
substantially all of these properties for telecommunicationsinstallations, offices, warehouses, garagesand shops. Our equipment and
machinery primarily consist of switches, communicationtowers and othertelecommunications equipment. In orderto increase the
utilization of real estates and increase efficiency, we make efforts to sell our surplus properties.

Headquarters of major member companies of the Group

= Magyar TelekomPlc.:Hungary, 1097 Budapest, Kdnyves Kalman korut 36.

= T-Systems Magyarorszag Zrt.:Hungary, 1097 Budapest, Kdnyves Kalman korat 36.

= MakedonskiTelekomA.D.: Macedonia, 1000 Skopje, Kej 13 Noemvri, No. 6.

= Combridge S.R.L:Romania, Municipiul Sfantu-Gheorghe, Strada 1 DECEMBRIE 1918, parter comercial, nr. VI, Bloc 6, Judet
Covasna

= Novatel EOOD: Bulgaria, Sofia Oblast, Stolichna Municipality, Sofia 1404, Triaditza District, 45A Bulgéria Blvd.

Hungary

Out of the number of 1,702 buildings that take place on the 1,490sites of Magyar TelekomPlc, 48% is owned by the company, 5%
is jointly owned andthe rest 47% is leased. Thesefigures do not contain thetechnology sites, fromthesetypes of sites we have
6,128.

The total area of properties used by Magyar Telekom Plc. asof December 31, 2018 was 669,081 m? . The majority of sites used in our

operations are smaller than 100 m?® The largest site is our headquarters building (leased) located at Kényves Kalman krt. 36 in
Budapest, with floor space of over 55,000 m?
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Macedonia

Atthe end of December 2018, MKT radio access network consisted of 810 physical siteson which there are 694 2G base stations, 798
3G base stations and 771 4G base stations. 91% of the site infrastructure (towers) is in possessionof MKT and 9% isleased.

The total area that is used by MKT is around 109,490 m2 as of December 2018, out of which around 44, 981 m2 are insole
possession of MKT and in great part (55 %) is attributable to 2 major buildings, the headquarters and the main technical building. The
remaining 64,509 m2 are injoint possession with Macedonian Post.

7 SUSTAINABILITY

Magyar Telekomhas been addressing the sustainabilityimplications of its operations for close to twenty years, andin 2000, it wasone
of the first Hungarian companiesto establish a sustainability unit that managed environmental issues in the beginning and coordinates
sustainability processes now. lts sustainability activitiesare characterized by comprehensive, long-term plans, and the Company is
currentlyimplementing itsfourthfive-year sustainability strategy.

Beingaleading ICT providerofthe region, we set an example and provide opportunities by our forward- ooking thinking, innovative,
sustainable products and services and responsible conduct, we contribute to the establishment of a renewable society and
environment.

Magyar Telekomcommitted to support the ten principlesset forth by the UN Global Compact since 2009 in the areas of human rights,
environment and anti-corruption, the results of which are alsoaddressed by our Sustainability Reports.

Magyar Telekom's sustainability activities and achievementsare comprehensively discussed in the annual Sustainability Reports,
which aims to makethe Group’s environmental, social and economic activities transparent to everyone.

The present report includes reference onlyto certain key topics of our sustainability approach, namely human rights, employees,
environment protection and compliance.

Charters and initiatives of cooperation accepted and signed by Magyar Telekom Group

Besides professional challenges, the Group also seeks cooperation opportunitiesfor the solution of social and environmental
problems.

The Group has been an active member of ETNO’s (European Telecommunications Network Operators Association) Sustainability
Workgroup foryears. The members work closely towards solving all kinds of sustainability-related programs. In addition to the three
meetings held eachyear, an internet portal also helps our joint work and contributes to the sharing of best practices.

Inrespect of the helloholnap! fee package we held variousforums with the involved organizations of people living withdisabilities
(AOSZ, EFOESZ, MEOSZ, MVGYOSZ). Our cooperation with these bodies is continuous, active and based on the proposalswe
continuouslyimprove our relationship with disabled people and develop ourrelevant services. The latest version of the fee package
that provides several servicesat the cheap price for disabled people. Thusone living with disability customer can have alltogether
three subscriptions on theirown name.

We supported the work of the Environment Protection Committee of the Hungarian Academy of Sciences. Ourcolleagues are inclose
relationship with several highereducation institutesand we help the universitieswith consultancy for writing theses, expert education
and giving lectures.

OECD-Guidelines - Magyar Telekomhas been the first among the Hungarian companiesto accept OECD Guidelines for Multinational
Enterprises and set them up asmandatory guidelines for its operations.

European Union’s Diversity Charter - has beensigned by the companyand considered as a mandatory guideline inherentin the
corporate Human strategy.

UN Global Compacthas beensigned by the companyandthe current report also stands to report our achievements in the 10
principles.

UN Sustainable Development Goals - Magyar Telekom hasacknowledged the SDG and throughincorporating them asguidelinesin
its Sustainability strategy 2016-2020 the company finds the contribution to the goals a mandatory elementof its operations.

Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP) - Magyar Telekomhas signed the global initiative and fulfillsits annual reporting obligations

The Groupis a member of several working groups of the Hungarian Business Leaders Forum (HBLF).
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Quality guaranteesin the Magyar Telekom Group can be found:
https://www.telekom.hu/about_us/about_magyar_telekom/principles/quality_guarantees

7.1 Sustainability strategy
In 2016, Magyar Telekom Group started its new five-year sustainability strategic cycle, 2016-2020.

In addition to the results of our Sustainability Strategy 2011-2015, the goals and tasks defined forthe period throughthe end of 2020
have been determined by the goals and directionsapplied intemationallyin terms of sustainable development (SDG, CDP, GeSlI
SMARTer2030, EU2020 climate package), which we, asa Group, adhere to. Whenidentifying our priorities, we havefocused on the
expectationsof the responsible investors monitoring our company and the current corporate trends. Of course, local market
conditions, aswellas consumer behaviorand demand have also been taken into account, so that we be ableto proactivelymeet our
customers’ needs.

When identifying our strategic goals, we kept in mind that our sustainable operationhas a significantimpact on the society, the
economy and the environment. In additionto being responsible forthe livable future of our several million customersand nearly 10
000 employees, asa market leader ICT provider and alarge enterprise of regional proportions, we are aware that our business and
operational decisionsinfluence the economy and the society of the future, too. Itisour firm belief that we, as a company, are
responsible forall the groups of people whom we can enable by ICT solutions, and that we haveto make social, economicand
environmental responsibility a part of our corporate genetic code to thus promote sustainable developmentand opportunities for
future generations.

The main objective set forth by the fouth Sustainability strategy strategy covering the period throughthe end of 2020 is to make
sustainability part of Magyar Telekom’s business. This can be ensured, if consideringallthree pillars of sustainability, we are
comprehensive, credible and innovative.

Until 2020, climate protection, education and awareness, and digitally enabled sustainability are the majorfoci of the strategy.
Climate protection

Our goal isto make our customers climate-conscious, too, and to be an authentic and responsible companythat helps themalong that
journey. Itis our ambitious objective to generate revenue fromour climate protection activities, as the ICT world offers especially great
potential for that, at the sametime to push Magyar Telekom Group’s actual C Oz emission below 100,000 tons. In order to achieve the

above, in addition to the emissiondecreasing initiatives, we also need to work on elaborating “green” services specifically.

KPI: push Magyar Telekom Group’s actual CO 2 emission below 100,000 tons
KPI: generate revenue from climate protection
Education

We want to assumea role ineducating the public and our customers. Our goal is to directly orindirectly reach 100,000 people in
Hungary withour trainings by the end of the period covered by the strategy. We shall primarily focus these trainings on two areas:
programs aimed at eliminating the digital gap and the succession pool of the industry.

KPI: 1 000,000 digitally educated people in Hungary
Digitally enabled sustainability

Being a sustainable digital company, itisour clear expectationthat our customers should also use sustainable digital services. To that
end, we striveto pursue responsible marketing and activities that enable and inspire others, aswell as are based on sharing. In this
context, our goalis that awareness about Magyar Telekom, as a sustainable companyshould reach 50%.

KPI: awareness about Magyar Telekom, as a sustainable company should reach 50%
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Awards and recognitions achieved in 2018:

= QOekom - B Primecategory, rank number 1 in Telecommunication sector
= FTSE4Good Index membership

= CEERIUS sustainabilityindexmembership

MSCI ESG rating AA

= Most Appealing Workplace Award

7.2 Initiatives concerning stakeholders

In order to successfully operatethe company it is essential to have strong relations with stakeholders.
Below you will find a list of our key activities with our stakeholders the details of which are elaborated in the respective chapters of the

Sustainability Report:

= |nvestors - Investor (and responsible investor) assessment

= Customers - Sustainable products and services, hello holnap! mobile app

= Employees - community solar pilot, diversity culture survey, helloholnap! points

= Regulators - conformity, regulatory relations

= | ocal communities -Telekom Voluntary Day, Autistic Art Strategic Partnership (donations, voluntary, tablets, awareness videos),
Telekom Community Gardens

= Non-profit organizations - Sustainability Roundtable Discussion, 11th Sustainability Day

= Suppliers - sustainable supplier chain, TOP3 sustainable supplier of Magyar Telekom

= Media - Sustainability Media Club, Press Award on the Sustainability Day

= Future generations - Becomean | T expert! sustainable innovation, sustainable innovations

For the year of 2018 we started the communitysolar program pilot. Most of the electricity consumptionof the educational building in
Kékviragstreetis givenby solar panels located on the roof of the building. During the programemployees had the opportunityto adopt
asolar paneland get extra benefitin exchange. 113 solar panels had been adopted in 2 workdays.

In 2018, we organized the Sustainability Roundtable Discussion forthe 19th time, the objective of which is to have an open dialogue
with our stakeholders for the sake of understanding the demands towards Magyar Telekom Group, discussing the arising problems,
andto provide a suitable background for thinking together and co-operating in buildinga sustainable future.

In 2008, our Company founded the DELFIN (the word for dolphin in Hungarian) award, which in Hungarian stands for “Award fora
Committed, Sustainable, and Innovative Generation”. With the DELFIN award Magyar Telekom wants to promote the idea of a
sustainable development and recognize efforts made towardsthis goal. The award is given to suppliers offering outstanding
performance in thefield of sustainability, in four categories:

= Sustainable innovation;

= Diversity;

= Climate protection;

= Raising sustainability awareness.

Ajury of experts decides which submitted project should receive the award. The eleventh award ceremony took place on June 15,
2018, as part of the Sustainability Roundtable. In 2018, we recognized organizations and businesses promoting climate protection
and awareness raising.

The 11th Sustainability Day event took place on September 29, 2018. Thetopic of the day was liveliness. More than six thousand
visitors attended the event wherethey participated in panel discussions on the three pillars of sustainabilityand examined pieces of
works submitted to the creative design exhibition as well as exhibitors.

The event presented an opportunity to hand overthe Sustainability Media Award for the eighth time by the members of the
Sustainability Media Club - established by Magyar Telekom. Awards were distributed in three categories: tv/radio/videocontent,
written newspaper (print, online); blog, vlog. The award amounted to HUF 300 000 for each category.

In 2018, we continued to sensitize our employees to socialissues by organizing volunteer work events. The strategic targetof the
corporate volunteering is 50,000 hours of voluntary work by Magyar Telekomemployees. To achieve that they had the possibility to
grow the amount of the theoretical contribution to society by educational (eg. Be an IT expert!,) and charity (eg. Itisgood to give!
cookie campaign) voluntary events and the Telekom Voluntary Day. The philanthropic voluntary programs are very popular among our
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employees eg.the seasonal blood donation orhelpingin caring homes operated by associationsfor youthlivingwith disabilities.
During the year 1059 colleaguesworked 11,991 hours of volunteer work, by means of whicha theoretical amount of HUF 42.1 million
was thus donated to the society.

In 2018, the “hello holnap!” employee point collection was transformed. Inthe fifthyear of the initiative (between 1 April 2017 and 31
March 2018). The first three employees whocollected the mostpoints and the TOP 1 employee who collected the most points inthe
five-year period were given a Feldobox voucher. Near than 30,000 points were collected by 11,000 colleagues between 2013 and
2018. After that employees collect pointsin “helloholnap!” mobile application.

The children’s protection website of Magyar Telekomdedicated to threats caused by children’smedia consumption. The website
provides informationto parents not only aboutICT technologies, devicesand content, but also about threats caused by their usage
and consumption, as well as possible preventive measures. More details are available on:

http://www.telekom.hu/about_us/society_and_environment/society/protection_of_our_children.

We launched the “helloholnap!” mobile app on September 27,2014, by whichwe drew attention to Telekom'’s sustainability efforts in
particular and sustainable lifestyles in general. By using the app, users can collect “helloholnap!” points and donate them, converted
into real money by Telekom, to non-governmental organizations of their choice. The success of the mobile application in 2018 isbest
represented by the factthat it has more than 17,000 downloads and HUF M 2.4 have been donated to the organizations connected to
the application.

One pillar of atypical staffing is telework, which is one of the most important sustainability aspects of the Future Work project. Working
from home in the framework of the project launched in July 2014 enabled the Company’s employeesto savetime and mileage. Thus,
drivers can relievethe environment of asmuchas 4 million kilometers and twenty years of travel in201 8.

7.3 Annual Sustainability Report

Magyar Telekom Group has committed, among otherthings, to publishreports about its sustainability performance annually. Whenthe
reports are compiled the GRI (Global Reporting Initiative) guidelines are applied, thus ensuring compliance with the principle that the
reports have to be the cornerstones ensuring transparency and international comparability. Since 2007 Magyar Telekom has prepared
reports adhering to the highest level of compliance withinternational standards each year, thusthe 2013 Sustainability Report was the
seventh to meet the requirements of the GRI A+ applicationlevel.

The 2014 and 2015 Sustainability Report was compiled along the Fourth-Generation Principles set forth by the Global Reporting
Initiative (GRI G4), whilethe 2016 and 2017 Sustainability report was compiled along the newest requirement, the GRI Standard It was
applied on comprehensive level and includes more information about the Group’s sustainability performance. The independent
assuranceand certification of compliance with the GRI Standard criteriawas conducted by PricewaterhouseCoopers along the IS AE
3000 international standard. Further details on the sustainability performance of the Company can be found in the annual reports
available on:

https://www.telekom.hu/about_us/society_and_environment/sustainability_reports

The 2018 Sustainability Reportisgoing to be published in 2019 spring.

8 ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION

8.1 Policies

Magyar Telekom Group upholds its commitment to sustainable development and the environment protection in the environmental
policy. The policy contains obligations for the members of the Magyar Telekom Group both individually and asa Group:
https://www.telekom. hu/static-tr/sw/file/Magyar_Telekom_environmental_policy. pdf

The Group-level coordination is continued to be implemented underthe auspices of the Group Sustainability Coordination Council
(GSCC). The levels of development and management of the corporate sustainability strategy are separated fromthe operative
implementationlevel withinthe operation of the GSCC, thusthe process of implementing sustainability activities is divided to the
following levels:
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1. Strategy development and strategy management level operating under the auspices of the GSCC: development of strategic
concepts, implementation of the strategy, relevant communication with national and international organizations

2. Operativeimplementation level managed by relevant organisations of the governance areas and business units, actual operative
activities, task management, data provision etc.

The GSCC’soperation is regulated by a group level directive: on the regulation of Magyar Telekom Group’s sustainability operation
and the responsibilities and competence of stakeholders.

The operative management of Magyar Telekom Group, the Management Committee receives at least once a year areport on the
implementation of the tasks of the Group Sustainability Strategy and other ongoing significant sustainability activities, results, potential
exposures and opportunities.

The MC is informed on the latest sustainability trends and may respond to the feedback from stakeholders through the annual report
and based on the report may decide on the amendment of the strategy. The MC keeps contact with the stakeholders through the
GSCC. Incoming inquiries are received by the respective professional areasand critical commentsregarding sustainabilityare
transferred to the responsible staff membersby the GSCC members. According to the relevant group directive the strategic tasks are
allocated to the respective Chief Officers.

8.2 Results of the policies

As a leading provider of info-communications services in the region, Magyar Telekom’s commitment to sustainable development witha
focus on preserving the environment lies in the centre of itsmission. In our new Sustainability Strategy 2016-2020 we set the ambitious
goal to reduce the level of our carbon dioxide emissionbelow 100 000 tons.

In 2018 we continued our carbonoffset project. We spent half of theincome of our company car policy regulated bonus-malus system
to carbon offset. Ouraim was to become carbon neutral again in 2018 too. We have reached our goal by using 100% renewable
energy for our electricityand we offset the rest of our emissions, by purchasing and retiring 30,000 CER (Certified Emission Reduction)
units. The reductioncame from a Chinese project. In 2018 Magyar Telekom Plc. has purchased 180 GWh of renewable energy that is
equal with 100% of the total amount of electricity used by the Company.

Our highlighted environmental and operational ecoefficiency goals are:

= Reducing our CO2 emissions (target set below 100 000 tons of CO2 by 2020)

= Energy consumption: saving energy (reduce consumption), increase of energy efficiencylevels, using greenenergy
= |ncreasethe energyefficiency of our buildings

= Decrease ourfleet consumption, promotion travel replacement solutions, and dematerialization solutions

= |ntroduction of sustainable and climate friendly products and services

= Waste management: reduction of waste (increased recycling-rate)

= Measure the climate footprint of our customersand suppliers

8.3 Risks

Based on the Business Continuity Management System (BCM) we have identified the critical climaterisks(floods, heat waves) that
might affect our operations and we have prepared action plans for possible risk management. According to ourannual assessment the
rate of climate damage in the network did not reach the level of intervention (HUF 50 million damage/ month). In 2018 we have
identified 228 climaterelated cases(storm damage) with the costs of 23.3 million HUF. During heatwaves we allow our colleaguesto
work remotelyin order to reduce the energy consumption of our offices, and we increase the core temperature of our datacentersand
base stations.

8.4 Performance indicators

Cumulated CO2 emission - 96,842 tons CO2

Group CO2 emissionby categories - Scope1:21,783 tons CO2, Scope2: 75,059 tons COz
Energy efficiency - bits transmitted / energy consumption - 115.47 Gbit/kWh

The average CO2 emission of thefleet - 114.9 g/km CO?2
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9 CORPORATE COMPLIANCE

When shaping the compliance program of the Magyar Telekom Group, the goal was to ensurethat the Magyar Telekom Group
pursues its business activitywith maximum awareness of and commitment to the compliance with the applicable lawsand legal
provisions, in accordance with the strictest norms of ethical business conduct. To thisend, we issued decreesaddressing the
potentiallyarising compliance-related risks, and we apply the procedures setout in these decrees and arrange continuoustraining
courses for ouremployees related to these procedures. We established clear concise processes to report, examine, follow up and
correct suspected cases of non-compliance.

The Corporate compliance program issupervised by the Group compliance officer. The Group compliance officerreportsdirectly to
the Audit Committee, and cooperates with the Board of Directors, the Supervisory Board and the management. The Corporate
compliance program focuseson the Code of Conduct

Code of Conduct of the Magyar Telekom Group contains the summary of the compliance requirement within the company, sets
common values of the Group and isa keyto the strong position, reputation and successful future of Telekom. The Code of Conduct
applies to everyone withinthe Magyar Telekom Group from the employees to the members of the Board. In addition, contracted
partners of the Magyar Telekom Group also have to know and accept these values, when registering to the procurement website.

Inthe year 2010 an extemnal independent party audited the implementation of the Compliance program, and we were awarded a
certificate of compliance with the external expectations and of the implementation of the system. The programwas revised in 2013,
including other related areas aswell - such as procurement, intemal audit, HR, sales. The audit was not aimed onlyat the
implementationand cortrol of the system in the different areas, but it measured the operational efficiency of the control sy stem.
We met the expectations and were awarded by a certificateissued by Ernst&Youngas independent external party. In 2017 again an
external auditor (KPMG) eval uated the effectiveness of the compliance management system of Magyar Telekom, andissued a
certification that the program complieswith the requirements of the new anti-corruption ISO standard.

The first distance learmning course addressing compliance was started in 2008 in the topic of “Conscious recognition of fraud and
corruption”. Since then we have been providing a general eLearning course for our new employees, mandatoryfor all colleagues
joining to the company. The course is completed with the acceptance of the Code of Conduct. Since the start of the program, 67 955
distance learning courseswere completed by the employees on group level, related to topics, such ascompliance awareness, su pplier
due diligence, anti<orruption measures, incompatibility or insidertrading.

On the top of that, our company has arranged personal training sessionsfor employeesworking in professional areas exposed to
compliance and abuse related risks - both within the parent company and Hungarian and international subsidiaries - in thetopics of
organized anti-corruption behavior, screening of contracted partners and rules of giving and accepting gifts.

In 2018 - similarly to the practice of the previous years - risk analyses were conducted with the participation of organizations and
subsidiaries of Magyar Telekom Nyrt. Based on the results of the survey, acomprehensive audit was prepared for the potential
compliance and abuse risks, the result of which was submitted to the Audit Committee of the Company.

During the year we check the soundness of the reports submitted to our company in connection with unethical behavior, and if
necessary, weacton thesereports. In case we identify actual abuses, we take care of the necessaryand adequate countermeas ures.
Magyar Telekompublished all cases of corruption and the related countermeasures in accordance with the related applicable laws
and legal provisions.

9.1 Fight against bribery and corruption
9.1.1 Policies

Magyar Telekomdes not tolerate any attempts of corruption, so numerous proceduresand policieswere introduced to prevent and
fight corruption. Magyar Telekom complies with the anti-corruption rules the Group, and expectsits business partners not engage in
unlawful activities (including breaching the anti-corruption laws) such as utilize any money or other services provided by Magyar
Telekom for unlawful purposes. This also includesdirector indirect payments to individual(s) to improve the perception of Magyar
Telekom (or any partiesacting for Magyar Telekom) or to influence anybusiness decision. Magyar Telekom strictly prohibits anyform
of corruption including (but not only), receiving personal advantages or monetary gains, accepting or providing bribes or promising
facilitating payments. The Group also prohibits employeesto make beneficial decisions towards family, friends or ¢l ose or distant
acquaintances. Itis not allowed to provide anygift or invitation to anevent to third partiesif it could potentiallyinfluence any business
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transaction. Magyar Telekom Group does not support morally orfinancially any political parties, organizationsor representatives of
these. Magyar Telekom will not start business relations with third parties thatviolate the anti-corruption clauses of the Compliance
Program or the basic principlesof the Code of Conduct.

Due Diligence procedures: There are no fixed procedures on howthorough due diligence should be to avoid legal responsibility or any
investigation as perthe anti-corruption laws. The aimof these procedures isto identify high-risk areas, and to provide indication when
further due diligence or reviewis required.

9.1.2 Result of the policies

During the year, we have verified the plausibility of any complaints we have received about unethical behaviourand initiated internal
investigations if necessary. If we have identified any misconduct we initiated the necessary measures and actions. Anycomplaints
regarding breaches of internal orexternal rules can be sent to the Tell Me!portal of Magyar Telekom. Any questions regarding
corporate compliance can be asked on the Ask Mel intranet portal.

9.1.3 Risk

The basis and prerequisite of the efficient defense against breaches of laws and policies isthe register and analysis of compliance
risks and identified other compliancerelevant cases atMagyar Telekom. The yearly Compliance Risk Assessment (CRA) handles
active and passive corruptionseparately. Therisk assessment always includes Magyar Telekom, T-Systemsand Makedonski Telekom.
Other subsidiaries can be included on acase-by-case basis, based on information originating frominternal investigations. The CRA
fully covers the abovementioned companies. The Group Compliance Officer informs the Audit Committee, the Board of Directors, and
the managementabout the result of the risk assessment and gives an update about the status of the measures in every quarter.

10 ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENTS

The telecommunications industryis undergoing a major change globally. Worldwide trends are driving towards an integrated
telecommunications, information, media and entertainment market. The increasing need for mobility and interactivity together with
local specificscreatea newset-up in oureconomic environment in terms of infrastructure, servicing and newtypes of business
models.

Hungary

Traditional telco markets are shrinking on midterm. Market for voice services (both mobile and fixed) is saturated and voice services
becoming a utilitywth flat tariffs and simple offers. Thereis anincreasing demand for data servicesdriven by contentconsumption but
strong competition puts pressure on prices. The centre of offering is data service both on fixed and mobile focusingon speed infixed
and unlimited on mobile. The fixed market is characterized by fixed-mobile integrated bundles, with broadband becoming a core
element of service offerings. After finalization of Vodafone - UPC merge we still expect Digi - still struggling to launchits ownmobile
service - to enterthe market asa third FMC operator.

Mobile market is characterised by great quality and coverage fromnetwork perspective. The mobile broadband uptake still fuelsthe
overall mobile market. However, the increasing regulation, in particular the abolishment of roaming fees and the decreasein mobile
termination rates, is putting further pressure on market players. 2019 is the year of introduction for 5G networks as well. 5G networks is
no longer the network with residential segment focus, but rather the industrial usage.

The growing economic environment had a positive effecton the households’ budget in recent years. The growing budgets however
are hardtotranslate into growing telco spending.
Macedonia

Positive impact to overalleconomy expected, upon initiation of accession talks with the EU in June 2019 and NATO full membership
by mid-2020 (After changing the country’s constitutional name to North Macedonia, thus fulfilling its part of the mutual agreement with
Greece to unlock Macedonia’sNATO and EU integration).

Based on the above, main economy driversexpected to rebound, resulting telco market stabilization and return to growth.
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Telekom withvery good financial performance YoV, showing growth of +2,1% on revenues and +4,5% EBITDA excl. Sl. achieving
positive turnaround in revenue developmentin 2018.

Integrated telcomarket overview shows stable position of Telekom with 55,0% Q3’18 revenue market share, VIPwith37,7% Q3’18
and 7,3% Q3’18 to other operators.

Mobile market is still remaininglimited to current (2) players, although an opendoor isstill kept further for new entrant (after several
announcemernts by the regulator on expressed interests by 3rd parties). Lycamobile, currently single mobile MVNO inthe country with
insignificantrevenue share and focused only on prepaid segment. New MVNO entrant announced with start of operationsat beginning
of2019. The new entrant, Telekabel (major cable operator), with expected impact on postpaid segmentand FMC market.

Fix market, from2019, with 3 integrated playersfocused on convergent offers on the Marketand other smaller operators. Telekom
with further focus on fiber roll-out and providing high speed and high qualityintemet to its customers.

11 TARGETSANDSTRATEGY
11.1 Outlook

The telecommunications industryis undergoing significant changes globally. We have observed several long-term trendswhich are
changing the structure of the telecommunications market. These longterm trends include changes in technology (Digitalization, AR &
VR, Al, autonomous driving, 10T), customer requirements (e.g., media consumption everywhere, wearables, eHealth solutions) and
competition and regulation (e.g. low entry barriers, new business models, convergencein the telecommunicationsand media
broadcastindustry).

Each of our business segments is affected by their own unique business environment,and we are subjectto circumstances and events
that are unforeseen or are beyond our control. The global economy recovered from the crisisand passed the first shock of Bre xit and
the uncertainty of Trump’s appearance. Our business environment largely dependson the monetary policy of the FED, the growth of
the Chinese and European economy and the movements of EU funds. The last 3 years have brought significant prosperity inthe world
economy and that pulled the Hungarian economy too.

Hungary

The biggest challenges for Magyar Telekom are the intense optical rollout in fixed and the datatraffic increase of the mobile market
while competition is ready to to challenge Magyar Telekom on the FMC market on midterm . We aim to keep the leading position on
our key markets with the continuously growing number of customerswithMagenta 1 offers which connect the mobile and fixed
services, and with theimprovement & utilization of the HSI (high speed interet) network. In addition, the SI/IT market isexpected to
grow further thanksto the developmentof digital economy; our intentionis to increase our market sharethrougha greater focus on
high margin system integration projects. On midterm thereis a focus on increasing the income of service based solutionsfor the
business segment.

Macedonia

One of the main challenges on the market is new MVNO enrtry by Telekabel (Major CaTV operator), becoming new convergent player,
besides Makedonski Telekom and VIP (rebrandingexpected in A1 Telekom Austria’s brand in 2019).

Despite new challenges, Makedonski Telekom keeps growthand market share perspectives, confirmed by number 1 position in
Technology (by P3 international benchmarking), scoring historic highest resultin Macedonia’s history, also supported by very high
results of TRIM indexes, confirming the strive for number 1 position insuperior network and technology, thus having highest customer
satisfaction on the market, securingfirmlynumber! market position in the years to come aswell.

With regards to regulatory strategyin alignment with DT EU strategy, Makedonski Telekom is focused at:

= Announced NRA’s planfor reductionof roaming and international termination prices betweenWest Balkan countries until
2021
= Introduction of National NGN Broadband Plan
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= Latestamendments of Lawon audio and audio visual mediaservices, process fortesting economical replicability for retail
and wholesale NGN products

= Draft Consumer protection law

= Radiofrequencies allocation

11.2 Revenue, EBITDA and Capex targets

Magyar Telekomcontinued to deliver strong performancein 2018. Our continued commitment to satisfy our customers’ needs and
constantly refresh our product offering strengthened our position in the market in several keyareasincluding post-paid mobile, TV and
fixed broadband.

The strong revenue growth recorded by the Group in thefirst nine months of 2018 continued into Q4 2018, resultingina 7.6%
revenue rise forthe full year. Despite the growth of low marginrevenue linessuch as equipmentsales and SI/IT hardware and software
deals we have alsomanagedto grow on EBITDA, thanks to higher gross profit and one-off profit realized by the sale of real estates,
leaving us well positioned for the year ahead.

The Hungarian operation continued on the positive trajectory set earlier this year asrevenueincreased across all three majorservices
lines.

Looking aheadto 2019, we continue our push inthe FMC segment leveraging our position of being the only truly integrated service
provider in the Hungarianmarket. We strongly believe that the key to long-termsuccess lies inthe ability to offer truly integrated
solutions to our customers. In Macedonia, we are confident that, in spite of challenging market conditions, the EBITDA tumaround is
sustainable withupsides thanks to a still growing SI/IT business line.

Looking forward we expect revenues to moderately decline in2019, whilst EBITDA is expected to increase by 1%-2%on a
comparable basis thanks to a reduction in indirect costs. Capital expenditures are expected to remain stable (excluding the increase
driven by IFRS 16 implementation and any possible spectrumcosts) as spending on the fixed network will continueto reflect the
accelerationofthe fiberrollout program. Continuing the successful turnaround in profitability, we expectfree cash flow (excluding
spectrum license fees) to continue increase by around 5%.

Based onthe current operating and regulatory environment and outlook, we expect the Companyto pay HUF 27 dividend per share in
relationto 2019 earnings. Thisis subject to the Board of Directors’ future proposal to the General Meeting which will be submittedin
due course, once all necessaryinformation is available and all prerequisites to making such a proposal are met.

Public guidance:

2018 Actual Public guidance for 2019
Revenue HUF 657 billion slight decline
EBITDA HUF 193 hillion increasing at 1%-2%
Capex‘ HUF 92 billion broadly stable
FCF! HUF 68 billion increasing at ca 5%
Dividend HUF 25 per share® HUF 27 per share

" excludin g spectrum license fees
‘ona comparable basis
7 subject to approval by the General Meeting

11.3 Strategy
Hungary

As a result of our focused strategic efforts, Magyar Telekom maintained itsleading position inits Hungarian fixed voice, broadband,
pay TV, mobile and ICT businessesin 2018, we successfully improved customer retention and delivered strong volumefigures. We
built a word class 4G mobile network and preparing to roll out 5g while massivelyimproving ourfixed line optical coverage in the
coming years.
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Based on our improved network capabilitieswe aim to provide services to all segmentand customer on voice, TV broadband and IT
markets. The strategic objective in the mid-termis to become more agile, enhance efficiency, simplifythe product and services
portfolio, increase process automation and online customer servicing. As an integrated provider, we continue to deliver a unique
customer experience supported by our leading brand and best technology.

While anticipating new competencies required by the changing customer behaviour, technological advances, and new business
models, we aim to exploitour abilities to becomea leaderin all digital services around the home for both customers and third parties.

Following our strategy enables us to exploit and develop our extended customer base, improve efficiencyand capture growth
opportunities in an extended marketof information and communicationstechnology and related industries, which secures stable cash
generation in the long run.

Macedonia

Telekom executed successfullythe “Mission Turnaround” and achieved turnaround and growth in several segments. Withfurther
focus on continuousand sustainable growth and transformation to Telco of Tomorrow, a growth strategy was developed with clear
growth areasand transformation initiatives.

Following the DT strategy of transformation to Telco of Tomorrowwith full focus on the following initiatives:
= Brandand Customer Engagement - position as Premium and most preferred brand

= Fiber - Further FTTHrollout and clear monetization plan

= Simplification - simple and easy to understand from customers perspective

= New It Model -Critical enabler of Digitization

= Common OperationNT/IT across - Data Center consolidation and cloudification

= Efficient Central Business Functions - Agile and Digital Transformation

12 INTERNALCONTROLS, RISKSAND UNCERTAINTIES

12.1 The presentation of the systems of internal controls and the evaluation of the activity in the relevant period

Magyar Telekom’'s management is committed to establish and maintain an adequate internal control system to ensure the reliability of
the financial reports, and minimize operating and compliance risks. Ourinternal control system is designed to provide reasonable
assuranceregarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in conformity
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union.

For the business year 2018 we accomplished control documentation and evaluation in the IT supported ICS'system. Transaction Level
Controls describe the controls builtinto our business processes that have beendesigned and operated to ensure that material
misstatements in eachsignificant financial account and disclosure within the financial statements are prevented or detected in a timely
manner.

Complete evaluation of ourinternal control systemis based on the method established in “Intemal Control —Integrated Framework”
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The operation of the internal control
system is supported also by theindependent internal audit function. Beyond tasks regarding the risk based internal audit work plan,
contributes to the enhancement of the interal control processesand to the reductionof existing risks through ad-hoc audits. The
Internal Audit areafollows up the implementation of the measures defined on the basis of the audits. The Supervisory Board and the
Audit Committee receive regular reportson the findings of the audits; measures, based on the findings and fulfilment of tasks.

Inline with the criteria of the adopted internal control framework, management evaluates the effectiveness of internal contr ol system
within eachfinancial year. Management'sassessment for 2018 is finished, and based on the collected information interal control
system has been operating effectivelyto prevent potential material misstatements in the financial statements, and minimize o perating

"Internal Control System
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and compliance risks.
The Company’s shareholders are being informed about the operation of ourinternal control system through our public reports.

The management and Board of Directors of Magyar Telekom are committed to conduct all business activities of Magyar Telekom Group
according to the highest legal and ethical standards. Based on this commitment the Board of Directors established the Corporate
compliance program of Magyar Telekom.

The Corporate compliance program is applicable to all bodies, organizations, employees of Magyar Telekom Group, and advisors,
agents, representatives as well as to all persons and organizations that work on behalfof the Companyor itssubsidiary.

The Corporate compliance program of Magyar Telekomensuresthat the business activities of the Group are conducted with observing
and in compliance with the relevant laws to the outmost extent, according to the highest standards of training and commitment. It
requires the realization of guidelinesand processes that manage potential compliance risksand implement specific processes in order
to report, investigate, monitorand correct suspected or actual lack of compliance.

12.2 The utilization of financial instruments, risk management and hedging policies

Itis our policy that all disclosures made by us to our security holders and the investment community, are accurateand compl ete, and
fairly present ourfinancial condition and results of operations in all material respects. Such disclosures should be made on atimely basis
as required by applicable laws, rules and regulations. To achievethese objectives we developed and have continuously enhanced our
risk management policies.

Our risk management includes the identification, assessmentand evaluation of risks, the development of necessary action plans, as well
as the monitoring of performance and results. For the risk managementto be effective, we must ensure that the management takes
business decisionswith full understanding of all relevant risks.

In 1999, we established a formal risk management system. This system has been operating in an integrated way with the risk
management system of Deutsche Telekom since 2002,

All risks related to material internal and external operations, financial and legal compliance and certain other risks are evaluated and
managed by a well-defined internal mechanism. A risk management handbook and an internal regulation on risk management were
issued. A risk management course was developed for employees responsible for risk management in all organizational areas. Ris k items
affecting our operations are reviewed quarterly throughout the Company. All of our subsidiaries, business units, divisions and entities
are obligedto identify and report their operational riskson a quarterly basis. Afterthe evaluation of these risks, results are reported to
our management, to the Board of Directors and to the AuditCommittee.

For the sake of prompt disclosure of all risk items influencing investors’ decisions, we enhanced our risk management procedures by
adding a new element. We complemented our quarterly risk reporting system with a continuous reporting procedure which requires all
of our departmentsandsubsidiaries to report on areal-time basisany new material fact, information orrisk that comes to their knowledge.
Informationthus submitted is monitored and evaluated by the risk management areaand the CFQis notified when a new material risk
or information is identified.

Aninternal regulationhas beenissuedto define responsibilities of eachemployeein risk monitoring and management.
12.3 Risk factors

Our financial condition, results of operations or the trading prices of our shares could be materially adversely affected by any of the
risks described below. These risks are not the onlyrisks we face. Additional risks not currentlyknown to us, orrisks that we currently
regard as immaterial, could alsohave a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or thetrading prices of
our shares.

= Qur operations are subject to substantial government regulations, further restrictionsrelated to consumer protection were
published; the change of the price setting methodology of already regulated wholesale products and new type of regulated access
services are probable, which can result in adverse consequences for our business and results of operations;

= Net neutrality regulationhas no defined framework in Hungary yet. Case-by-case decisions of the Regulatory Authority may hinder
innovation;

= We are subject to more intense competition in the fixed business due to meeting our competitorson more and more areaas a
result of the network roll-outs;
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= Hungariantelecommunication market realignes, so we may be subjectof moreintense competition in the mobile and fixed
business (Digi-Invitel acquisition, Vodafone-UPC acquisition, ownership change of Telenor);

= Beyond current market players in Hungary, DIGlalso acquired 2x5 MHz spectrum block in the 1800 MHz band and 1x20 MHz
spectrum blockin the 3400-3600 MHz band, and will most probably enterthe mobile market as a new player ;

= We may be unableto adapt to newtrends and technological changesin the telecommunications market (loT, Big Data, Al, 5G);

= The future of our current operational model is subjectto currently unforeseeable changesin the future business environment;

= Developments inthe technology and telecommunications sectors mayresult inimpairment of the carrying value of certainof our
assets;

= Qur business may be adversely affected by actual or perceived health risks associated with mobile communicationstechnologies;

= System failures could result in reduced user traffic and revenue and could harmour reputation;

= Lossof key personnel could weakenour business;

= The regulatory environmentin Macedoniais expected to remain strict, sincethe Regulatory Body’s aimis at widening the scope of
wholesaleregulation (bitstream and cost based pricing);

= More intense competition in Macedoniadrivenby VIP beingan integrated player as well, furthermore MVNOs may also enterthe
market;

= Qurshare price may be volatile, and the abilityto sell our shares may be adversely affected due to the relatively illiquid market for
our shares and ADSs;

= The value of our investments, results of operationsand financial conditioncould be adversely affected by economic developments
in Hungary and other countries;

= Unpredictable changes in the Hungariantax regulations may have anadverse effect on ourresults;

= Fluctuationsin the currency exchange rate could have an adverse effecton our results of operations;

= Disputes and litigation with regulators, competitorsand other parties could have an adverse effect on ourresults of operations.

= The number of cyber attackshave been evolving at an exponential rate recently worldwide. AlthoughMagyar Telekom provides

services withhighest security-standards and constantly tests and updates its cyber security countermeasures, it cannot be fully
excludedthat the Company will be subject of a cyber attack.

12.4 Financial risk management

The classification of the group’s financial instruments is described in detailin Note 4 and the financial risk management of the Group is
describedin detailin Note 5 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

13 ANALYSIS OF FINANCIALRESULTSFOR 2018

Key Performance Indicators (continuing operatios) At December 31,
2017 2018
Revenue (HUF million) 610,851 657,104
Mobile revenues 322,656 343,145
Fixedline revenues 196,108 206,901
System Integration/Information Technology revenues 87,485 107,058
Energy service revenues 4,602
EBITDA (HUF million) 185,662 192,507
EBITDA margin 30.4% 29.3%
Operating margin 12.7% 11.7%
Capexto sales ratio 14.1% 16.4%
Net debt (HUF million) 309,641 272,805
Net debt ratio (net debt to total capital) 34.8% 30.7%

13.1 Revenues

Total revenuesincreased from HUF610.9 billionin 2017 to HUF 657.1 billion in 2018 (HUF 655.1 billion excluding theimpact of IFRS
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15 adoption), driven primarily by the significant growth in SI/IT, equipment and mobile data revenues. Both the Hungarian and
Macedonianoperations recorded revenue growth in the period.

Mobile revenues increased to HUF 343.1 billion in 2018, compared to HUF 322.7 billion in 2017, thanks to the continued dynamic
increase in mobile data revenues and strong demand for smart devices inboth countries of operation.

Voice retail revenues declined 5.4% to HUF 133.5 billionin 2018, reflecting the adoption of IFRS 15. Excluding its impact,
voice retail revenues rose by 1.1% driven by a higher post-paid ratio in both Hungary and Macedonia which counterbalanced
tariff pressure across both operations.

Voice wholesale revenues declined by 1.4% to HUF 9.8 billion in 2018 as a slight increase in Hungary was offset by a fall
recorded in Macedonia. In Hungary, higher voice wholesale revenues reflected increased traffic driven by a growing portion
offlat rate packages. In Macedonia, the decline was due to a further decreasein intemational incoming traffic.

Data revenues grew by 9.3% to HUF 80.9 billion in 2018 or HUF 85.2billionexcluding the impact of IFRS 15 adoption. This
trend was driven by continued growth insubscriber numbers and data usage inboth countries.

SMS revenues increased by 11.1% to HUF 19.2 billion in 2018 primarily as a result of further growth in mass messaging
revenues in Hungary and a marginal improvementin Macedonia driven by higher SMS usage thanks to the success of
promotional offers.

Mobile equipment revenues increased by 36.2% to HUF 87.4 billion in 2018, or 13.5% to HUF 72.8 billion excluding the
impact of IFRS 15 adoption driven primarily by higher average handset prices in both Hungary and Macedonia.

Fixed line revenues increased to HUF 206.9 billion in 2018, up from HUF 196.1 billion in the previousyear. The continued declinein
voice revenues wasfully offset by improvements in TV, broadband and equipment revenues.

Voice retail revenues decreased by 7.1% to HUF 42.7 billion in 2018, primarily due to a further reduction in average tariff
levelsin both countries, combined with the impact of lower customerbase in Hungary.

Broadband retail revenues increased by 4.3% to HUF 51.4 billionin 2018 (up 6.5%to HUF 52.6 billion excluding the impact
ofthe IFRS 15 adoption) thanks to growth in both Hungary and Macedonia. In Hungary, customer base expansionwas coupled
with some increase in the broadband ARPU level; whereas in Macedonia, customer numberincrease offset the declinein the
broadband ARPU.

TV revenues increased by 4.2%to HUF 47.1 billion in2018 (up 6.0% to HUF 47.9 billion excluding the impact of the IFRS 15
adoption), thanks to higher revenuesin both Hungaryand Macedonia. In Hungarythe dynamic growth of the customer base
and stable ARPUs, whereas in Macedoniathe positiveimpact of the enlarged customer base was amplified by higher ARPU
levels.

Fixed equipment revenues rose in both countries, from HUF 9.3 billionin 2017 to HUF 18.1 billion in 2018 (HUF 15.0 billion
excluding the impact of IFRS 15 adoption). The significant increase was largely attributable to a strong performance in
Hungary, where sales of smart devices to retail customers rose substantially.

Data retail revenues declined by 12.4% to HUF 9.4 billion in2018. This was primarily due to the absence of one-off revenue
recorded in2017 at the Hungarian operation, delivered by a major project related to the 2017 Swimming Word Championship
(FINA).

Wholesale revenues increased by 4.4% to HUF 19.9 billion in2018. Lower fixed incoming domestic and international traffic
in Macedonia resulted in lower wholesale revenues, but was offset by increased wholesale revenues in Hungary driven by
higher wholesale voice transit revenues.

System Integration (SI) and IT revenues amounted to HUF 107.1 billion in 2018, compared to HUF 87.5 billion in 2017, thanks to
significant growth in both countries of operations. In Hungary, this wasattributable to a high volume of hardware and software sales and
the implementation of projects, primarily within the public segment. In Macedonia, SI/IT revenuesrecovered from a temporary decline
in 2017, when major public sector projects suffered some delays due to a period of political uncertainty.

Energy Services were discontinued following the exit fromthe residential segment of the electricity market, as of November 1, 2017.
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13.2 Directcosts

Direct costsincreased fromHUF 245.8 billionin2017 to HUF 286.9 billion in 2018 (HUF 284.9 billion excluding the impact of IFRS 15
adoption), mainly due to higher SI/IT related costs, in addition to an increase inother direct costs.

= Interconnectcosts grew 9.3% to HUF 20.6 billion in 2018, driven by a highervolume of off-net mobile traffic that led to
higher payments to other mobile operators in both Hungary and Macedonia.

= SI/ITservice related costs increased by 25.5% to HUF 75.8 billion in2018, in line with higher SI/IT revenues in both
countries, and the increasing portion of hardware and software salesin the sales mixin Hungary.

=  Energyservices were discontinued following the exit fromthe residential segment of the electricity market, as of November
1,2017.

=  Baddebt expenses increased fromHUF 5.5 billionin 2017 to HUF 9.5 billionin 2018 (HUF 8.3 billion excludingthe impact
of IFRS 15 adoption). This was driven by a higher bad debt expense in Hungary resulting from the stronggrowth in revenues
as well as the absence of the positive one-off impact recorded in 2017 which stemmed from the application of lower
impairment rates. In Macedonia, bad debt expense (excluding the impactof IFRS 9 and 15 adoption) declined thanks to
lower impairment levels related to mobile sales.

= Telecom tax increased by 1.6% to HUF 25.5 billion in 2018, driven by higher mobile voice traffic in both residential and
business segmentsattributable to the growing share of flat rate packages.

= Otherdirectcosts increased by 18.6%to HUF 155.5 billion in 2018 primarily due to the higher cost of equipment sales, in
line with higher sales volumes in both Hungaryand Macedonia. TV and other contentrelated costs and roaming payments
also grew in Hungary.

13.3 Gross profit
Gross profit improved to HUF 370.2billion in 2018, from HUF 365.1 billionin 2017, thanksto a strong increasein revenues.
13.4 Employee-related expenses

Employee-related expenses grew 3.4% year-on-yearto HUF 83.0 billion, as a combined result of changed trainee employment formin
Hungary, a 5% average wage increase at the Parent Company and higher severance-related expenses inboth Hungary and Macedonia.

13.5 Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses declined from HUF 105.9 billion in 2017 to HUF 103.9 billion. InHungary, costsaving measures implemented
during the year resulted in lower HR-related, IT maintenance and energy costs which more than offset increased rental fees and
maintenance costs. Hungarian utility tax was also 3.5% lower in2018. Thisreflected the positive effects of Magyar Telekom'’s tax credit
relating to new network investments and upgrades, to enable internet access at speedsof at least 100 Mbps. Other operating e xpenses
in Macedoniaimproved moderately thanks to lower marketing and maintenance expenses.

13.6 Other operatingincome

Other operating income increased to HUF 9.2 billion in 2018 from HUF 6.7 billion 2017, reflecting the one-off profits realized from the
sale of the old headquarters in Hungary.

13.7 EBITDA

EBITDA grew 3.7% to HUF 192.5 billionin 2018, thanks to the improvementsin gross profit and other operating expenses in both
countries of operationand the higher other operating income inHungary.
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13.8 Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization (D&A) expenses increased by 6.8% to HUF 115.5 billion in 2018. In Hungary, higher D&A expenses
resulted from the shortened useful lives of customer connections related network equipments, while in Macedonia, theincrease
reflected higher D&Arelated to intangible assets and TV content fees, capitalized at theend of 2017.

13.9 Operating profit

Operating profit decreased moderately fromHUF 77.5 billion in 2017 to HUF 77.0 billion in2018 as increases in EBITDA were offset
by the higher D&A expenses.

13.10 Netfinancial result

Net financial loss narrowed from HUF 21.6 billion in2017 to HUF 17.8 billion in 2018, thanksto the lower average debt level, as well as
areduction in losses on the fairvaluation of derivatives versus2017. Thisoccurred due to different EUR-HUF exchange rate and yield
developments between the two periods.

13.11 Income tax

The income tax expense decreased from HUF 16.0 billion in 2017 to HUF 13.3 billionin 2018. The decline reflects one-off corrections
made in 2017, which resulted in theincrease of the 2017 income tax expense.

13.12 Profit attributable to non-controlling interests

Profit attributable to non-controlling interestsincreased by 4.1% to HUF 3.1 billion in 2018, due to higher profit generation at the
Macedoniansubsidiary duringthe period.

13.13 Cash flows

HUF millions 1-12 months 2017 1-12 months 2018 Change

Operating cash flow 157,411 159,098 1,687
Investing cash flow (94,353) (83,092) 11,261
Less: Payments for / Proceeds from other financial assets - net 2,867 (2,055) (4,922)
Investing cash flow excluding Proceeds from other financial assets - net (91,486) (85,147) 6,339
Repayment of other financial liabilities (7,485) (5,988) 1,497
Free cash flow from continuing operation 58,440 67,963 9,523
Net cash used in operating activities from discontinued operation (23) 0 23
Net cash generated from investing activities from discontinued operation* 36,292 0 (36,292)
Free cash flow from discontinued operation 36,269 0 (36,269)
Total free cash flow 94,709 67,963 (26,746)
Payments for /Proceeds from other financial assets - net (2,867) 2,055 4,922
Repayment of loans and other borrowings - net (67,732) (36,974) 30,758
Dividend paid to shareholders and Non-controlling interests (29,403) (29,547) (144)
Repurchase of treasury shares (2,139) (1,822) 317
Net cash generated in financing activities from discontinued operation 2,041 0 (2,041)
Exchange differences on cash and cash equivalents (15) 130 145
Change in cash and cash equivalents (5,406) 1,805 7,211

* Less: Payments for / Proceeds from other financial assets - net from discontinued operation

Free cash flow from continuing operations (FCF) increased from HUF 58.4 billionin 2017 to HUF 68.0 billion in 2018 due to the
reasons described below.
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Operating cash flow from continuing operations

Net cash generated from operating activities amounted to HUF 159.1 billion in 2018, compared to HUF 157.4 billion in 2017, as a
result of the following trends:

= HUF 6.8 billion positive impact of higher EBITDA recorded in 2018 comparedto 2017
= HUF 12.3 billionnegative change in active working capital, mainlyas a result of the following factors:

higher increase in instalment receivables compared to the corresponding period in 2017 in line with the increased
corresponding sales volumes (negative impact: ca. HUF 5.8 billion)

higher increase in SI/IT receivables in 2018 compared to 2017 (negative impact: ca. HUF 2.6 billion)

lower SI/IT related advance payment as well as higher advance payment settlement in 2018 compared to 2017 due to
different project seasonality (positive impact: ca. HUF 1.7 billion)

no decrease in energy receivables in 2018 asthe energy services were discontinued following the exit fromthe residential
segment of the electricitymarket, asof November 1, 2017 (negative impact: ca. HUF 1.2 billion)

higher increase in SI/IT related inventory balances in 2018 against a sharp decrease in 2017 due to different project
timings, combined with a decreasein equipment inventories during 2018 due to higher sales (negative impact ca. HUF
0.8 billion)

decrease in the total balance of contract assets and contract costs (excl. the effect of cumulative catch-up adjustments
and reclassifications) following the implementation of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 accounting standards, with effect from 1 January
2018 (positive netimpact: ca. HUF 0.3 billion)

= HUF 3.0 billion positive change in provisions, due to lower payments of legal provisions and a higher net addition to severance
provisionin 2018 versus 2017

= HUF 8.0 billion positive changein passive working capital, primarily driven by the following factors:

lower payment related to SI/IT services in 2018 than in 2017 (positive impact: HUF 6.9 billion)

higher HR-related personnel expense payments in2018 than in 2017 dueto different timing of salary payments (negative
impact: HUF 3.0 billion)

the slower growth in the balance of equipment creditors resulting from changes in payment terms agreed with handset
suppliers wasmorethan offset by the higherincreasein the balances of invoiced and non-invoiced other creditors due to
improved vendor management in 2018 compared to 2017(positive impact: HUF 2.7 billion)

the customer loyalty programme in Hungary was terminated in 2017, and there was nomovement in the relating balances
of deferredincomein 2018 (positive impact: HUF 2.1 billion)

lower SI/IT related advance payment received during2018 compared to 2017 (negative impact: HUF 1.1 billion)

no decrease in the volume of energy suppliers in 2018 compared to 2017 as the energy services were discontinued
following the exit from the residential segment of the electricity market, as of November 1,2017 (positive impact: HUF 0.4
billion)

decrease in contract liabilities (excl. the effect of cumulative catch-up adjustments and reclassification) due to the
implementationof the IFRS 15 accounting standard with effect from 1 January 2018 (negative impact: ca. HUF 0.1 billion)

= HUF 1.5 billion negative change due to overpayment of local business and innovation tax paid in 2017, as well ashigher payment
in2018thanin 2017 due to the transition impactof IFRS 15

= HUF 0.4 billion positive change due to the higher dividend received fromthe E2 energy joint venture in 2018 versus 2017

= HUF 1.1 billion positive change due to lower levels of interest expense paid as well aslower levels of postal and bank charges paid
in2018thanin 2017

= HUF 3.9 billion negative change mainly due to the one-off non-cash gains resulting from the sale of the old headquarters recorded
in 2018 which was partly offset by a real estate sale in2017

Investing cash flowfromcontinuing operations excluading proceeds from other financial assets — net

Net cash used in regular investing activities amounted to HUF 85.1 billion in 2018, compared to HUF 91.5 billion in 2017, with the
lower cashoutflow driven by the following:

= HUF 21.3 billion negative effect due to higher CAPEX in 2018 than in 2017 mainly due to the HUF 15.7 billion higher spectrum
licencepurchasein 2018
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= HUF 18.5 billionpositive change due to lower payments to CAPEX creditors in 2018 comparedto 2017

= HUF 1.7 billion positive impact from lower cash outflows for business combinations in 2018 versus2017 (ITGen Kft. in 2018 and
Serverinfo-Ingatlan Kft. in 2017, and the lower volume of cable TV operation acquisitionsin 2018)

= HUF 0.4 billion negativeimpact due to the lower amount of cash acquired through acquisitions

= HUF 7.8 billion positive change related to the disposal of PPE, mainly reflecting the sale of the old headquarters in 2018 which was
partly offset by a real estate sale in2017

Repayment of other financial liabilities

Repayment of other financial liabilities decreased from HUF 7.5 billion in 2017 to HUF 6.0 billion in 2018, mainly due to the following;

= HUF 1.1 billion positive change caused by the termination of certain finance lease contracts, resulting in lower lease payments in
2018 comparedto 2017

= HUF 0.9 billion positive impact of the absence of a repayment instalment relating to the financing of the Macedonian headquarters
buildingin 2017

= HUF 0.3 billion negative change due to higher content right payments in 2018 compared to 2017

Free cash flow from discontinued operations (FCF) decreased by HUF 36.3 billion mainly due to the sale of Crnogorski Telekom AD.
(disclosed withindiscontinued operations)in Q1 2017.

Proceeds from other financial assets - net improved by HUF 4.9 billion, primarily due to a lower amount of 3-month bank deposits at
Maktel in net termscompared to 2017 as well as higher cash inflows from derivativesin 2018 than in 2017.

Repayment of loans and other borrowings - netimproved by HUF 30.8 billion, due to lower reimbursement of parent company (DT
AG)loansin 2018 mainly due to the reimbursement fromthe sale proceeds of the Crogorski Telekom A.D disposalin 2017.

Dividends paid to owners of the parent and non-controlling interests increased by HUF 0.1 billion mainly dueto the higher dividend
payment from MT Group to its non-contralling interests in 2018 compared to 2017.

Repurchase of treasury shares decreased by HUF 0.3 billion due to lower repurchase of treasury shares for ESOP (Employee Stock
Ownership Program)in 2018 thanin 2017.

Net cash generated from financing activities from discontinued operations declined by HUF 2.0 billion dueto the positive impact in
2017 of aloan repayment by Cmogorski TelekomA.D. to Magyar Telekom in 2017 following its disposal.

Exchange differences on cash and cash equivalents from continuing operations improved by HUF 0.1 billion due to more favourable
foreign exchange rate movements in 2018 compared to 2017.

The financial and operating statisticsare available on the followingwebsite:
http://www.telekom.hu/about_us/investor_relations/financial
13.14 Statements of Financial Position

The most significant changes in the balances of the Statements of Financial Position from December 31, 2017 to December 31, 2018
can be observed inthe followinglines:

=  Trade receivables and other assets

=  Property plant and equipment and intangible assets (including Goodwill)
= QOther non-current financial assets

= QOther non-current assets

=  Financial liabilitiesto related parties (current and non-current combined)
=  Trade payables

= Other currentliabilities

Trade receivables and other assets increased by HUF 37.5 billion from December 31, 2017 to December 31, 2018, driven by the
increase in current installment receivables (ca. HUF 18.5 billion) and the adoption of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 accounting standards. The
total impact of the opening adjustment comes to HUF 9.5 billion related to the catch-up adjustment and ca. HUF 4.0 billion resulting
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from the reclassification of constructioncontract receivables under IAS 11 and the discount givento customersof unbilled receivables
under IAS 18to contract assets within the same line. The closingbalance of current contract assets amounted to HUF 17.8 billion.

Property plant and equipment (PPE) and intangible assets (including Goodwill) together decreased by HUF 8.7 billion from
December 31, 2017 to December 31, 2018, as depreciation and scrapping of assets exceeded capital expenditure forthe period.

Other non-current financial assets increased by HUF 5.7 billion from December 31, 2017 to December 31, 2018, mainly due to the
adoption of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 accounting standards. The closing balance of non-current contract assets amounted to HUF 3.6 billion.

Other non-currentassets increased by HUF 4.9 billion from December 31, 2017 to December 31, 2018 as a result of the adoption of
IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 accounting standards. The closing balance of contract costs amounted to HUF 4.5 billion.

Financial liabilities to related parties (current and non-current combined) decreased by HUF 32.3. billion from December 31, 2017 to
December 31, 2018 mainly due to the repayment of DT group loans in2018.

Trade payablesincreased by HUF 39.9 billionfrom December 31, 2017 to December 31, 2018, largelya reflection of the increase in
the balances outstanding to handset, SI/IT and CAPEX suppliers.

Other currentliabilities decreased by HUF 2.2 billion from December 31, 2017 to December 31, 2018. The closing balance of Other
current liabilities includes HUF 12.4 billion of contract liabilities mainly due to the reclassification of advance payments received from
customers and of deferred revenue within the sameline.

There have not been any other material changes in the items of the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position from December 31,
2017 to December 31, 2018; other less significant changes can largely be attributableto the impacts of the implementation of IFRS 9
and IFRS 15 accounting standard as presented in Section 3.9. In terms of the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for 2018, the
related explanations can be found above inSection 13.14.
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14 SUBSEQUENTEVENTSBETWEEN THEEND OF THE YEARAND THE RELEASE OF THE
REPORT

14.1 Cable TV network and operations

In December 2018, the Group signed a Share Purchase Agreement to acquire a cable TV businessfor a purchase price of HUF 789
million. The closing of the transactiontook place in February 2019.

14.2 Sale of Szerémi-Kaposvar buildings

InJanuary 2019, the sale of Szerémi-Kaposvar buildings was completed, representing the last remaining transaction of the
comprehensivereal estate agreement signed with WING Group on May 19,2015. The salesprice amounted to EUR 11.3 million.

Budapest, February20, 2019.

|7v‘\

Tibor Rékasi “Janos Szabo
Chief Executive Officer, Board member Chief Financial Officer
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Declaration

We the undersigned declarethat

= the attached annualfinancial statements which have been prepared inaccordance withthe applicable set of accounting
standards and to the best of ourknowledge, gives a true and fairview of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss
of Magyar Telekom Plc. and the undertakings included in the consolidation as a whole, and

= the business report gives a fairview of the position, development and performance of Magyar Telekom Plc. and the undertakings
included in the consolidation as a whole, together with adescriptionof the principal risks and uncertainties of its business.

Budapest, April 9, 2019

Tibor Rékasi
Chief Executive Officer,
Member of the Board

J&nos Szabo
Chief Financial Officer
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